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CHINA XLX CULTURE A B0 032k

We attribute our achievements and breakthroughs to our dedicated team
at China XLX. The team is committed to uphold the vision with integrity,
discipline and strong commitment.
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Company Profile
REER

Chinese high-efficiency fertilizer advocator

Environmental Protection Standard Enterprise established by the
Ministry of Environmental Protection and China National Nitrogen
Fertilizer Industry Association

Awarded "Standard Enterprise for Synthetic Ammonia Efficiency
Leaders" by the China Petroleum and Chemical Industry Federation
for seven consecutive years

New/High Tech Enterprise in the PRC (enjoying preferential income
tax rate of 15%)

First state-level nitrogen fertiliser research center and largest
agriculture service center in the PRC
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First producer mastering the controlled release urea production - PEE -REBERREZEEZTN
patented technology in the PRC T?Z?»TLTE’\JEIZ&%
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Strategic geographical “Low-cost + differentiation” Leading enterprise in the Stable, experienced

location production strategy industry management team and highly
BRI IR D MERA+Z R ] Em# TEMEEE _loyal employees
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Obvious cost leadership

Strong brand and sales Strong and healthy operating Continuously improving

PR AR (B FAERRE network cash flow corporate governance and
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China XLX was incorporated with limited liability on 17 July 2006 in
Singapore under the Companies Act, with the Group's registered office at 80
Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898. The Group's headquarters and
principal place of business is located in Xinxiang Economic Development
Zone, Henan Province, and Taxihe Industrial Park, Baojiadian Town, Manas
County, Changji Prefecture, Xinjiang Province, the PRC. The Group is
principally engaged in developing, manufacturing, and selling of urea,
compound fertiliser, methanol, dimethyl ether, melamine, furfuryl alcohol
and related differentiated products, among which the annual production
capacity of urea, compound fertiliser, methanol, dimethyl ether, melamine
and furfuryl alcohol are 2,300,000 tons, 2,600,000 tons, 500,000 tons, 400,000
tons, 120,000 tons, and 50,000 tons, respectively. China XLX has been listed
on the Main Board of the SEHK since 8 December 2009 with stock code
“1866".
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Corporate Information
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ZHENG Jiaqi
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ONG Kian Guan
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER BEHTE

MA Tongsheng foohcilas

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER BENKE

WONG Wing Wang Paul FoKE

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES UNDER LISTING RULES EFHRAITHEERR

YAN Yunhua 5P

SO Yee Kwan Eroads

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BE N RIWE

SO Yee Kwan B

CHEOK Hui Yee hEE

AUDITOR = EED

Ernst & Young LLP LK ET RN =TS FT

One Raffles Quay

North Tower, Level 18
Singapore, 048583
Partner-in-charge: LEE Lai Hiang

One Raffles Quay
North Tower, Level 18
Singapore, 048583
HEARA  FXRE

LEGAL ADVISORS EEER
Reed Smith Richards Butler (Hong Kong) BEE{aEEmTT(F5)
Hiways Law Firm (China) BEKREMELET(RE)

Shook Lin & Bok LLP (Singapore)
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEIRETT
The Export-Import Bank of China HR B HH FERTT
China Construction Bank PR IR T
Bank of China FRERTT
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China TrsRTT

Bank of Communications RIBIRTT

China CITIC Bank FSIRTT
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80 Robinson Road
#02-00, Singapore 068898
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN RS EhE T EEE R,

PRC

Xinxiang Economic Development Zone REDAFEE

Henan Province b ER R

PRC 453731 B4R : 453731
STOCK CODE IR

Hong Kong Stock Code: 1866 BBRMHRR 1866
CORPORATE WEBSITE NE) U
www.chinaxlx.com.hk www.chinaxlx.com.hk
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Financial Highlights
B E
RESULTS PERFORMANCE EERR
2017 2018
(RMB million) (AREFHET) T —+F —E-N\E
Revenue WA 7,562 9,195
Cost of sales SHERA (5,975) (6,955)
Gross profit EF 1,587 2,240
Profit before tax AR &R 485 777
Income tax expense FrisHiF = 61) (122)
Net profit HEF 424 655
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERREERT 3395 53.34
(RMB cents) (AREES)
Dividend per share (RMB cents) FRE (ARES) 849 10
S
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY SEGMENT TEERBA

31% 30%
FY2018 FY2017
—E-\BHFE —FTEHVREE
® Uea @ Compound Fertiliser @ Methanol © Furfuryl Alcohol
FRE& BERE Rz HRES
® | iquid Ammonia Melamine ® Other
BE =B HAtb
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18 JANUARY

XLX won the award 2017 Golden Hong Kong Stocks
Most Valuable Energy and Resources Company”
RELCE AR 2017 F & B IR & A EERE
REAF] Kﬁn

REE R

2 A FEBRUARY

XLX won the title of “Xinxiang Five-star Industrial

Enterprise”
DEOARRE FBTAERTELCE HREA
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3 A MARCH

Great attention! XLX 2018 Central China Market Summer
Marketing Summit was coming!

EFME | LEL 2018 P RMISEFTIHE G EHERE |
H

45 APRIL

Installation and commissioning of the first mining surface
of Tianxin Coal Mine was completed

AR ER TER R KB HTK

5A may

Observation group of Henan Province's “Three
Transformations” came to XLX company to investigate
green transformation

A = AME "B EEEROE LA R AR e RS
IR
65 JUNE

Liu Xingxu, Chairman of XLX, was honored as “the Most
Beautiful Environmentalist in Henan”
DEOARERREFEBRE AAREREAY @

Adhere to the green development path - Xinjiang XLX
won the title "Autonomous Region Green Factory”
ﬂﬁtﬁ‘z"’é%lz BR—BOELRRRE BREEET
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7 80y 9 A SEPTEMBER 11 A NOVEMBER
XLX Jiujiang Base Compound Fertilizer Tower Production ~ XLX won the honor of “Leading Enterprises” MIIT awarded XLX the award National “Green Factory”
Line was put into operation successfully INSCAVENCIF L SER Tk S IEHFERFLECATNBERMR ZETH %A M

DELNTEMERESEEES—RAER) R

108 oCTOBER 12 8 DECEMBER

SH AUGUST Zhang Qingjin, the General Manager, was awarded the  Liu Xingxu , the Chairman, won the honorary title of
Congratulations on the success operation of the XLX Hao  title “Outstanding Socialist Career Builder with Chinese ~ “Henan Outstanding Entrepreneur of the 40th Year of

FeiYou project. Characteristics of non-public economic in Xinxiang" Reform and Opening up”
HRUR B DEOGFIERIE R —IRFAEKT) B BEBRRESRE TBTIIABHEEALTESTERE SEEEFRRE RERAROFTHEBERMEER "X
HETREXERE ERN ESETA ) |

Seven consecutive championships! XLX re-elected as

“double leader in synthetic ammonia energy & efficiency ! 2018 China Agricultural Chemicals List was announced,

HEE" | OEOA RS AR EER" | XLX won three awards: Zhang Qingjin, the General
Manager of XLX, won the “Agriculturalization Entrepreneur

XLX won “Top 500 Chinese Private Enterprises in of 2018, Xinlian won the "Agriculturalization Enterprise

Manufacturing Industry” of 2018 XLX Helliwan Yellow Humic Acid Fertilizer, Wujin

LA RS PERE R EREE 50058 999 mineral source potassium humate won the award

2018 annual star fertilizer products’!

2018 B LA B E B  DB ORI = KHE - LE D
ARBEIBRE SR 2018FERIELER" - DERA]
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Chairman’s Statement

FERE

Dear Shareholders,

| would like to express my gratitude to you for supporting and having confidence in
China XLX Fertiliser Ltd.. On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year as of 31 December
2018, while introducing the vision and planning of the Group for the following year.

BLIR

R AR —EARARBOEMEIEBR R RN FAET - RABRRKEKAR
AESE  MARZEAKEEEZE T /\FT_A=1T"HUIEHBRFENLE
R BHR - RN AEANSEETN—FENRIMBRZ -

In 2018, facing with the complex and ever-changing external environment, —E-N\F EHEMZENINPIRE
the Group continued to promote transformation and upgrading in depth, NS R AHEB R T4 - LR [
and stood out in the industry consolidation according to the development  FERE - BLIHR | B R B - £1T5E
idea of “Fertiliser as base, fertiliser and chemical side by side”. Under the BEmBRAmL - ERERELAIRENK
background of the national supply-side reform, the backward production ~ EH& ' [REZRBREEFERL - ®BRE
capacity of urea has continued to withdraw, the environmental protection Rt - HERTE - AEEHRKEFUAT
is normalized, and supply and demand are tightly balanced. The Group ~ B H R BEM @ MK ERITENZEREE
has always adhered to the market demand-oriented, timely adapts b - BIR T & EEEN R -

to the development and changes of the industry, and achieves new

breakthroughs in business performance.

Extend the industrial chain to offset the fluctuations in profits - IEREZRGE - HBHRM BB IR E

caused by fluctuations in raw material prices. HRAFE RS
Create a multi-tail flexible production model to give full play to the - HE-—SBZENFHEEEREN - 7
advantages of syngas manufacturing. DEBENAREES -
Adhere to the differentiation strategy and focus on the application - B E BB - BRI Rrey
of new technologies and the development of new products. FERANFTEmRFE
In 2018, the Group won a strategic investment of RMB600 million by ~ —=F—/\F - AEEEGBEIFFZFIKE
shareholders such as Haitong Innovation Securities Investment Co., Ltd. BRAREERTFESRESRCEE

and NingboYuannian Alloy Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) ~ RE ) ERFEBEEREHETAR

10 China XLX 2018 Annual Report




(&) LI Xingxu 2% 8
Chairman of the Board ZEE & F /&

further optimizing the Company’s financial structure and supporting the o E—HELERTNBERS  XEQF
Company’s rapid development. At the same time, the Group strategically PRIRER - [N B BBK IS &) /0
increased its capital injection to Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy Co,  UDDARRBERIRODBR AR - KAHFE—K
Ltd, becoming its largest shareholder, establishing an industry synergistic AR » B T EXHRERBAER £
development relationship and further extending the Company’s upstream IERAR)_E TR BE -

and downstream development channels.

RESULT HIGHLIGHTS ESE
Realized revenue of approximately RMB9,195 million, an increase of - BIRBWALARE 9195187 » R
22% year-on-year. AN 22% ©
Profit attributable to owners of parent company was approximately - NABEEAEEENOARE
RMB625 million, representing a significant increase of 57% year-on- 6.25 18T * RILLRIBIEHN57% °
year.
Overall gross profit margin increased by 3 percentage points - BREEMNXRALEAIEE HE
year-on-year to approximately 24%, mainly due to the increase #24%  FEHRKRENEFELRE
in the gross profit margin of urea, and the flexibility of the Group FUAER=BaRE-—RREE
to optimize its product mix after the operation of melamine and BRERSEEEELIELERES -

dimethyl ether production lines.

The Board of Directors recommended a final dividend of RMB10 ~ « EEERBRERMETRARKE
cents per share and a total dividend of RMB10 cents per share for 105 2FEHEERSBRAR
the year. 105 °

HEOED —T-N\FFHR 11
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

BUSINESS REVIEW A E )

The Company implements the “customer-oriented” concept, and in
accordance with the deployment of the “integration” strategy, the main
value chain is more closely linked. While insisting on the main business of
fertilizer, the flexible production mode of “one head and multi-tails-ept’, and
in accordance with the deployment of the “integration” strategy, the main
value chain is more closely linked. While insisting on the main business of
fertilizer, the flexible produously enhanced. The “one chess” pattern in the
three major bases was initially formed, and the operating structure was
more reasonable. There are innovations in development and breakthroughs

REEEIAEFPRTLIMNES  ER
[—fft | B EE - TEEBNEESE
MEE o BEHMIHEIEERNFE - [—5R
ZRIMFHEERAENTE - RIET
LRKMEANES - BEAMEMGE
BFKFRERE - SRR T
BiigoR - —KEM [ —8E | WRBNZL
ok REFEBENARE - EERPHE
o ERIFTR A RE - KERERIESLH

in innovation, thus achieving record-breaking business performance. = °

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE EER

With its mission to serve the best interests of the Shareholders, the FFPUERRENZANTABZ 15
Board has consistently strived to enhance the standard of corporate X NERABEEAGKT - BURE - &
governance and to develop a standardised, highly effective and scientific M B2 R RS - REBEE—
corporate governance mechanism. The Group held eight Board meetings ~ZE—/\FEABRA T NNREZE L= 4

in the year 2018 to review and approve matters including the quarterly
results, interim report, annual report, dividend payout ratio, connected
transactions and development strategies of the Group. The AC, the RC and
the NC have exercised and performed the rights and duties conferred on
them by the Board with a view of raising the standards of the Company’s
risk management and internal control and perfecting the Company’s
governance structure. For internal audit: internal audit was mainly
conducted by the internal audit team of the Company in 2018, focusing on
enhancing internal risk control over logistics management, procurement
management, capital management, sales management and other key
processes, and thereby enhancing operational efficiency.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group highly values its relationship with its investors and
communicates with them through a number of channels. It aims to provide
the latest information on the Group’s operations and business development
to its investors, so that they can obtain all necessary information on a timely
manner to make informed investment decisions. Please refer to the “Investor
relations” section of this annual report for more details.

12 China XLX 2018 Annual Report
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PROSPECTS

After two consecutive years of capacity structure adjustment, the
overcapacity situation in the urea industry has been alleviated, which
forming certain support to the urea price. The background of the domestic
security and environmental protection situation remains unchanged. It
is expected that more backward production capacity will be eliminated
in the future, and the industrial concentration of the urea industry will be
further increased. The Group will optimize the production lines according
to the established low-cost and product differentiation strategy, enhance
the product flexibility adjustment capability, and strengthen the risk control
capability.

With the successful operation of the Group's Xinjiang base melamine
Phase Il and coal mines, our production costs are more competitive, and
the output, quality, price and export sales of our products will increase.
Furthermore, with the successful operation of the Group’s Jiangxi base
compound fertilizer project, the Group initially achieved a national layout,
which laying a solid foundation for our business development to a new
level.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

For the next three years, we will proactively respond to demand of society
and industrial upgrading and development, focus on “technical innovation,
product innovation, marketing innovation, service innovation’, enhance
marketing service professional standards, highlighting the sound brand
position of “Pioneer of High-Efficiency Fertiliser in China” and “ Leader of
Chemical Industry”.

Working for a better tomorrow is also our corporate’s mission, and is the
strong corporate dream that all XLX people always strive for. In accordance
with the overall development strategy of the Group, we adhere to the
competitive strategy of “combination of low cost and differentiation”;
achieve industry-leading cost consumption, industry-leading technology
level, market-leading brand marketing and industry-leading safety and
environmental protection in the name of “Pioneer of High-Efficiency
Fertiliser in China” in leading the industry; and supporting the continuous
exploration of high-efficiency chemical fertilisers and agricultural science,
rewarding farmers and serving the community, with higher standards in
the industry. We will proactively shoulder more corporate responsibility in
leading the industry, and strive to become “the most respected enterprise
in the chemical fertiliser industry in China”.
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hairman’s Statement
FEBRE
APPRECIATION

Looking back, we are full of confidence; looking to the future, there is
still a long journey. Faced with the opportunities and challenges of deep
transformation and upgrading of the industry, no matter how the external
environment changes, we must unswervingly adhere to ourselves and build
our own core competitiveness based on the entire value chain.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my heartfelt gratitude to all Shareholders, the Company’s management
team, all the staff, customers and friends who have been caring for and
supporting us. In 2019, the Group's senior management and staff will
continue working cohesively and work together under the leadership of the
Board to endeavour to achieve better performance and investment returns
for the Shareholders, and the future of XLX will be more brilliant!

ot

Chairman of the Board
25 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWEDS N
()  BUSINESS REVIEW () XKEE
COAL AND ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION HAEFEER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Fixed bed technology (& 7E PR 910 Urea per ton Urea per ton

coal consumption (tons) HEBFE (88) BWRE TNk =

Raw coal R 0.609 0608

Fuel coal R 0.142 0.153

Total coal consumption REEE 0.751 0.761

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Coal water slurry technology IR 2 i Urea per ton Urea per ton

coal consumption (tons) FOBFE (W) ES1UTES BugfR =

Raw coal JREHE 0.779 0783

Fuel coal BRRHE 0.186 0.267

Total coal consumption BEREE 0.965 1.050

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—LF

Urea per ton Urea per ton

Electricity consumption (KWh) EFE (TRE) S1UTES SHUTE =

Urea (Fixed bed technology) R Z= (EFERET) 781 785

Urea (Coal water slurry technology) RE=E OKESERT) 299 312
|
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SALES OF THE GROUP IN 2018 AEE-—Z—-N\FHEBR

As at the end of 2018, the Group's sales volume of urea was BHE-ZT—N\FX XEEREXH
approximately 1,999,000 tons, decreased by approximately 16,000 2491 ,999:F Wi b= —tFH
tons compared to 2017. The decrease in sales volume of urea was D16 THE o [REFEERANEE
mainly due to the fact that the Group flexibly decided to produce IR &2 Eﬁﬁé‘:;@—)\$$§§$ﬁ?§
and sell melamine with higher profitability. In 2018, the Group's sales 2 e 2N ee B )E A
volume of melamine was 82,000 tons. In addition, as the Group has BEENMEERMENERN= %’5
been enhancing the sales network and the production capacity of A —_E-\FAEE=BFK
compound fertiliser, the sales volume of compound fertiliser in 2018 SHERTHE - BHN BEEARKE
reached 1,396,000 tons. The Group’s sales volume of dimethy! ether, T ERIHERENESESEE
methanol and furfuryl alcohol in 2018 was 314,000 tons, 149,000 gt —E—N\FAEBELSIEER
tons and 39,000 tons respectively. SHEER 1396 FTHE o —T— N\FAK

EE —FE - FEREEHEED
314 TR « 149 TWE K 39 THE o

SALES VOLUME HEER

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-HA=+—HLEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Thousand tons Thousand tons

Sl WA

Urea RZE= 1,999 2015

Compound fertiliser BaEE 1,396 1244

Methanol a3l 149 327

Melamine —BER 82 63

Furfuryl alcohol ez 39 32

Liquid ammonia BE 50 223

Dimethyl ether — B 314 70
|
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REVENUE

Revenue increased by approximately RMB1,633 million or 22% from
approximately RMB7,562 million in the FY2017 to approximately
RMB9,195 million in the FY2018. The increase of revenue was mainly
due to the increase of sales volume of compound fertiliser, dimethyl
ether (DME) and melamine, and higher average selling prices of
urea, compound fertiliser and melamine.

UREA

Revenue derived from the sales of urea increased by approximately
RMB697 million or approximately 24% from approximately RMB2,852
million in FY2017 to approximately RMB3,549 million in FY2018. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in average selling prices
of urea by approximately 26% as a result of the increased sales of
high efficiency urea, and the tightening supply through industry
consolidation and the growing environment pressure in China.

COMPOUND FERTILISER

Revenue derived from the sales of compound fertiliser increased
by approximately RMB535 million or approximately 24% from
approximately RMB2,272 million in FY2017 to approximately
RMB2,807 million in FY2018. Such increase was mainly due to the
increase in sales volume of compound fertiliser by approximately
12% from approximately 1,244,000 tons in FY2017 to approximately
1,396,000 tons in FY2018 as a result of the expansion of sales
network and increase in production capacity and the increase in
average selling prices by approximately 10%.

WA

WABR-ZZE—tHBRFENHA
B #57,562,000,000 7T 1 A0 40 A R #&
1,633,000,000 7T3K 22% & — & — \ Bt
B EFER# AR #9,195,000,0007T °
WAEMEERRIESIE - ZFB
(DME) R =B &R HHEIL I - UK
JRE - BEAIER=ZBERNHFELHE
B LFRFTEL ©

PRE

REMBEEWAR T —+HIK
FERH AR 28520000007 1
&) A R # 697,000,000 7T 8k 4 24%
EZT - N\FBFEENHARE
3,549,000,0007C ° 2B MEEAHR
FREM T EE ERAI26%FTEL
MEE LRI AR SMREEEE
e ERITEBRESWNEHEE R
AR AR -

ey

EEEMEERAR T —tHK
FERH AR 2272000000 T 1
II#9 A R ¥ 535,000,000 7T 8% 49 24%
ET - N\FBRFENHARE
2,807,000,0007C ° FZEMEZE AR
EAENHEH S+ HEE
B 41,244 000MEZ N4 12% E —F
— \ B AR [ /9 49 1,396,000 B AT 2L
MEAREFEHHEEBE LR 10%
FrE - SHEE T AR HERRIE
9K - EERERRFTATER ©
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METHANOL

Revenue derived from the sales of methanol decreased by
approximately RMB328 million or approximately 48% from
approximately RMB685 million in FY2017 to approximately RMB357
million in FY2018. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
sales volume by approximately 55% from approximately 327,000
tons in FY2017 to approximately 149,000 tons in FY2018. The
reduction in sales volume of methanol was due to the increase of
internal consumption by the Group as feedstock for production of
dimethyl ether (DME). The decrease was offset by the increase in
average selling price of methanol by approximately 15%.

DIMETHYL ETHER (DME)

Revenue derived from the sales of DME increased by approximately
RMB874 million or approximately 326% from approximately RMB268
million in FY2017 to approximately RMB1,142 million in FY2018.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in sales volume by
approximately 349% from approximately 70,000 tons in FY2017 to
approximately 314,000 tons in FY2018. In June 2018, the Group's
DME Project phase Il in Henan has successfully commenced
operation. The Group's DME annual production capacity increased
from 200,000 tons to 400,000 tons in FY2018. The increase in the
Group’s annual DME production capacity will further enhance the
flexibility of adjustment between production lines according to the
profitability of different products.

MELAMINE

Revenue derived from the sales of melamine increased by
approximately RMB178 million or approximately 47% from
approximately RMB383 million in FY2017 to approximately RMB561
million in FY2018. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
sales volume by approximately 30% from approximately 63,000
tons in FY2017 to approximately 82,000 tons in FY2018. In July 2018,
the Group’s melamine project Phase Il in Xinjiang has successfully
commenced operation, and the Group’s annual melamine
production capacity increased from 60,000 tons to 120,000 tons.
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FURFURYL ALCOHOL

Revenue derived from the sales of furfuryl alcohol increased by
approximately RMB60 million or 13% from approximately RMB462
million in FY2017 to approximately RMB522 million in FY2018.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in sales volume by
approximately 7,000 tons from approximately 32,000 tons in FY2017
to approximately 39,000 tons in FY2018. The increase was offset
by the reduction in the average selling price of furfuryl alcohol by
approximately 7%.

PROFITABILITY

Overall gross profit margin increased from approximately 21% in
FY2017 to approximately 24% in FY2018 mainly due to the increase
in the gross profit margin for urea and the improvement of products
mix in a flexible manner after the commencement of production of
melamine and DME products.

UREA

Gross profit margin for urea sales increased from approximately 23%
in FY2017 to approximately 31% in FY2018. This was mainly due
to the increase in average selling price of urea by approximately
26% on the account of the tightening supply due to growing
environmental protection pressure in China and industry
consolidation as well as the increased sales of high-efficiency urea
and vehicle urea. In the FY2018, the sale volume of vehicle urea was
approximately 242,000 tons, which was approximately 59% higher
than the sales volume of approximately 152,000 tons in FY2017.
The gross profit margin for vehicle urea was approximately 40% in
FY2018. The increase was partially offset by the increase in average
cost of sales by approximately 13% due to the higher average coal
purchased price.

COMPOUND FERTILISER

Gross profit margin for compound fertiliser is approximately 15%
in FY2018, which remained stable as compared to FY2017. Due to
the sales team'’s effort, the Group continued to record an increase in
sales volume of compound fertiliser in the increasingly competitive
market condition.

s

WREMEER AR T —tTHK
FEHLH AR 462000000 7T 1
m# A R #60,000,0007T 8% 13%
EE - N\UHREFENHARE
522,000,000 7T © FZ3E I FE E R
EH TP HRFE432,000
WEIEHNA) 7,000 ME 2 —F — N\BA R
JE #9 % 39,000 W8 FT B8 o 7% 38 AN #5 §2
B )Y E (B TR LY 7% PTHKEH -

BHEED
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#124% » EEARNIREMNEFNKE
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METHANOL Rz

Gross profit margin for methanol decreased from approximately FEMNENER-_ZT—tHRFE

19% in FY2017 to approximately 15% in FY2018. This was mainly #4901 9%T|§¢i_% NHREE

due to the increase in average cost of sales by approximately 20% BI%I15% c EEEZBHNFHHEEK

as compared to FY2017. The increase in average cost of sales was ARZZT— LB HRFE _LRA 20%

mainly resulted from the higher coal purchased prices in FY2018, FEk o FHIHERARE LRI EE

which was partially offset by the increase in average selling prices by MR T — \MIFEE KR

approximately 15% as compared to FY2017. BELGM BHRIETHEER_-F

— L BEEE L 15% T Eb 0

DIMETHYL ETHER (DME) — Bt (DME)

Gross profit margin from DME decreased from approximately 31% RO ENER T RE
in FY2017 to approximately 24% in FY2018. This was mainly due [EHI#) 31 %—l—ﬁcri_f\ J\BF 5
to the decrease in average selling prices of DME by approximately EBHI24% c EXBZHR_FEA
5% and the increase in average cost of sales by approximately 6%. FHEE TEL 5% - M HERK
The average cost of sales increased mainly because the Group AN EBRE) 6% FTEL o FIISHE A/
had not only consumed the methanol product internally, but also PRFERNAEEMERNIIERE
purchased methanol from external third parties so as to maximise FREEEM - MINEE =R

the utilisation of DME's production capacity.

fig - AR/ BRI EEREFI A

MELAMINE =ZBaER
Gross profit margin for melamine decreased from approximately —EREAERNENER Tt
56% in FY2017 to approximately 52% in FY2018. This was mainly FEMLS6% FNEEZT— N\

due to the increase in average cost of sales by approximately 24%
due to higher raw material prices and the ramp-up of melamine
production line Phase Il. However, the Group's melamine products
still managed to achieve an attractive margin of above 50% mainly
because of the cost competitive advantage of the Group's urea

FREHKIS2% &5 F ZARNRME
B LRI =BEaR _HEERIE
FE ﬁlii’ﬂfﬁﬁﬁizﬁiﬂﬂi’]M%
FrEte A - AEEHN=BEKE
uufﬁ%ﬁzﬂﬁxgﬂ%ﬁ/\SO%ﬁ’]m%ﬂé

production cost in Xinjiang and the advanced melamine production RFE - FEZEHRAEBEIRED
technology, which enable the product outputs with higher grade W%_&Lﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfgﬁﬁi%h
quality and can sell for better price premium and have more export MRSTER EERN - REMmESHE
sales. BERe HEEKLARTEON

S -

FURFURYL ALCOHOL i

Gross profit margin for furfuryl alcohol decreased from 9% in FY2017 BENENEH_T—tHHRFE
to approximately 8% in FY2018. This was mainly due to the decrease 9% MNEE—F )\ENBZEJ_LE’]Z’J
in average selling price of furfuryl alcohol by approximately 7%. The 8% EF BHMEENTHEET
decrease in average selling price of furfuryl alcohol was offset by the B 49 7% FTER © #EEE A I EE N &

decrease in average cost of sales by approximately 6 % as compared
to FY2017
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased by approximately RMB25 million
from approximately RMB88 million in FY2017 to approximately
RMB113 million in FY2018. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in net income on sale of water and electricity and gain from
fair value change of derivative financial instrument by approximately
RMB32 million and RMB18 million respectively. The increase was
partially offset by the decrease of subsidy income, exchange gains
and net income from sales of by-products of approximately 12
million, 7 million and 9 million respectively.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
RMB25 million from approximately RMB483 million in FY2017 to
approximately RMB508 million in FY2018. Such increase was mainly
due to the increase of transportation charges and promaotion costs
of approximately RMB41 million and RMB9 million respectively.
The increase in transportation charges and promotion costs are
resulted from the rapid expansion of the Group's sales networks
and the growth in sales volumes of compound fertiliser in FY2018.
The increase was partially offset by the decrease in advertisement
expenses, travelling expenses and office expenses by approximately
RMB10 million, RMB8 million and RMB3 million respectively.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately
RMB82 million from approximately RMB415 million in FY2017 to
approximately RMB497 million in FY2018. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in depreciation and amortisation costs, salaries,
consultation fees, staff welfare, education fee and rental expense by
approximately RMB23 million, RMB26 million, RMB16 million, RMB14
million, RMB9 million and RMB9 million respectively. The increase
was partially offset by the decrease in transaction fees in relation to
bank loans of approximately RMB13 million.

HAg AR Wz

HRARKZHA T — B RE
FM%AEM%mwmxﬁM%A
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OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses increased by approximately RMB240 million from
approximately RMB6 million in FY2017 to approximately RMB246
million in FY2018 mainly due to the increase in impairment loss,
exchange losses and loss on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment by approximately RMB207 million, RMB27 million
and RMB4 million respectively. The increase in impairment loss was
mainly related to the closure of the Group’s first urea production line
in Henan.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased by approximately RMB39 million from
approximately RMB286 million in FY2017 to approximately RMB325
million in FY2018, mainly due to the increase in amount of interest
bearing borrowings and loans.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense increased by approximately RMB61 million from
approximately RMB61 million in FY2017 to approximately RMB122
million in FY2018 due to higher taxable profits generated by the
Group.

PROFIT FORTHE YEAR

The profit for the year increased by approximately RMB231 million or
54% from approximately RMB424 million in FY2017 to approximately
RMB655 million in FY2018. This was mainly due to the increase in
gross profit and other income and gains by approximately RMB652
million and RMB25 million respectively. The increase was partially
offset by the increase in selling and distribution expenses, general
and administrative expenses, finance costs and income tax expenses
by approximately RMB25 million, RMB82 million, RMB39 million and
RMB61 million respectively.
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(1

FINANCIAL REVIEW
GEARING

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the aggregate of total capital and net debt. The Group’s
policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 90%.

(1)

it R 5 [ R

BEERE
AEBEEREEAGBLR(BER
BB ARER B EFRRAM) K
ERER - AEBHNBREKEE
BELLRERFTE 0% AT

2017

—E—+F

RMB'000

AREFT

Trade payables Z SR RIE 282,825 246,701
Bills payable eI 280,105 423,915
Contract liabilities aHaE 689,951 795,448
Accruals and other payables FEEtE R R E M ENRIE 1,185,463 834,358
Amounts due to related companies FES BB A RFIA 21,052 45
Loan from a non-controlling interest IR 2 B R 75,500 75,250
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERTT R E A IEFK 5,342,891 4611127

borrowings
Bonds payable ERES 692,833 1,100,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A B RIReEEY (346,151) (341,270))
Less: Pledged time deposits B EEEE TR (258,839) (181,077)
Net debt BEFEaE 7,965,630 7,564,997
Equity attributable to owners of SRR AELED 3,921,814 3,366,675)
the parent
Less: Statutory reserve fund B ORERES (45,753) (327,793)
Total capital BEKR 3,876,061 3,038,882
Capital and net debt BEAXMBETE 11,841,691 10,603,879
Gearing ratio EXRBELE 67.27% 71.34%
]

Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
loan from a non-controlling interest, bonds payable, trade and bills
payables, amounts due to related companies, accruals and other
payables, contract liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged time deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to the
owners of the parent less the above-mentioned statutory reserve
fund.
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LOANS BX
AMOUNTS PAYABLE IN ONE YEAR OR LESS, OR ON DEMAND R—FREANFIREREENFIE
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
R=Z2-NE+=-A=+—H RZZE—+tF+=-A=+—~H
Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured
BIEH IR A BHEMA K
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%¥T R AR® T AREFIT AREETIT
Bank loans HITER 200,428 2,481,797 - 1,646,112
RMB bond AREEES - - - 600,000
Finance lease ERRERE 92,227 - - -
payables
292,655 2,481,797 - 2,246,112
]
AMOUNTS PAYABLE AFTER ONE YEAR R—FEEMNHRIE
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
R=EB-NF+=-A=+—H RZZE—+F+-A=+—A1
Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured
B I 15 B EiS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T AR%TR ARETTT ARETTT
Bank loans BITE® = 2,422,331 176,000 2,786,288
Loan from BRER - 1,818 - 2,727
govemment
RMB bond AR ES - 692,833 - 500,000
Finance lease ENmERE 144,290 - - -
payables
144,290 3,116,982 176,000 3,289,015
]
DETAILS OF COLLATERAL K meFE
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a short-term loan of E-N\F+ZA=1+—H XEHE

approximately RMB97 million secured by pledged fixed deposits HH ,AZ’]}\E% 97,000,000 7GR E 7 K
and the short-term loans of approximately RMB79 million secured VEIRHR N2 58 BRE 2049 A R 5 79,000,000 7T H
by pledged bills receivable (2017: Nil). EEAERREREER(ZE—+F : &) -
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(1)

PROSPECTS

Despite that the grain price continued to remain at a low level
and the demand for urea declined for three consecutive years as
a result of the reduction of corn planting areas, the consolidation
and integration in the urea industry has accelerated due to the
increasing pressure of environmental protection policies in the
PRC. Those enterprises with obsolete technologies and high costs
and unable to comply with the relevant environmental protection
standard are being squeezed out of the market, leading to a subtle
balance in the supply and demand of urea in the PRC and creating
support for the urea price. At present, half of the production
capacity of coal-based urea in China is still using the traditional
process of fixed-facility. With the continuous implementation of
domestic environmental protection measures, we expect that more
obsolete production capacity will be driven out in the future, and
the industrial concentration of the urea industry will be further
enhanced.

The Group will continue to promote the implementation of low-
cost and product differentiation strategies, so as to continue the
increase in the Group’s sales of high efficiency fertilisers, thereby
enhancing the profitability and market competitiveness of the
fertiliser products of the Group. The newly-commissioned melamine
Phase Il production line and coal mine in Xinjiang can further
enhance the profitability and risk resistance of the Xinjiang base of
the Group. With the smooth operation of the Group's Jiangxi Phase |
compound fertilizer project, the Group has established a nationwide
layout at an initial stage, which provides a solid foundation for the
Company to strengthen and expand going forward.

In order to promote the development of the furfuryl alcohol
business, in the fourth quarter of 2018, the Group established a
separate unit for Qingli Energy, whose main business includes
the production and sale of furfuryl alcohol and dimethyl furan
etc. Meanwhile, Heli Energy has been acquired through capital
injection, and its main business includes furfural and biomass
power generation. Following completion of such acquisition, the
Group established a vertically-integrated value chain for furfural,
furfuryl alcohol and biomass power generation, which creates
competitiveness for the Group in the new markets. In November
2018, the Group's subsidiary, Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser Co., Ltd,,
raised RMB600 million through equity fund raising, and brought
in strategic shareholders such as Haitong Innovation Securities
Investment Co., Ltd. and NingboYuannian Alloy Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership). This improved the capital structure
and reduced the financial risks of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE WD T

(IV) PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND (Iv) ZBREKRE
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of BEEEREBRKEHE_ZT—\F
RMB10 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the T ZA=t+—BLEFEREKREE
"Proposed Final Dividend”) (2017: RMB8.49 cents per share), fEARE 10D ([BERRE ) (=
subject to the shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM. The T—tF  BRARY8499) - A
final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 25 July 2019. KRR A AR B BN AS 2R 1T A I R B

FRE LA o REIBE (1At &)
BEAER —_E-NAFLA-+THH

it e
The translation of RMB into HKD for the purpose of dividend HARE LB BABTUABENLS
payment in HKD is made at the rate of approximately RMB1.00 TERRE - TR AR 1007T R
= HKD1.1556, which is the official exchange rate of HKD against 11556 B TTMERGE - E&B T
RMB as quoted on 25 March 2019 by The Hongkong and Shanghai AARBHNETEX BTN
Banking Corporation Limited. Therefore, based on the above FZA-+HBBEE EESET
translation of the exchange rate, the dividend to be paid in HKD will BREA ﬂﬁ'ﬁ&fg o EI - R it
be HKDO0.11556 per ordinary share. [ERME - UBTINOREKA

mh%%haw%%mo

(V) CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (V) RREBMEFEES
For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the Proposed RETEEZHEEZRBKRE - K
Final Dividend, the register of members of the Company will be NEIRREMER =T —NEFRA
closed from 11 June 2019 to 13 June 2019 (both days inclusive), T+T—BEZZFE-AFAT=H(E
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In REEMX)EEFEL I
order to be qualified for the Proposed Final Dividend, unregistered TEELERNHEE - BETEER
holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all completed HREHER - ARFIRNDEKRE
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates are A ARERMEEEZNKRG
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Share Transfer Agent and EERBERBEERECREIAR
Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, 7%%%&@% ZIE &fo’ﬁL)E‘
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration PEEEFHFFLARRD
no later than 4:30 p.m. on 10 June 2019. ﬂﬂiﬂ:i%%ﬁ/ EFRER 183%6\?1]
2218 NER T NFRA
THTF4K309
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

1.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL RISKS

)

(1

MARKET RISK

The major market risks of the Group include changes
in the average selling prices of key products, changes
in the costs of raw materials (mainly coal) and
fluctuations in interest and exchange rates.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk
arising from fluctuations in product sale prices and
costs of raw materials.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The major market interest rate risk that the Group
is exposed to includes the Group's long-term debt
obligations which are subject to floating interest
rates.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s revenue and costs are primarily
denominated in RMB. Some costs may be
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars or Singapore dollars.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWED

INFLATION AND CURRENCY RISK

According to the data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, the consumer price
index of the PRC increased by approximately 2.1%
in the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared
with an increase of approximately 1.6% in 2017. Such
inflation in the PRC did not have a significant effect
on the Group's operating results.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk exposure to shortage
of funds. The Group regularly reviews the maturity
of both its financial investments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables and other financial
assets) and projects cash flows from operations. The
Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of bank overdrafts and bank loans. As at 31
December 2018, approximately RMB2,774 million (31
December 2017: RMB2,246 million), or approximately
46.0% (31 December 2017: 39.3%) of the Group’s
debts will mature in less than one year based on the
carrying value of the borrowings reflected in the
financial statements.
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(VIl)  GEARING RISK

The Group monitors its capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders
value. The Group manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may raise new debt or
issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
The gearing ratio of the Group (calculated as net
debt divided by the aggregate of total capital and
net debt) decreased from approximately 71.34% as at
31 December 2017 to approximately 67.27% as at 31
December 2018.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (2017: Nil).

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at 31 December 2018, the Group was not involved in any
material litigation or arbitration.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, there were 6,485 (2017: 6,119)
employees in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are
determined in consideration of market conditions and the
performance of the individuals concerned, and are subject
to review from time to time. The Group also provides other
staff benefits including medical and life insurance, and
grants discretionary incentive bonuses to eligible staff based
on their performance and contributions to the Group.
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Dlrectors, Senior Management and Company Secretaries

EE  SAEEERARWE

BOARD Exg

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

MR. LIU XINGXU CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Aged 64, is principally in charge of overall strategic planning and business

RIEEEE EEEEF
645% I%E,\LN%@E’JELEXW%EEU

development of the Group. Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive Director ~ M EBERE - XN _FTZETFL A
on 26 July 2006. He is also a member of the NC. Mr. Liu has over 20 years ~ —T/NABHERITES - BITARREEE
of experience in the chemical fertiliser industry. He is currently the expert ~ BB IR EMMEIEE B B 20F &
consultant of the Advisory Committee of China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry 5 * BRIRPEAREILEMSEREZE S

Association. Mr. Liu was appointed the factory head of Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory, a state-owned enterprise, in charge of factory operations in 1994
and then became the chairman and the general manager of XLX Chem
from July 2003 to July 2006. He was the general manager of Henan XLX
from July 2006 to April 2016, and has also been the chairman of Henan XLX
since July 2006. In February 2003, Mr. Liu was awarded the “Provincial Safe
Production Advanced Worker” by Safe Production Committee of Henan
Province and Personnel Bureau of Henan Province for his outstanding
performance in safety work. In April 2004, he was awarded the "Henan
Province Labour Model (Advanced Worker)” and in 2005, he was awarded
the Henan Province Outstanding Private Enterprise Entrepreneur” by
the People’s Government of Henan Province. He was also the winner of
"National Labour Day Medal” in 2009 issued by All China Federation of Trade
Unions, and was awarded the “China Petroleum & Chemical Outstanding
Private Enterprises Entrepreneurs Innovation Award” in May 2014. He was
awarded the "Henan Economic Celebrity of the year 2014" and “Model
Worker of China”in 2015, and also the "Most Excellent Citizen in Xinxiang”
in 2017. Mr. Liu graduated from Xinxiang Broadcasting and Television
University in July 1986 with a Diploma in Arts. In 2006, he completed EDP
(Executive Development Program) from Guanghua School of Management,
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Peking University. In 2010, Mr. Liu was awarded the qualification of “Senior ~ #T#BA | &REBFEIR o %‘J?ﬁiﬁ/\—h/\f\g
Economist” by the People’s Government of Henan Province and the EMBA T AZXRITHAERERAZENEZR -
degree from Tsinghua University. Mr. Liu is the controlling shareholderanda ~ —ZZRF AL ,?\j(ﬂtﬁi’éjﬂﬂl&m
director of Pioneer Top Holdings Limited, a substantial Shareholder. BEBABEIRE RZE—ZTFE
MEARBUTEEE f%?&%@“ﬁfﬂ PR &R
WESEERESREEAEIRE
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MR. ZHANG QINGJIN

Aged 52, is principally in charge of the decision making with respect to
overall management and day-to-day business operations of the Group.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive Director on 27 March 2015. Mr.
Zhang was the deputy general manager of Henan XLX from November
2006 to July 2011, and was the executive deputy general manager of Henan
XLX from July 2011 to April 2016, and then he has become the general
manager of Henan XLX since April 2016. He has over 20 years of experience
in the chemical fertiliser industry. He is currently the vice chairman of
China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry Association. Mr. Zhang joined Xinxiang
Fertiliser Factory in July 1987 and held various positions, including unit
head of equipment and facility department, unit head of production and
technical department, section head of equipment and facility upgrade
and department head of technical upgrade in Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as the manager of the technical centre of
XLX Chem from August 2003 to July 2006. He was also the manager of
the technical centre of Henan XLX from July 2006 to November 2006.
Mr. Zhang graduated from Zhengzhou Engineering College (currently
known as “Zhengzhou University”) in July 1987 with a diploma in chemical
equipment, and obtained the EMBA degree from Tsinghua University in
2009.

MS. YAN YUNHUA

Aged 48, is principally in charge of the decision making with respect to all
financial matters within the Group. Ms. Yan was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2006. Ms. Yan obtained the "Accountant”
certification from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 1997. She
graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in July 2003 with a degree in
accountancy and obtained the “Senior Accountant” certification from
Henan Province Accountant Series Senior Assessment Committee in
December 2005. Ms. Yan obtained the EMBA (Executive Master of Business
Administration) degree from Guanghua School of Management, Peking
University in July 2009. Ms. Yan has 20 years of accounting and finance
experience. Ms. Yan is currently the executive chairman of the Finance
Research Committee of China Nitrogen Fertiliser Industry Association
and the vice chairman of Henan Provincial Association of CFO. She joined
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory in December 1997 and held various positions in
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory, including the deputy head of finance division and
the deputy chief accountant. She was also the chief accountant in charge
of finance of XLX Chem from 2003 to July 2006. She was the deputy general
manager of Henan XLX from July 2006 to April 2016, and has become the
vice chairman of Henan XLX since April 2016. Ms. Yan was awarded the
“Accountants Contribution Award” in the PRC in 2008, "Advanced Worker in
Accounting of Henan Province”in 2009, and “Labour Day Medal of Henan
Province”in 2015. Ms. Yan is the controlling shareholder and a director of Go
Power Investments Limited, a substantial Shareholder.
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EE - sAAEEERAAME

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
MR. ZHENG JIAQI

Aged 35, has been appointed as the non-executive Director since 16 May
2018. Mr. Zheng currently serves as Managing Director at Primavera Capital
Group (“Primavera’, a leading China-based investment firm managing
multi-billions worth of RMB and United States Dollar funds). He joined
Primavera in 2010 as a founding member and sits on the board of a series of
Primavera portfolio companies. Prior to joining Primavera, Mr. Zheng was at
Investment Banking Department of China International Capital Corporation
Limited from 2007 to 2010, working on both capital market transactions
and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Zheng received a Master in Finance
from Lancaster Management School in 2006 and a Bachelor of Arts in
Economics from the University of Manchester in 2005. Nitro Capital Limited
and Primavera Capital (Cayman) Fund | L.P, the Company’s substantial
shareholders, are within Primavera Capital Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR. ONG KIAN GUAN

Aged 51, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the AC and a member of both
the RC and the NC. He is a practising member and a fellow of the Institute
of Singapore Chartered Accountants, and also a partner of Baker Tilly TFW
LLP. He has more than 20 years of professional experience in financial audits
of multinational corporations and public listed companies from diverse
industries. He is currently the independent director of Alliance Mineral
Assets Limited and Serrano Limited (both companies are listed on the SGX-
ST), and also the lead independent director of Weiye Holdings Limited
(a company listed on both the SGX-ST and the Main Board of SEHK). In
addition, he has been appointed as the independent non-executive director
of RMH Holdings Limited and IAG Holdings Limited (both companies are
listed on the GEM of SEHK) since 22 September 2017 and 19 December
2017 respectively. He graduated from the Nanyang Technological University
in Singapore with a Bachelor of Accountancy degree in May 1992.
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MR. LI SHENGXIAO

Aged 56, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the NC and a member of
both the AC and the RC. Mr. Li has been a professor in Shaoxing University
since 2004, and is currently the Head of Regional Development Research
Centre in Shaoxing University. He has been the instructor of establishment
of small and medium enterprises in Zhejiang Province, Small and Medium
Enterprises Bureau in Zhejiang Province since 2006. Mr. Li has been
appointed as an independent director of Bank of Shaoxing Co., Ltd.
since November 2013. Mr. Li is also an independent director of Zhejiang
China Light & Textile Industrial City Group Co., Ltd (@ company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange). He resigned as an independent director
of Anhui Jiangnan Chemical Industry Co, Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) with effect from 12 April 2018. Mr. Li graduated
from Hangzhou University (currently known as Zhejiang University) in July
1987 with a graduation certificate in politics. He then obtained a master’s
degree in law from Hangzhou University in July 1990. He was awarded the
“high school outstanding youth teacher of Zhejiang Province”in September
1991.

MR. ONG WEI JIN

Aged 52, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 11 May 2007. He is also the chairman of the RC and a member of
both the AC and the NC. He is a partner in Harry Elias Partnership LLP (a
Singapore law firm). He is currently an independent director of Luzhou
Bio-chem Technology Limited, CFM Holdings Limited and Camsing
Healthcare Limited (formerly known as Jacks International Limited), all these
companies are listed on the SGX-ST. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree
from the National University of Singapore in 1990, a Master of Business
Administration degree from University of Hull in 1993, and a Master of Laws
degree from the National University of Singapore in 1995.
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EE  SHREBERATIWE
MR. LI HONGXING EFAN=Y
Aged 43, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director ~ 435% ' B _ZE— \FAA TN REZE

since 16 May 2018. Mr. Li has been the Managing Director of China
Reform Overseas Hongkong Company Limited since 2016. Mr. Li served
as the head of energy, mining and equipment (corporate finance) in
CITIC CLSA Securities from 2010 to 2016; and an equity analyst of HSBC
with a focus on Asian oil and chemicals from 2007 to 2010. Before that,
Mr. Li had worked in BP Group, Dongguan Nokia Mobile Phones Co., Ltd.
and PricewaterhouseCoopers China. Mr. Li received a Master of Business
Administration from Australian Graduate School of Management in 2011
and a Bachelor of Arts in International Business from the Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies in 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. MATONGSHENG

Aged 49, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 18 March 2019.
Mr. Ma has over 26 years of experience in the fertiliser industry in China.
Mr. Ma was the supervisor and assistant manager of Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory* (FT#8{LAE4ARER), a state-owned enterprise, from July 1992 to July
2000. He joined the Group in August 2000, and successively served the
following positions in the Group: the production manager of compound
fertiliser of Henan XLX from August 2000 to October 2005; the deputy
head of Production Plant Il from November 2005 to January 2010; the head
of Production Plant Ill from February 2010 to July 2012; the manager of
production management from August 2012 to December 2016; the director
of Production Management Centre from January 2017 to July 2017; and the
general manager of the Compound Fertiliser Company* (£ & JE/2 &)) from
August 2017 to October 2018. He is currently the head of Fine Chemicals
and Biomass Power Generation Development and Research Team of the
Company. Mr. Ma graduated from Zhengzhou University with an EMBA
degree and Nanjing University of Science and Technology with a degree in
Computer Technology.

34 China XLX 2018 Annual Report

ﬁﬁ4#%ﬁ§$ A S E 2016 FERERD
PERFGINEB) BRARETEES
4RI o $%$§mm¢iM6¢F¢%E
SEBEEBRATETER  BELEET
X (ERB)BEA LA&E 2007 & 2010
FREB ESELRITETES SR
BEDMNABRETIES - EH 2/ - T%
E“FW%@ R BEGREEEER

NE) R EFEAGERF TE - AR 2011
FRSRAF T EIRAET I EIEE T
B R 1997 FREBERINEINE XBE
G & =T VAD

SREEE
BEERE

49%% » B2019F3 A1sHEEAARAAE
EHITE  EFBLRITEE A B 260 F K
o BAEMI92F 7 HE2000F 7 A&
TEACEFBICERNETREEH
12 o R 2000F 8 AN ARERE - WHLE
EAEAREB LA TR : 20004 8 A 2= 2005

F108  MEOEONEAREEITKIE
200511 BE2010F18 E-XERE

BIM & 20002 A E201NF7H =
FYEBERE 20128 AE20169F12A8 -
HEEIEILTE  2017F1 B E 201767
B EEEEFRLOEE  M2017F8AFE
201810 A - AR ARIARLEIE - B Al
EARNEN BRI EREEYEREME
MREEAEEA o BRAEREREMNK

2 BSEMBARNA - RERIETIKRE:
HHEMESR -



MR. PAUL WONG WING WANG

Aged 48, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 18 March 2019.
Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the corporate finance industry
in Singapore. Prior to joining the Group, he has been the managing director
of Crowe Howarth Capital (Singapore) (“Crowe Singapore”) since April
2017, and was the chief executive officer of Partners Capital (Singapore)
Pte Ltd. (a boutique corporate finance firm with a CMS license from the
Monetary Authority of Singapore, which was acquired by Crowe Singapore
in April 2017) from January 2008 to April 2017. He was a partner of SAC
Capital Pte Ltd, a corporate finance advisor in Singapore, from December
2006 to December 2007. Mr. Wong is a member of CPA Australia, and holds
a Bachelor degree of Commerce from Newcastle University in Australia.

MR. LIYUSHUN

Aged 58, is the deputy general manager in charge of the research and
development department of Henan XLX since 31 July 2006. Mr. Li has
more than 30 years of experience in the chemical fertiliser industry. He
joined Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory in August 1982 and was appointed as the
deputy factory head of Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory in 1993. Mr. Li was the
deputy general manager of XLX Chem from August 2003 to July 2006. Mr.
Li graduated from Zhengzhou Engineering College (currently known as
Zhengzhou University) in July 1982 with a major in chemical technology. In
2004, he was awarded “First in Third Prize for Adopting the Improved Water
Solution Full Circulation Method Urea Technology to Expand Production
and Reduce Wastage” by the People’s Government of Xinxiang. In
November 2006, he was awarded the "Second Prize in Integrated Treatment
and Environmental Protection Project for Zero Discharge of Waste Water
Produced in the Production of Nitrogen Fertiliser” by China Nitrogen
Fertiliser Industry Association. He was recognised as a “Model Worker of
Hehan Province”in April 2014.

MR. WANG NAIREN

Aged 55, is the deputy general manager in charge of the sales and
purchasing of Henan XLX since 31 July 2006. He has more than 20 years of
experience in the chemical fertiliser industry. He held various positions in
Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory, including the office head of nitrogen fertiliser
plant and the deputy head and assistant to head of Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory from March 1993. Mr. Wang was the deputy general manager of
sales and marketing department of XLX Chem from August 2003 to July
2006. Mr. Wang obtained a certificate of completion in master’s course of
business administration from Tianjin Institute of Finance and Economics
(currently known as Tianjin University of Finance and Economics) in June
2002.
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Dlrectors, Senior N Management and Compahy Secretaries

EE - sAAEEERAAME

MR. ZHAO LIANZI

Aged 56, is the deputy general manager in charge of the strategy and
logistics department of Henan XLX since February 2012. He has almost
20 years of experience in the chemical fertiliser industry. He held various
positions in the Group, including the deputy head of Xinxiang Fertiliser
Factory from February 1999 to August 2000. He was the general manager

of Henan Xinxin Fertilizer Co,, Ltd. G ¥ HTELIERR D ER A F] ) from

565% c BT ——_F - ARBDRELE
D EAALIE » TEEEYR - BIMEE
THEAMFLEE - BFEASBLBET
ZEABK  BER—NAANF_AZE_F
ZZF N\ AHEFTBCIEERERmE -
BE_EEEFNAEZ_EE=F+_-AH

August 2000 to December 2003, the general manager of Compound — EAFEF LR N ERARBEE - B
Fertilizer Branch, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co,, Ltd. (JA] B8 0y CMERE B R & “ET=FFT-AEZT-THFELALE

A A BB D A &) from December 2003 to July 2010, and the assistant
to general manager of Henan XLX from July 2010 to February 2012. Mr.
Zhao obtained a certificate of completion in master’s course of business

AL EMEEER A RESIED R RIE
w1 RE_E—ZEF AR T ——F
“ RIS E O ESTRBNIE o A

administration from Tianjin Institute of Finance and Economics (currently RIBEZE-FRNAEGRETNEERK (R
known as Tianjin University of Finance and Economics) in June 2002. In BREMEARE) ERIEHERELRE
2007, he completed EDP (Executive Development Program) from Guanghua BEIE TRZZETLFTKIELRKRE

School of Management, Peking University.

JIEEEIEFEFJLIT RE BABE pﬂ‘u%ﬁ% °

MR. WANG PINGBIAO EFrREE
Aged 48, is the deputy general manager in charge of the production ~ 483% ' B —_E—X"FMNA -+ N AEH

department of Henan XLX since 29 April 2016. Mr. Wang has more than 20
years of experience in the chemical fertiliser industry. He joined Xinxiang
Fertiliser Factory in July 1992 and held various positions, including the
deputy director of technical transformation of Xinxiang Fertiliser Factory
and the deputy head of nitrogen fertiliser plant. He was the head of Branch

EAELELBIBKEE  FEELEE - F
EEMEIEEEBBBFLER - FR
—NAN=FEAMNBFICRER - BT

ZEBAL - B IE T 2B E IR AR it B
E&ﬂﬁﬁfaﬂﬁﬁ% o WM —_EERF—

II, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co, Ltd. Of] /L@ AMEAEB R AT =92 7)) from REZZZ N\FNABE BRI O E L
January 2005 to September 2008, the head of Factory Il Henan XLX ﬂ:HEﬁﬁE AN RRRE  —EENF
Fertilizer Co, Ltd. (AR /LB AMEBEBR AT =5HM) from September  NAEZT—TF—FHENELEME
2008 to January 2010 and the head of Branch IV, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co,, Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁji’\ﬁ’iﬁ’iﬁ —E-TF+AH

Ltd. GAEOELMEREB R A RO A A]) since October 2010. Mr. Wang
graduated from Zhengzhou Engineering College (currently known as
Zhengzhou University) with a tertiary certificate in June 1992, and obtained
a master degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from
Tsinghua University in 2008.
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MR. REN RONGKUI

Aged 50, he was appointed as the Deputy General Manager of Henan XLX
on 18 March 2019. Mr. Ren graduated from Henan Normal University in June
1992 and obtained a master’s degree in business administration from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in January 2017. He was qualified as a safety engineer.
From June 1992 to January 1997, he served as a workshop staff member
of Xinxiang Fertilizer Factory. From January 1997 to July 2000, he served as
director of the Instrument Workshop of Xinxiang Fertilizer Factory. From
July 2000 to July 2005, he served as manager of the agrochemical center
of Henan Xinxin Fertilizer Co,, Ltd,, and served as deputy director of Factory
I, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co., Ltd. from January to July 2007. He served as
director of Factory |, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co,, Ltd. from July 2007 to August
2008, and manager of Branch I, Henan XLX Fertilizer Co., Ltd. from August
2008 to October 2010, and served as the assistant of general manager of
Henan XLX Fertilizer Co,, Ltd. from October 2010 to July 2017.

MS. SUN HONG

Aged 50, she was appointed as the deputy general manager of Henan XLX
on 18 March 2019. Ms. Sun graduated from Henan Normal University in July
1991 with major in chemistry, and obtained a master’s degree in applied
chemistry from Dalian University of Technology in July 1994. He obtained a
Ph.D. in Business Administration from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology in June 2011. From August 1994 to February 2004, he worked in
Henan Xinfei Electric Appliance Co., Ltd, as a technician, the deputy director
of the manufacturing department, director, manager of the advertising
department, and deputy manager of the marketing department, etc. From
March 2004 to October 2012, he served as the head of quality department,
deputy general manager of quality department and general manager of
quality department in Henan Xinfei Electric Appliance Co., Ltd. In November
2012, he served as assistant to general manager of Henan XLX Fertilizer Co,,
Ltd. and manager of enterprise management department.
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Dlrectors, Senlor Management and Company Secretarles
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
MS. SO YEE KWAN

Aged 37, was appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company
since 6 March 2018. Ms. So is a senior manager of Corporate Services of
Tricor Services Limited (a global professional services provider specializing
in integrated business, corporate and investor services). She has extensive
experience in a diversified range of corporate services and has been
providing professional secretarial services to many companies listed on the
SEHK for the past 14 years. Ms. So is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow of
both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. Ms. So
received a Bachelor's degree in International Business Management from
Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom and a Master of Arts in
Professional Accounting and Information Systems from City University of
Hong Kong.

MS. CHEOK HUI YEE

Aged 33, was appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company since
6 March 2018. Ms. Cheok is a senior manager of Tricor Evatthouse Corporate
Services, a division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd. (a leading provider of
integrated business, corporate and investor services in Singapore). She has
over 10 years of experience in corporate secretarial practice in Singapore.
Her area of exposure includes advisory and assistance in compliance
matters of public and private limited companies in Singapore, foreign
companies registered in Singapore as well as offshore incorporated
companies. She is currently the appointed company secretary of several
public companies listed on the SGX-ST. Ms. Cheok is a Practising Chartered
Secretary and an Associate of The Chartered Secretaries Institute of
Singapore. Ms. Cheok received a Bachelor’s Degree (Honours) in Commerce
from Liverpool John Moores University in the United Kingdom.
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Investor Relations
KREEZEBRE

During 2018, the Company continued to strengthen its efforts in
maintaining investor relations, and capital market recommendation and
media promotion became the main focus for work promotion, so as to
truly serve as a bridge for effective communication between the Company
and the capital market. The Company also listens attentively to various
suggestions and proposals from the capital market with regard to the
Company’s operations and management in a proactive, sincere and humble
manner, so as to optimise the Company’s operational management quality,
enhance the Company’s profitability and Shareholders' value and maximise
their interests.

TIMELY, RIGHTEOUS, FAIR AND ACCURATE INFORMATION
DISCLOSURE

The Company has been in strict compliance with the information disclosure
principles for listed companies by making timely, righteous, fair and
accurate information disclosure, which improve the transparency of the
Company, moreover, establish a smooth communication channel and
enhance its interaction and communication with the capital market. In
2018, the Company published 49 documents on SEHK's website. Such
publications have objectively and comprehensively disclosed information
regarding the results, operating performance, financial information,
dividend payment, poll results of shareholder meetings and certain other
voluntary disclosures. The Company’s website (www.chinaxlx.com.hk) is also
an important channel for its information disclosure and important platform
for investors to obtain information on the Company.

MULTIPLE-CHANNEL, COMPREHENSIVE INVESTOR
RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

The Company continued to conduct comprehensive communication with
capital market through various communication channels including results
announcement conference, roadshow activities, one-on-one investor
meetings, investor forums and reverse roadshow activities, communicating
its development philosophy and strategies, growth progress and latest
updates and results on operation and management, and sharing its
understanding and expectation on the industry and the market. Further,
the Company also developed various user-friendly promotion and
communication platforms such as website, WeChat public platforms and
other formats, with their contents covering corporate news, important
announcements, updates of the Company’s capital market, media report,
and analyst’s report.
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Investor Relations
REERZR

Meanwhile, according to the needs and styles of analysts and different
investors, the Company flexibly and proactively arranged corporate senior
management to participate in various investor relations activities. During
2018, the Company’s senior management including the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Financial Officer participated in plenty of investor
activities to fully communicate with the capital market, which realised
multi-channelled communications. In 2018, besides holding press
conferences after interim and annual results announcements, the Company
also attended various investor forums organised by a number of investment
banks and funds, conducted one-on-one meetings and conference calls
regularly, and made interactive communication with around 300 investors
and analysts throughout the year. We attach great importance to investors’
onsite visits, and arranged over forty plant visits to the headquarter of the
Group in 2018, meanwhile, the Company organised large-scale reverse
roadshow activities in the second half of 2018, more than thirty investors
visited the Group’s headquarters and Xinjiang base, so as to further give
investors and analysts a better idea of the business and operations of the
Group.

STEADY AND CONTINUOUS SHAREHOLDER RETURNS

The Company attaches great importance to the Shareholders’ views on its
dividend payout. The Company determines its dividend payout every year
with reference to the Company’s financial status, long-term development
needs and potential investment opportunities. When the Company was
listed on the SGX-ST in 2007, we promised to the Shareholders that our
dividend payout ratio for each of the 3 years from 2007 to 2009 would not
be less than 20% of our net profit after tax, and we have kept our promises.
After the period of promise, we have kept the dividend payout ratio at
20% or above for eleven consecutive years. In 2018, it achieved a record
high of RMBO.1 per share and a dividend payout ratio of 18.75% net profit
attributable to owners of the parent.
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The situation of the Company’s dividend payment since listing
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance principles and processes in managing the
business and affairs, so as to improve the performance, accountability,
and transparency of the Group. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of the Group's business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has reviewed its
corporate governance practices and considers that the Company has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised below.

A THE BOARD
A1.  RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

The primary role of the Board is taking leadership and
control of the Company to protect and enhance long-term
Shareholders’ value. It sets the corporate strategies of the
Group, and sets directions and goals for the management.
The Board also supervises the management and monitors

performance of these goals to enhance Shareholders’

value. The Board is responsible for the overall corporate
governance of the Group.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and
the management. Each executive Director has accumulated
sufficient and valuable experience to hold his/her position
in order to ensure that his/her fiduciary duties can be carried
out in an effective and efficient manner.
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Corporate Governance Report
1 %M\Aiﬁﬂ:

The Board has established an internal framework to ensure
that the type of material transactions which required Board's
approval is consistently applied throughout the Group.
Matters requiring Board's approval include:

Overall Group business and budget strategy

ii. Capital expenditures, investments or divestments

EEZSCORIIAEMESR - 5
REEBEFSRENEARR
HEAEBA—RER - F
ZEESIENETEBE

ANEBEEER LB
HRBE

i, EARY - BBEK

exceeding certain material limits REEMIRE A
i, All capital-related matters including capital issuance i BREERB{TRED
and redemption FEAFTE & ZARIEHE
£=H
iv. Significant policies governing the operations of the iv. RARIEREENE
Company BHER
. Corporate strategic development and restructuring v. EREBERNLESA
Vi Risk management strategy Vi. [\ B 7 PR 2R IS
vii.  Any major corporate activities involving changes in vi. S RIREE S R E R
Shareholders'rights and risk profile EAEHNEMREE
TS
Regular meetings of the Board are held to deliberate the EEeRTEHeRE UMD
strategic policies of the Company including significant AR BRI RSB R

acquisitions and disposals, review and approve annual

REANBEEMBESE -

budgets, review the performance of the business and EMMAEFEER - W
approve the public release of periodic financial results. FBFRIBABLERINAME

All Directors are from time to time furnished with
information concerning the Company to enable them to be
fully cognizant of the decisions and actions of the Company’s
executive management. The Board has unrestricted access
to the Company’s records and information. Any Director may
request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.
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Senior management members are available to provide
explanatory information in the form of briefings to the
Directors or formal presentations at Board meetings, or by
external consultants engaged on specific projects.

The Board has formed specialised committees namely the
AC, the RC and the NC (collectively the “Committees”)
to assist in carrying out and discharging its duties and
responsibilities efficiently and effectively. The Committees
function within clearly defined terms of references and
operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular
basis. The effectiveness of each of the Committees is also
constantly reviewed by the Board.

The company secretary(ies) of the Company (the “Company
Secretary(ies)”) and/or his/her representative(s) attend(s)
all Board meetings and meetings of the Committees to
ensure that Board procedures are followed and applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of
meetings of the Board and the Committees are circulated to
Directors and the Committees members, as the case may be,
for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version of minutes are available for Directors’
inspection.
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A2. BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2018, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Xingxu (Chairman of the Board and

Member of the NC)

Mr. Zhang Qingjin Mot
Ms. Yan Yunhua o

(Chief Executive Officer)
(Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Zheng Jiagi

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ong Kian Guan (Chairman of the AC, Member
of the RC and the NC)

Mr. Li Shengxiao (Chairman of the NC, Member

of the AC and the RC)

Mr. Ong Wei Jin (Chairman of the RC, Member
ofthe AC and the NC)

Mr. Li Hongxing (Member of the AC, the RC
and the NC)

Note:  Subsequent to the year end, on 18 March 2019, Mr. Zhang
Qingjin resigned and Mr. Ma Tongsheng was appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and Ms. Yan Yunhua
resigned and Mr. Paul Wong Wing Wang was appointed as the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Both Mr. Zhang Qingjin
and Ms. Yan Yunhua remain as the executive directors of the

Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has
met the requirements of Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of
having at least three independent non-executive Directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and related financial management expertise.
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A3.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and
objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different business and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they are
invited to serve on the Committees. Through participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflicts of interests and/or serving on
the Committees, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
Shareholders.

The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
between Board members, if any, are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretaries” of this annual report.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company supports the division of responsibility
between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in order to ensure a balance of
power and authority and preserve a balanced judgement
of views. During the year under review, Mr. Liu Xingxu is
the Chairman of the Board, focusing on the overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group; whereas
Mr. Zhang Qingjin is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, taking care of the overall management and day-
to-day business operations of the Group. Such separation of
the roles and duties of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
would enable timely management of the Group’s affairs and
further reinforce the Group's development.
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Subsequent to the year end, on 18 March 2019, Mr. Zhang
Qingjin resigned and Mr. Ma Tongsheng was appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer to take care of the overall
management and day-to-day business operation of the
Group. Mr. Zhang Qingjin remains as the executive director
of the Company.

In addition, the Directors are of the view that the balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
on the Board and the existence of AC, RC and NC (comprising
all or a majority of independent non-executive Directors) in
overseeing different aspects of the Company’s affairs would
help to maintain the balance of power and authority.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and processes of appointment and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Constitution.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas the Company has
issued a letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director. All
Directors are appointed for a specific term of 3 years. They
are also subject to retirement and re-election in accordance
with the Constitution at least once every three years at an
AGM.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
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The existing Directors are continually updated with legal
and regulatory developments, and the business and market
changes to refresh their knowledge and to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings
and professional development to Directors are arranged
whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials on new
or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the
Group are provided to Directors from time to time for their
studying and reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors
have participated training as follows:

- All Directors (being Mr. Liu Xingxu, Mr. Zhang Qingjin,
Ms. Yan Yunhua, Mr. Zheng Jiaqi, Mr. Ong Kian Guan,
Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei Jin, Mr. Li Hongxing
and Mr. Lian Jie) received regular briefings and
updates from the Company Secretaries/Company’s
management on the Group’s business, operations
and corporate governance matters.

- Mr. Ong Kian Guan and Mr. Li Hongxing attended
relevant seminars organised by professional firms/
institutions.

- Mr. Liu Xingxu, Mr. Zhang Qingjin, Ms. Yan Yunhua
and Mr. Li Shengxiao read technical bulletins,
periodicals and other publications on subjects
relevant to the Group and on their responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.
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A6.  DIRECTORS ATTENDANCE RECORDS A6. EHEBHFECHE
The attendance records of each Director at the meetings BEEEREBE_ZT-N\F
of the Board and the Committees and the annual general +ZA=+—H Jl:irﬁ’z}
meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31 ARITNESEE%  £8
December 2018 are set out below: FEERBRRARAEHLERL
BHIAT -
Attendance of Meetings
SRLERY
Remuneration Nomination  Annual General
Board  Audit Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Bxg ENZEE ¥HzEE REZBE RREEAS
No. of Meetings held 8 5 2 2 1
BEH
Name of Director
BEpg
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Liu Xingxu fER L 8 - - 2 1
Mr. Zhang Qingjin REGKE 7 - - - 0
Ms. Yan Yunhua BEFELt 8 - - - 1
Non-executive Director: FHTEE
Mr. Zheng Jiagi (Note 1) HEErs () 0 - - - NANER
M. Lian Jie (Note 2) RRFA (M) 0 - - - 0
Independent non-executive Directors: BV HH7TEE -
Mr.Ong Kian Guan TERLE 8 5 2 2 1
Mr. Li Shengxiao TERRE 8 5 2 2 1
Mr. Ong Wei Jin TACRE 7 5 1 1 1
Mr.LiHongxing (Note 3) FHERE (W) 4 3 NATER NATER NAZER
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Notes:

1. Mr. Zheng Jiagi was appointed as a non-executive director with
effect from 16 May 2018. Subsequent to his appointment, 4
board meetings were held during the year ended 31 December
2018.

2. Mr. Lian Jie resigned as a non-executive director with effect
from 16 May 2018. Prior to his resignation, 3 board meetings
and 1 annual general meeting were held during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

3. Mr. Li Hongxing was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the AC, the RC
and the NC on 16 May 2018. Subsequent to his appointment, 4
board meetings, 3 AC meetings, no RC, NC and annual general
meetings were held during the year ended 31 December 2018.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of executive Directors during the year under
review.

While the Board considers Directors’ attendance at the
meetings of the Board and the Committees to be important,

it should not be the only criterion to measure the Directors’

contributions. The Board also takes into account the
contributions by Board members in other forms including
periodical reviews, and provision of guidance and advice on
various matters relating to the Group.
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A7.

A8.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules) as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors'dealings in the Company’s securities. The Company
has made specific enquiry of all the Directors, and the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”), governing securities transactions
by the relevant employees who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities. No incident
of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
relevant employees was noted by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period
for dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will
notify the Directors and relevant employees in advance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed and
monitored the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Employees Written Guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
AC, the RC and the NC, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All the Committees have been established with
defined written terms of reference, which are available on the
websites of the SEHK (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.
chinaxlx.com.hk). All the Committees should report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations made.

All the Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

B1.  AUDIT COMMITTEE

The AC currently comprises a total of four members, being
the four existing independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei
Jin and Mr. Li Hongxing. The chairman of the AC is Mr. Ong
Kian Guan, who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
None of the members of the AC is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the AC are reviewing the financial
information and reports of the Group and considering any
significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers
of the Group or the external auditor before submission to
the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the terms
of appointment of the external auditor and making the
relevant recommendation to the Board; and reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function.
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The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy for
employees of the Group to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The AC constantly receives updates from
the external auditor pertaining to the latest changes to the
accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact
on financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the AC has held 5
meetings. Details of individual attendance of each member
at the meetings are set out in section A6 above. The AC has
performed the following major works during the year ended

ARARAEEBTRAH
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=+—HIEFE  BEZEXE
SERTSAEZ - RFEB
K E R FE 2 EFBEIR

31 December 2018 XAk e REIEZZF—N
F+ZRA=+—HLFE"
ERZEGRETNIEE
T

- Review and discussion of the annual financial - BRI REE_Z
statements, results announcement and report for —tF+ZA=*+—
the year ended 31 December 2017 together with H L FEHF RIS
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, BT E N ¥ N
and the related accounting principles and practices HERARE ek
adopted by the Group; ERMEURAEE
HmEEE R

KAEH) ;
- Review and discussion of the interim financial - BRI REE-ZT
statements, results announcement and report for —N\FERXA=+AHL
the six months ended 30 June 2018, and the related 7~ME A #) AR B BT 7 R
accounting principles and practices adopted by the *CEBEAMEWRSE
Group; LA 2 7K 62 (B 5% 49 1 78

FAE RN BRI

- Review and discussion of the financial results for - BB LW R E
the first quarter ended 31 March 2018 and the third E-Z—-—NF=H
quarter ended 30 September 2018 respectively; =+t—HIEE—FE

EBE_ZT—-N\FAh
A=+RHLE=FE
MR TS 5E4R
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- Consideration and discussion of the major audit
findings (including Key Audit Matters) for the year
ended 31 December 2017 from the external auditor;

- Consideration and discussion of the major internal
audit issues for the year ended 31 December 2017
and the six months ended 30 June 2018 respectively;

- Review of the independence of the external auditor
and recommendation of its re-appointment for the
year ended 31 December 2018;

- Review and discussion of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2018;

- Review and discussion of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems and the internal audit
function;

- Review of the arrangement of whistle-blowing
policy; and

- Review and discussion of Ernst & Young LLP’s audit
plan for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the external
auditor has met the AC twice and discussed with the AC on
issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.
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The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided BEzZBgEEHARAIN
by the external auditor of the Company, was satisfied that Az BN IR IR T A IEEZ
the nature and extent of such services would not affect the AR7S - EMZERGHMEE
independence and objectivity of the external auditor. The KER T g 2N
AC recommended that Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for A B EREEE - BFX
re-appointment as the Company’s external auditor at the ZEEREE_T—NFER
2019 AGM. There is no disagreement between the Board and RBAFRE LIRBLKER
the AC regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or MESAMBABZERER
dismissal of external auditor. AR N EDIZ BRAD - EF R
BEZLZE g 2 BEINDIZE
FIAYIRE - BT - B ®
BEwEERNE o
B2.  REMUNERATION COMMITTEE B2. ¥ HMZEES

The RC currently comprises a total of four members, being
the four existing independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei Jin
and Mr. Li Hongxing. The chairman of the RC is Mr. Ong Wei
Jin. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited
to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefits
in kind, will be covered by the RC. Each RC member will
abstain from voting on any resolution in respect of his own
remuneration package.

The principal responsibilities of the RC include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management (i.e. the
model described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code is adopted). The RC is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration will be determined
by the Board with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as the market practice
and conditions.

54 China XLX 2018 Annual Report

yMZEemaHUAKE
AR - BDPO 3R B S FE
TESFTRRELE  FTAER
L EIRCEERFAE
TE-FMEEEXTRAT
RERE - BEREFHMOME
=H BRETRRESH
T Fe o RR - EANE
Yz HERFMEES
BE - BFHMWE

BEREHR
IAREASHNFHMAES
ERPRERMERE -

FHEZEENTEEAXRE
MEEEHAR B FH B E
REBUREERSRER
B H B4 & 1B 2560 o
BEZ(ARMNCEERT
BI85 B 5 S 85 B.1.2(c) i) 16
Fril =) - HNEZEE SR
B ETHITE AR R &
REFI AFEPEMNRER
VAT AR BE 48 28 5 ol EL AT a7 Bt
BABSEATERNGNFH
B MEMiEmEETELE
&R A L RAR B EZRIR LA
R EF RIRBEMETE °



In setting remuneration packages, the RC will take into
consideration the pay and employment conditions in
comparable companies within the industry. The RC will
also review the remuneration packages of the independent
non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director to
ensure that they are commensurate with the contributions
and responsibilities of the Directors. Each of the executive
Directors entered into a service contract with the Company,
which covers each of their terms of employment. The
Company will submit the quantum of Directors' fees of each
year to the Shareholders for approval at each AGM.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the RC has held 2
meetings. Details of individual attendance of each member
at the meeting are set out in section A6 above. At the said
meeting, the RC: (i) reviewed the remuneration framework
for the Directors, key executive staff, top five highest paid
employees and employees who are immediate family
members of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2017 and the remuneration proposal for the year ended 31
December 2018, by reference to the Group's performance
and profitability as well as the remuneration level of certain
listed corporations within the industry; and (ii) reviewed
the letters of appointment, including the remuneration
packages, of the Directors appointed during the year under
review, with recommendations to the Board for approval.
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HEEHRE
Pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, BIECEERTRISFANEX
the annual remuneration of the members of the senior FEBISKE HEZZ—N\F
management by band for the year ended 31 December TZA=+—RHIEFESK
2018 is set out below: EIREK B MTE H iR E
el N
Remuneration band (RMB) Number of individuals
FNEE (AR T) AE
700,000-900,000 1
900,001-1,000,000 3
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year  E T - N\F+ A
ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 9 to the —t+t—HLEFERESENG
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual B 5518 SR AN R4 A B 7S
report. WRMIFEOA ©
B3.  NOMINATION COMMITTEE B3. IRBRZET

The NC currently comprises a total of five members, being
the Chairman of the Board, namely Mr. Liu Xingxu, and the
four existing independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ong Kian Guan, Mr. Li Shengxiao, Mr. Ong Wei Jin and
Mr. Li Hongxing. Accordingly, a majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
NC is Mr. Li Shengxiao.

The principal responsibilities of the NC include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on an annual basis
and recommending any changes to the Board; identifying
qualified and suitable individuals to become Board
members and selecting and making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and making recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.
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The NC has established and implemented processes
including taking into consideration the attendance records
at the meetings of the Board and the Committees for
monitoring and evaluating the performance of the Board
as a whole and effectiveness and contribution of individual
Directors.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other significant offices held by them. Where a Director has
multiple directorships, the NC will evaluate whether or not
the Director is able to carry out and has been adequately
carrying out his/her duties as a Director. For the year ended
31 December 2018, the Board is satisfied that each Director
has allocated sufficient time and resources to the affairs of
the Company.

During the year under review, in response to the
amendment to the CG Code effective on 1 January 2019, the
Company has also adopted the Director Nomination Policy.
Such policy, devising the criteria and process of selection
and performance evaluation, provides guidance to the
Board on nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company. The Board believes that the defined selection
process is good for corporate governance in ensuring the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level,
and enhancing better Board effectiveness and diversity
as well as in compliance with the applicable rules and
regulations.
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The NC and/or the Board may select candidates for
directorship from various channels, including but not limited
to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment
agents. In selecting and evaluating candidates for
directorship, the NC may make reference to certain criteria,
such as the Company’s needs, the integrity, experience,
skills and professional knowledge of the candidate, and the
amount of time and effort that the candidate will devote to
discharge his/her duties and responsibilities. Each candidate
shall be ranked by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and his/her reference check. The NC shall
report its findings and make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment of appropriate candidate for
directorship for decision.

The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage. The Company believes
that greater diversity of directors is good for corporate
governance and is committed to attract and retain
candidate(s) for Board with a combination of competencies
from the widest possible pool of available talents; and
to assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and,
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company
and the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if any.
A Board diversity policy was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Board and the NC is responsible
for reviewing and assessing the Board composition under
diversified perspectives (including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience) and for ensuring that changes to the Board’s
composition can be managed without undue disruption.
The NC shall report its findings and make recommendation
to the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives, if any, will be
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
in determining the optimum composition of the Board that
are aligning with the Company’s strategy and objectives.
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The NC considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained and has not set any
measurable objective implementing the Board diversity

policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the NC has
held 2 meetings. Details of individual attendance of each
member at the meeting are set out in section A6 above.
At the said meeting, the NC: (i) reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements for the business of the Group; (ii)
assessed the independence of all the independent non-
executive Directors; (i) recommended the re-election of
the retiring Directors at the 2018 AGM; and (iv) considered
and recommended to the Board the appointment of Mr.
Zheng Jiagi as non-executive Director and Mr. Li Hongxing
as independent non-executive Director.

DIRECTORS’RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is mindful of
its obligations to furnish timely information and to ensure full
disclosure of material information to the Shareholders in compliance
with statutory requirements and the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The
management has provided such explanation and information to
the Board as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Group
and put forward to the Board for approval.
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There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems have
a key role in the identification and management of risks that are
significant to the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.
The process of business risk management has been integrated
throughout the Group into business planning and monitoring
processes. The Company’s management continuously assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans, monitors
the risk management progress, and reports to the AC and the Board
on all findings. The management would also report to the AC and
the Board on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

The AC ensures that a review of the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems covering all material
internal controls (including financial, operational, compliance
and information technology controls), with respect to the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, is conducted
annually and put forward to the Board for consideration. In this
regard, the AC reviews the audit plans and the findings of the
external and internal auditors, and ensures that the Company will
follow up on the auditors' recommendations raised, if any, during
the audit process.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Board, with the assistance of
the management and the AC, has the overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the Group's assets.
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Based on the reports submitted by the external and internal
auditors and the various management controls put in place, the
Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2018. With the concurrence of the AC, the Board
considered that the Group's risk management and internal control
systems maintained by the management are effective and adequate
to address the financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management of the Group throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has also
received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company that (i) the financial records have
been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true
and fair view of the Company/Group’s operation and finances; and (ii)
the Company/Group have put in place and will continue to maintain
reliable, comprehensive and sound systems of risk management,
internal control and corporate governance that will withstand the
scrutiny of any audit and review by the external auditor.

The Company has implemented control procedures throughout the
year ended 31 December 2018 to ensure that unauthorised access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The primary functions of the Company’s internal audit include
assessing if adequate internal control system is in place to protect
the funds and assets of the Group and to ensure compliance
with the internal control procedures; assessing if operation of
the business processes under review is conducted efficiently and
effectively; and identifying and recommending improvements to
the internal control procedures, where required.

The Board with the concurrence of the AC is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget and effectiveness of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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F. COMPANY SECRETARIES F. NEME
During the year ended 31 December 2018, with effect from 6 HE_Z—)\F+-A=+—ARH1t

March 2018, Ms. Cheok Hui Yee of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd. and Ms.
So Yee Kwan of Tricor Services Limited, both of which companies
being external service providers, were engaged as the Company’s
Joint Company Secretaries. The Company’s former Joint Company
Secretaries, Mr. Teo Meng Keong of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.
passed away on 23 January 2018 and Ms. Soon Yuk Tai of Tricor
Services Limited has resigned with effect from 6 March 2018. Details
of the said change of secretaries are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 25 January 2018 and 6 March 2018.

The Company Secretaries' primary contact persons at the Company
are Ms. Yan Yunhua, an executive Director, and Mr. Zhu Weiwei, the
Head of Investor Relations of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company Secretaries
have taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION G IMEDRX AN A BART N &
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their RARINEBZEMBEHEHE—F
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for —NE+ZA=F—BILFEAR
the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the section headed A SRR BB EELER
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report. AR BB EN RS |87 -
The fees paid/payable to Ermnst & Young LLP, the Company’s external MBE_ZT-N\FT+-_A=1T—H
auditor, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the IEFEEZIRT MIEEZRE
year ended 31 December 2018 are analysed below: BN T AR RSN IZ AT &
KEETEMEBANERIITAT
Fees paid/payable
Bt/ EAEA
Type of services provided by the external auditor RMB'000
HMNERRR BHEM IR LA IR IS TE IR AREFT
Audit services
ERTE
- Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2018 3,600
HE-ZT—\F+-_A=t+—BLFENEZER
Non-audit services
F BRI
- Tax consultation fee for the year ended 31 December 2018 88
HE-T—\F+-_A=-t+—BLFEHREEANER
TOTAL: 3,688
M
|
COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS H  EERRRREENEE

The Group recognises the importance of transparent and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables Shareholders
and investors to make the best investment decision. Price sensitive
information will be publicly released before the Company’s
disclosure of any of such information to any group of investors or
analysts. Financial results and reports will be announced or issued
within the prescribed periods under the statutory or regulatory
requirements.
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In line with continuous obligations of the Company pursuant to the BEEARAIRE RS
Listing Rules, the Board's policy is that all Shareholders be informed f&' EFEENBREELERR
of all major developments that impact the Group. Information is BT EREENFABEERERE o
disseminated to the Shareholders and investors on a timely basis $’D\ a3 A DA T 77 T R R AR R &
through: WEEEMER
i Announcements, financial reports, circulars and news i AR T TIE A - B
releases published on the website of the SEHK; HERE  BRAIFTEEMA
i Financial reports prepared and issued to all Shareholders; i A2 BB AR R AR B I (M) 4t P9 2
RS
i, Press releases on major developments of the Group; i, ERrEEERNERNNE
(o
iv. Notices of and explanatory memoranda for AGM and EGM,; iv. [ RIBF R MR ERERIA
and EHREMNHAHERE K
. the Company’s website at www.chinaxlx.com.hk at which V. R B &Y A8 Ik (www.chinaxdx.
the Shareholders can access information of the Group, com.hk) * R%ER AT PR EZ 48 k2
roadshows organised by banks and plant visits. EAEEMER - RITLH
KB B A KRG 2 BEE) -
Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings to ensure RARISEBRREFERRARE - A
high level of accountability and to stay apprised of the Group's RS EMNBEKENMESAREE
strategy and goals. Notices of general meetings will be published HISREEFI B AR - RE A GSBE KT
on the websites of the SEHK and the Company. The chairmen of the ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ AN A o B
Committees are normally available at general meetings to answer g IFL &= W ERE KR
any question relating to the work of the Committees. The external g OEERZEZEESTERMAOMN
auditor shall also be present at AGM to answer questions about the E'E o HNERAZ EEM JT FE I JE AR R A F
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s Ae - UERZEEBETEZ - ZH
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. MMENRELRAR  SETEER

ZEENEIB I IR o
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Besides, for putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders
and investors may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders and investors may send their written
enquiries to the following:

Address:  17/F, Yat Chau Building, 262 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Head of Investor Relations)

Fax: (852) 2521 9955
Email: weiweizhu@chinaxlx.com.hk
Inquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS'RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution shall be proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors, for Shareholders’' consideration and voting.

1. CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL METING

Pursuant to Article 47 of the Constitution, the Directors
may whenever they think fit, and shall on requisition in
accordance with the statute, proceed with proper expedition
to convene an EGM.

Pursuant to the Companies Act:

(@) Shareholders holding 10% or more of the
paid-up capital of the Company which carries the
right to vote at general meetings as at the date of
the deposit of the requisition, may request the Board
to convene an EGM. The written requisition must
specify the objects of the meeting, be signed by
the Shareholders concerned and deposited at the
registered office of the Company for the attention of
the Board or the Company Secretaries;
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The Board shall proceed to convene an EGM within
21 days of the deposit of such written requisition.
Such EGM shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such written requisition; and

If the Directors do not within 21 days after the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene an
EGM, the Shareholders who deposited requisition, or
any of them representing more than 50% of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves, in the
same manner as nearly as possible as that in which
meetings are to be convened by Directors, convene
an EGM, but any EGM so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of 3 months from that date.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

In general, subject to the paragraph below, no resolution
may be proposed at a general meeting (whether it is an EGM
or an AGM) if such resolution is not included in the notice
convening the general meeting. However, if the proposal
is to amend an existing resolution set out in the notice
convening the general meeting and such amendment
is within the scope of the notice, such amendment may
be made if approved by the Shareholders by ordinary
resolution.
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On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of
Shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which
the requisition related; or (i) not less than 100 Shareholders
on which there has been paid up an average sum, per
Shareholder, of not less than $$500, the Company shall be
under a duty to:

(a) Give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b) Circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to the Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him/her notice of meetings of the Company. The requisition
shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at
least 6 weeks before the meeting.
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For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder must provide his/her BRELERMB WREMNEERER

full name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed EMNEEE2H L?ﬂ:ﬁﬁﬁﬂ ( %ﬁ 15

written requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in RE)RGWRE ERREES

order to give effect thereto. Information of the Shareholder may be Z - BBERRESFR  UHE

disclosed as required by law. 2% BASBRAEN - RRE

KIS ZBRBEDIIRE T ARKEE -

During the year under review, the Company has not made REBEE ARG EEEEE

any changes to the Constitution. An up-to-date version of the AR 2R o ERRAI R ATARAS AT A

Constitution is available on the websites of the SEHK and the BT R AN B4t &R - B

Company. Shareholders may refer to the Constitution for further REF M E—LFE  RRAZE

details of the rights of Shareholders. B o

All resolutions put forward at general meetings shall be voted by BRERRE LIRZENAAERERBR

poll pursuant to the Listing Rules, and poll results will be posted BLETMARBETRERR S B

on the websites of the SEHK and the Company after each general FANMBERENSRERSERE

meeting. TEBSE 22 BT e AN A R A8 uh I -
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Directors’ Statement
EERE

The directors (the “Directors”) of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. (the “Company”)
are pleased to present their statement to the Shareholders together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the statement
of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

In the opinion of the Directors,

(i) the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the statement of financial position and statement of changes
in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as
at 31 December 2018 and the financial performance, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018; and

(i) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to
believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development, and the description of possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis
of this annual report. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are set out in Note 43 to the financial statements.
An analysis of the Group'’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is set out in the Financial Highlights of this
annual report. Discussions on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations and relationships with its key stakeholders that have a
significant impact on the Group are included in the Chairman’s Statement,
Investor Relations and Corporate Governance Report of this annual report
and in this Directors' Statement.

The Group places much importance on environmental protection, energy-
saving and emission reduction, continuously processes environmental
transformation of production systems, promotes the implementation of
clean production, and continuously formulates and improves a series of
regulation policies to improve our environmental management, laying
a solid foundation for future development. Please refer to the separate
2018 Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report of the Group,
which will be published on the websites of the SFHK and the Company, for
further details of the Group’s ESG-related risks, environmental policies and
performance and other ESG information.
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DIVIDEND POLICY BREBEER

The Company is committed to sharing its development and achievements
with shareholders through stable and sustainable dividend payment whilst
maintaining a an optimal capital structure which allows the Company to
take advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may
arise from time to time. The Company has adopted a divided policy which
sets out the basic principles in determining the distribution of the dividends
and the normal target payout ratio of not less than 20% of its annual net
profits attributable to its shareholders in each financial year.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends, including without limitation to: (i) financial
results; (i) cash flow situation; (iii) availability of distributable profits; (iv)
business conditions and strategies; (v) future operations and earnings; (vi)
capital requirements and expenditure plans.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with the
Constitution and the applicable laws and regulations. The Board will review
the said dividend policy as appropriate from time to time and there can be
no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
given period.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 94 to 225 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The Directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of RMB10 cents (2017: RMB8.49 cents) per
ordinary share in respect of the year to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on 13 June 2019. Subject to the
approval of Shareholders at the 2019 AGM, the final dividend will be paid
on 25 July 2019 in HKD of HKD 0.11556 per ordinary share.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 226 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the Company’s share capital and convertible bonds are set out in
Notes 35 and 33 to the financial statements, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Constitution or
the laws of Singapore, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company repurchased, on
5 January 2018, on the SEHK a total of 115,000 shares of the Company at a
total consideration of HKD395,420 (with the highest repurchase price per
share of HK$3.47 and the lowest repurchase price per share of HKD3.40).
The repurchase of the Company’s shares was made for the benefit of the
Shareholders with a view to enhancing the net asset value per share and
earnings per share of the Company. Such shares of the Company were
cancelled on 2 February 2018.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
amounted to approximately RMB286,081,000 of which RMB117,162,000 has
been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than 20% (2017: less than 20%) of the total sales for the
year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 31%
(2017: 30%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 7% (2017: 9%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or suppliers.
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Directors’ Statement
BEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Company has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Company.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB2,972,890 (2017: RMB100,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Liu Xingxu
Zhang Qingjin
Yan Yunhua

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Zheng Jiagi (@appointed on 16 May 2018)
Lian Jie (resigned on 16 May 2018)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Ong Kian Guan

Li Shengxiao

Ong Wei Jin

Li Hongxing (appointed on 16 May 2018)

Pursuant to Articles 89 and 90 of the Constitution, Mr. Liu Xingxu and Mr.
Ong Kian Guan shall retire by rotation at the 2019 AGM. Pursuant to Article
88 of the Constitution, Mr. Li Hongxing and Mr. Zheng Jiaqi, who were
appointed by the Board as Directors, shall hold office until the 2019 AGM.
All of the above four Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the 2019 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT
AND COMPANY SECRETARIES

Biographical details of the Directors, the senior management of the Group
and the Company Secretaries are set out on pages 30 to 38 of this annual
report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the year was the Company a
party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 28 March 2017,
unless terminated in accordance with the provisions of the service contract
by either party giving to the other not less than six months’ prior notice in
writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director for
a term of three years, unless terminated by either party giving to the other
not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is subject to approval by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and

performance and the results of the Group. Details of the Directors’

remuneration are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year, the five individuals with the highest remuneration in the
Group are all Directors and senior management of the Company. Details
of the highest paid individuals are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.
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Dlrectors Statement

EEHRE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION BT R ER

As set out in Article 147 of the Constitution, a permitted indemnity ~ EHRERMAFE 147 GEHEREETNE

provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the — /EFFREKRX REERBEHER) RIR

benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the ERERNEARERK

year.

DIRECTORS’INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and in Note 40 to the financial statements, no Director nor
a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 164 of the
Companies Act and Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Number of ordinary shares interested

BERZNEERHE
Approximate
percentage’ of the
Company'’s issued
Personal Corporate Total share capital
Name of Directors interests interests interests  {HZAN AT B AT
BN EA#ER NEER HmER RANKEIH?
Mr. Liu Xingxu 600,000 413,007,999 413,607,999 35.30%
BIEB A (Note P& (a))
Ms. Yan Yunhua 300,000 276,465,000 276,765,000 23.62%
BaErt (Note PiIT (b))
Mr. Ong Kian Guan 100,000 - 100,000 0.01%
FTRERREE
# The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 December
2018.
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(a These shares were held by Pioneer Top Holdings Limited (“Pioneer Top"), an (@) % % I’ 19 £ Pioneer Top Holdings Limited
investment holding company established in the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI"). ([PioneerTop|) (—HAIR KB R XS
Mr. Liu Xingxu beneficially owned 42% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top, ((RBELZES )KL ZREEZERAT)
and held the remaining 58% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top in trust for 7 A o 288 % & & % ¥ A Pioneer Top
beneficiaries (including Mr. Zhang Qingjin) under a trust agreement dated 26 2% E - WIREBEBRBHAZZ— X FtA
July 2016. Pursuant to the trust agreement, Mr. Liu Xingxu is irrevocably granted ZHRENERRERTEERA (BFER
the absolute discretion to exercise the voting rights and the rights to the day-to- B & % & ) 15 5535 B Pioneer Top 82 T~ 58%
day management of Pioneer Top. fR#E o IRIFZETTIRE - JIEBEEET
AIEI M THER] - 2RERIIETTE Pioneer
TopHRERRAAEEEE -
(b) These shares were held by Go Power Investments Limited (“Go Power”), an (b) % % I 15 B Go Power Investments Limited
investment holding company established in the BVI. Ms. Yan Yunhua beneficially ([ Go Power |) (— I %88 iR Z B¥ B 3L
owned 12.74% of the equity interest in Go Power, and held the remaining 87.26% ZEREBRRAR)EE BRELTER
of the equity interest in Go Power in trust for a total of 1,463 beneficiaries under & Go Power 12.74% [t - WWiRIE HHER A
a trust agreement dated 26 July 2016. Pursuant to the trust agreement, Ms. Yan ZE-RNFEAZHANEBNERREAE
Yunhua is irrevocably granted the absolute discretion to exercise the voting 1,463 % X 25 A5 55 HF B Go Power 88
rights and the rights to the day-to-day management of Go Power. 87.26% A% 1 - BIFZETME - BREL
TR B TR - 2B
Go Power 1% 21 [ H A BE TR -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors and B EXHTIEEEN  RZE—N\F+=A8

chief executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which has been recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 164 of the Companies Act
and Section 352 of the SFO, or which has been notified to the Company
and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors has any interest in a business which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

OPTIONS

The Group has no share option scheme.
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Directors’ Statement
BEERE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

On 27 November 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with Nitro Capital Limited ("Nitro”), pursuant to which Nitro
agreed to subscribe and pay for the convertible bonds of an aggregate
principal amount of approximately RMB324 million due the fifth anniversary
of the date of issue by the Company which bear interest of 4.5% per annum
(the "Bonds”). The Directors were of the view that the issue of the Bonds
can provide additional funds for expansion of the Group’s plant IV and
Xinjiang project, and general working capital purposes. As the Company
intended to engage long-term strategic investor to help further improve its
corporate governance and shareholder base in the long-term perspective,
the Directors also considered that Nitro can help bring in more insights
from the investors’ perspective and leverage the extensive resources to
explore more expansion opportunities for the Company.

As all the conditions for completion of the subscription and issue of
the Bonds under the Subscription Agreement (the “Bonds Issue”) were
satisfied, the completion of the Bonds Issue took place on 21 December
2011, and the net proceeds received by the Company were approximately
RMB322 million. Nitro was entitled to convert their Bonds into ordinary
shares to be allotted and issued by the Company, at any time on or after
21 December 2011 and up to the close of business on: (i) the fifth business
days before 21 December 2016 (both days inclusive) unless previously
redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the terms and
conditions of the Bonds; (i) a date no later than 10 days prior to the dated
fixed for redemption thereof if the Bonds had been called for redemption
by the Company before 21 December 2016; (i) the deemed conversion
date pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds if the Bonds had
been called for mandatory conversion; and (iv) the day prior to the giving
of notice requiring redemption by Nitro if such notice had been given.
Assuming full conversion of the Bonds at the initial conversion price of
approximately RMB1.84 per share, the Bonds will be convertible into
176,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

76 China XLX 2018 Annual Report

PR SR 0 160 5

W_ZT——F+—A=-++tR AQRFH
Nitro Capital Limited ([ Nitro]) 57 37 32 5 173
B NtoBE R ERBARQ AR
TmABEFz BRHNASBRBEOARKE
324B T A ARE S - FFE45% - I
X RER(ES]) - EZRA - FTE
FAl BAEBME R LEIEE ERR
HEINER  URIE—REEESRAE -
ARARFRARARBIREEMAGY
HE— P RENSHPEEBURREE
o BENRAE  NwoBBREEENA
EHRELZRARRE  UHAEENER
REARNAREEL RS -

AR REHRETRBTRRESFET
(MEHBTOMBIREEEENK &5
BN —_T——F+-_A=-+—HEK
AARWFTERIEFEANAREINE
ToNtoBER _ZE——F+_A=-+—
Az MEMEEBHESERAAR
R REBITHEERRS  BEE0)=
T-XNE+-_A-+—HAFEREALEB
(BRIEEREMB) #¥RMERK AL
B IE SRR IR E S IR G A IR E fE B
SBEE R (VAR BR T —RF
+-— A=+ —HATEkEOZES  AIE
ZIETELN A THBETANEERRE
EREFALE ¢ (i) WEFHH E SR m ek
BB ERBEF GRS IG G RR iR
HHAR & SRR AL K (v) @ Nitro
TREOMNBANDLREY - AIEEHHZ
BRI —REEEBEREAL - &
REFERIEERESROARE 1847T
BB B IR - FEH S EEIRA 176,000,000
AR R @R -



Prior to the original maturity date of the Bonds of 21 December 2016,
the Company was approached by Nitro about extension of the maturity
date of the Bonds as Nitro had noted the prices at which the shares were
trading and the possible further downward pressure on the market price
of the shares if the Bonds were to mature and be converted into shares in
the immediate future. In consideration of the Company agreeing to the
extension, Nitro agreed to lower the annual interest rate of the Bonds. As
the Company shared the same concerns with Nitro, the Directors believed
that it would be in the interests of the Shareholders as whole to defer the
conversion of the Bonds and the potential disposal of shares following such
conversion to a later time, while lowering the interest rate of the Bonds.

On 14 December 2016, the Company and Nitro entered into the
Amendment Agreement to, among other things, extend the maturity date
and lower the interest rate of the Bonds. The completion of the Amendment
Agreement was conditional upon, amongst other things, approval of the
SEHK having been obtained for the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company (the “New
Conversion Shares”) upon conversion of the Bonds as amended and
restated under the Amendment Agreement (the “Restated Bonds").

The completion of the Amendment Agreement took place on 20 December
2016 upon the satisfaction of the conditions thereof. The Restated Bonds
due 21 December 2018, which bear an interest rate of 2% per annum
subsequent from (and including) 20 December 2016 to (and excluding)
21 December 2018, were issued by the Company to Nitro. No additional
fund was raised by the issue of the Restated Bonds. Nitro was entitled to
convert their Restated Bonds into New Conversion Shares, at any time
on or after 20 December 2016 and up to the close of business on: (i) the
fifth business days before 21 December 2018 (both days inclusive) unless
previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in the terms
and conditions of the Restated Bonds; (ii) the deemed conversion date
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Restated Bonds if the Restated
Bonds had been called for mandatory conversion; and (iii) the day prior to
the giving of notice requiring redemption by Nitro if such notice had been
given. Assuming that the Restated Bonds will be converted in full at the
conversion price of approximately RMB1.84 per New Conversion Share, an
aggregate of approximately 176,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
will be issued.
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During the year under review, on 16 January 2018, Nitro sold approximately
RMB116.8 million principal amount of the Restated Bonds, which are
convertible into an aggregate of approximately 63,360,000 ordinary shares
at the initial conversion price of RMB1.84 per New Conversion Share,, to
Pioneer Top and certain other investors (the “Certain Investors”) who are
not connected persons of the Company at an aggregate consideration
of HKD190.08 million. Pursuant to such arrangements, Pioneer Top would
eventually hold approximately RMB97.3 million principal amount of
the Restated Bonds and the Certain Investors would in aggregate hold
approximately RMB19.5 million principal amount of the Restated Bonds.

The Company subsequently received notices from the Certain Investors for
the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Restated Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB19.5 million at the initial
conversion price of approximately RMB1.84 per New Conversion Share. A
total of 10,560,000 ordinary shares of the Company were allotted and issued
to the Certain Investors on 2 and 7 March 2018.

As a result of of the mandatory conversion of the remaining Restated
Bonds at the initial conversion price of approximately RMB1.84 per New
Conversion Share on the maturity date of 21 December 2018, a total of
165,440,000 ordinary shares of the Company were simultaneously allotted
and issued to Pioneer Top and Nitro.

Further details of the Bonds/Restated Bonds are included in note 31 to the
financial statements and in the announcements of the Company dated
28 November 2011, 19 December 2011, 21 December 2011, 14 December
2016, 20 December 2016, 16 January 2018 and 17 January 2018.

Save as disclosed above, no other equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES FERRARMDHERS

As at 31 December 2018, the following parties had interests of 5% or RZE-NFTZA=+—8 " &ARQF
more in the issued shares of the Company according to the register of BIBARNEFSIERFEF LB EMIE
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 88 of the BIFEFENERSLM TAZFHFR
Companies Act and Section 336 of the SFO: RARIBEITRODEER 5% A LRI -

LONG POSITIONS

L3

Number of issued Approximate percentage*

ordinary shares of the Company’s

interested issued share capital

BERERN EERRB T

Name of substantial Shareholders Capacity 21T PR 7 A B4R 4

TERRER 54 EERHE B

Pioneer Top (Note B 7 (a)) Beneficial owner 413,007,999 35.25%
E=EAA

Go Power (Note P (o) Beneficial owner 276,465,000 23.60%
EnEBA

Nitro (Note P 5% (0)) Beneficial owner 112,640,000 961%
BEnEAA

Primavera Capital (Cayman) Fund | LP. Interest of controlled corporation 112,640,000 961%

XimiE R

The percentage represents the number of issued ordinary shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31
December 2018.
# ZADEEAEGNEETERERBARURRTR_ZE-N\EFT A=+ —HHNEBTROHEE -
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Notes: F5E
(@) Pioneer Top is an investment holding company established in the BVI. Mr. Liu €) Pioneer Top IR R BER BB KL 2 I E
Xingxu beneficially owned 42% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top, and held AR AT o B FNB 5 4 E %5 ¥ Pioneer
the remaining 58% of the equity interest in Pioneer Top in trust for 7 beneficiaries Top 2% A% #E - WIREBBH R —ZT—RF
under a trust agreement dated 26 July 2016, including 7% for Mr. Zhang Qingjin, At RBNERERERTEZEAR
an executive Director and the Company's Chief Executive Officer; 7% for Mr. Li %L 5 A Pioneer Top £k T~ 58% A% 1 + 5% 7 %
Yushun and 7% for Mr. Wang Nairen, the Company’s senior management; 7% for RRABRENTEERARREFENITE
Mr. Ru Zhengtao, 7% for Mr. Zhu Xingye (retired) and 7% for Mr. Shang Dewei, the RESEET%)  RRAFRNESRERE
Company's employees; and 16% for Mr. Li Buwen, a former executive Director. FERIBEAE(7%) RETCHEET%) + K
Mr. Liu Xingxu has the absolute discretion to exercise the voting rights held NAMEBSMIEREE (%) « RIEHEFLE
by Pioneer Top in the Company in accordance with the trust agreement. Such (BIRIK) (7%) R EELLE (7%) + LAKRET
interest held by Pioneer Top has also been disclosed as the interest of Mr. Liu MITEETHEE (16%) © BRIBEZIEFT
Xingxu in the above section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in ek - BB 5L A P] 2 REBIIETTE Pioneer
Shares”. Top AR BIH5 A FYIR A © Pioneer Top 3
BRZBERIME EX [EFEREETHA
SRR AER ] — &R ERRIEE A
B
(b) Go Power is an investment holding company established in the BVI. Ms. Yan (b) Go Power TN BEE L BB KL 2 REFE
Yunhua beneficially owned 12.74% of the equity interest in Go Power, and held A&~ F) - BARZE L+ & % A Go Power
the remaining 87.26% of the equity interest in Go Power in trust for a total of 1274% Mk - WIRBRA B A —T— R E+
1,463 beneficiaries under a trust agreement dated 26 July 2016. Ms. Yan Yunhua R+t B®EmRHELAE H14638F
has the absolute discretion to exercise the voting rights held by Go Power in = NMEFEHEE Go Power £4 T~ 87.26% IR AE ©
the Company in accordance with the trust agreement. Such interest held by Go BEZETHE BRELTA2ENE
Power has also been disclosed as the interest of Ms. Yan Yunhua in the above 711 Go Power RN EIF5 B VIR R © Go
section headed "Directors'and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares'. Power Fr B B iZEm IME EX [EEREE
THAERKRMNEER | —ERELSBR
EL TR ©
© Nitro is an investment holding company established in the Cayman Islands and is © Nitro J9PA B 2 RS AL 2 IR EER AT -
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Primavera Capital (Cayman) Fund | L.P. WREEEFREE(He) —REEHN2E
MEAR -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no person, other than B EXHTIEEEN  RZE—N\F+=A

the Directors whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors

1

and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares” above, had an interest or a short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company that
was required to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 88 of the Companies Act and Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance were entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected
transactions, which also form parts of the related party transactions set out
in note 40 to the financial statements, and has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Liu Xingxu, Ms. Yan Yunhua and Mr. Zhang
Qingjin (being executive Directors) collectively held an aggregate of
approximately 10.6% interest in XLX Chem, and together are the largest
shareholder of XLX Chem and have the largest influence through their
shareholders' rights on the major decisions in XLX Chem. Therefore, XLX
Chem, its subsidiaries and associates (collectively "XLX Chem Group”) are
deemed as the Company’s connected persons under Rule 14A.07 of the
Listing Rules.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
0 UTILITIES SUPPLY AGREEMENT

The Group entered into the Utilities Supply Agreement on 30
December 2016 with XLX Chem Group, pursuant to which Henan
XLX agreed to supply water, electricity and steam to XLX Chem
Group. This arrangement helps the Group to improve the utilisation
of its utilities facilities, and the additional income received from
providing such utilities to XLX Chem Group can be used to reduce
the overall maintenance, labour and management costs to the
Group of maintaining such facilities. Pursuant to the agreement,
the price for the supply of electricity is determined on the basis of
actual usage as recorded in the relevant meters with reference to
the price set out by the PRC government or relevant authorities; and
the price for supply of water and steam is determined on the basis
of actual usage as recorded in the relevant meters with reference to
the actual costs plus a 10% mark-up.
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has set the annual cap for the income received by the Group from
XLX Chem Group under the agreement at RMB3,500,000 for FY2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount
received by the Group from XLX Chem Group for the sales of water,
electricity and steam amounted to approximately RMB1,066,000 and
has been accounted for as other income in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

EQUIPMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT

The Group entered into the Equipment Purchase Agreement on
30 December 2016 with XLX Chem Group, pursuant to which XLX
Chem Group agreed to supply and provide the relevant installation
services for equipment, including pipes, vessels and pressure vessels,
to Henan XLX. Accordingly, the Group benefits from reliable and
timely delivery of equipment and cost effectiveness. Pursuant to the
agreement, the prices for equipment purchases are determined by
the Group’s internal qualification and tendering procedures with
potential suppliers of equipment, which vary depending on the
product type, quantity and quality specifications as required by
Henan XLX.

The Equipment Purchase Agreement has an original term
commencing from 1 January 2017 up to and including 31
December 2019. In line with the expanding sales network and
increasing production capacity of the Group, there has been an
increasing demand of equipment by the Group. In order to provide
flexibility and cater for the needs of the Group for equipment to
support its production, Henan XLX entered into a new Equipment
Purchase Agreement with XLX Chem Group on 24 December 2018,
among other things, to revise the annual caps for the 12 months
ended/ending 31 December 2018 and 2019 respectively, and to
extend the term to the year ending 31 December 2020. The Group
has set the annual cap for the amount paid by the Group to XLX
Chem Group for the purchases of equipment and relevant services
under the agreement at RMB70,000,000 for FY2018
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The Utilities Supply Agreement has a term commencing from 1 KERZFEAHREHENIERE =
January 2017 up to and including 31 December 2019. The Group T—tF-H—BHKR BEEZ



(1

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount
paid by the Group for the purchases of equipment from XLX Chem
Group was approximately RMB38,695,000 which has been included
in spare parts inventories in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position. The aggregate amount paid by the Group for the
relevant installation services from XLX Chem was approximately
RMB31,207,000 which has been accounted for as other expenses
in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

GENERAL LEASE AGREEMENT AND LEASE RENEWAL
AGREEMENT

The Group entered into the General Lease Agreement on 21 August
2013 with XLX Chem Group, pursuant to which XLX Chem Group
agreed to lease certain living quarters with an aggregate area of
138,134.89 square meters located at XLX Chem West Courtyard
Living Quarters, Xiaoji Town, Xinxiang City, Henan, China (BT R
TR/ NE A OE ME TP AIER) to Henan XLX. The living
quarters include industrial kitchens, canteens, staff dormitories,
warehouses and apartments, which can provide the general staff of
Henan XLX with convenient residential facilities and reduce the time
required for daily work commute. Pursuant to the agreement, the
monthly lease amount is determined with reference to prevailing
market rates of similar premises in Henan Province. The General
Lease Agreement has a term commencing from 19 August 2013 up
to and including 18 August 2016.

In order to continue to take advantage of the strategic location of
the accommodation and catering facilities of XLX Chem, which are
in proximity to the Group's production factories, the General Lease
Agreement was renewed by virtue of the Lease Renewal Agreement
on 18 August 2016 with a term of three years commencing from 19
August 2016 and ending on 18 August 2019 (both days inclusive).
The Group has set the fixed monthly lease paid by the Group to
XLX Chem Group at RMB186,600 in respect of the Lease Renewal
Agreement (i.e. RMB2,239,200 as the annual cap for FY2018).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the lease paid by the Group
to XLX Chem Group was approximately RMB1,120,000 which has
been accounted for as general and administrative expenses in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

m

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available from independent suppliers; and

according to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company'’s auditor, were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young LLP have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the SEHK.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group are set out in
Note 30 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public at the date of this report.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Companies Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. These financial statements should give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at the end of the reporting
period of a particular year and on the financial performance of the Group
for the year then ended. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
should:

(a) select and apply consistently appropriate accounting policies, and
make prudent, fair and reasonable judgement and estimation;

(b) report the reasons for any serious deviation from accounting
practice; and

(©) prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless
it is inappropriate to assume that the Group could continue to
operate.

The Directors are responsible for the proper keeping of accounting records
in order to secure the assets of the Company and the Group. The Directors
are also responsible for adopting reasonable measures to prevent and
check any fraudulences and irregularities.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-
appointment as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board:

Yan Yunhua
Director

Liu Xingxu
Director

25 March 2019
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To the members of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd
(Incorporated in Singapore with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China XLX Fertiliser Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise
the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2018, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and
the Company and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows of
the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the statement of financial position and the statement of changes
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the "Act”), Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS (I)s") and International Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore ("IFRSs”) so as to give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of the consolidated
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year
ended on that date.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority ("ACRA”") Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public
Accountants and Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code") together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS TEFEREH
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, = Z &% 5 H & &k MR 15 5 3 H & AR

were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF COAL MINING OPERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the management has performed
an impairment assessment of the Group's coal mining cash generating
unit ("CGU") with property, plant and equipment, coal mining rights,
and goodwill amounting to RMB 571,810,100, RMB 88,172,000 and RMB
25,361,000, respectively.

Management has determined the recoverable amount of the CGUs based
on value in use calculation using discounted cash flows projected for the
CGU. As disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, the
key assumptions included budgeted sales, operating costs, commodity
price and the discount rate that considers the specific risks relating to the
CGU. Based on the impairment assessment, management has concluded
that the CGU is not impaired. We determined this to be a key audit matter
because the impairment assessment was complex and involved significant
management judgements.
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As part of our audit, we obtained an understanding of management’s basis
and process to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU. We checked
that the CGU's cash flow projections were based on approved management
budgets that reflected business plans and the estimates of coal outputs
and mining reserves. We engaged our internal valuation specialist to
assist us in assessing management’s valuation methodology and the key
assumptions used in the discounted cash flow computation. We evaluated
the key assumptions used by comparing the mineable reserves inputs,
which is a key input to determine budgeted sales, to the mines’ proven
and probable reserves estimates provided by the relevant authority;
comparing management’s budgeted sales and operating costs to historical
data and information on expected efficiency improvements; comparing
commodity prices used to external observable data; and corroborating
against economic and industry forecast from external sources. We assessed
the discount rate used by the management by comparing to external
comparable data. We performed sensitivity analysis of the impairment
assessment to reasonable changes in key assumptions. We also assessed
the adequacy of the disclosures made on the impairment assessment
and related sensitivity analysis that are included in Notes 16 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTING FOR ACQUISITIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed two
business combinations through acquisitions of controlling equity interests
in Xinjiang Black Ecology Technology Co Ltd and Henan Heli Energy Co Ltd
(the "Acquirees”) for purchase consideration of RMB 57,918,000 and RMB
127,905,000, respectively.

The Group has applied the acquisition method to account for these
business combinations and has performed purchase price allocation
("PPA") exercises with the assistance of an external valuation specialist to
allocate the purchase consideration to the fair value of the identified assets
and liabilities of the Acquirees and the residual amount to goodwill. We
determined the accounting of the business combinations and PPA exercises
to be a key audit matter because these are material transactions and
significant management judgement is required in the PPA exercises.
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As part of our audit, we read the relevant sales and purchase agreements to
obtain an understanding of the transactions and the key terms; assessed the
accounting treatments applied by management to these transactions based
on the requirements of IFRS 3 Business Combinations; and assessed the
valuation of the considerations transferred. We assessed the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation specialist engaged by
management. We reviewed management’s identification of the assets and
liabilities acquired by corroborating the results of the identification against
our discussion with management and our understanding of the Acquirees’
businesses. We involved our internal specialist to assist us in reviewing the
valuation methodologies and key assumptions used by management and
the external valuation specialist in the fair valuation of Acquirees'identifiable
assets and liabilities. We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
made on these business combinations that are included in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS
FORTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the provisions of the Act, SFRS (I)s and IFRSs, and
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safequarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit
the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain
accountability of assets.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, The directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY HMERFAER R ENRE
REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Actto  BFIRA - EEBERBRZERNIEXE
be kept by the Group have been properly kept in accordance with the RREFZEARFATESBERENER
provisions of the Act. HAb ok o

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent B ZEMBENESHEEARARS

auditor’s report is Lee Lai Hiang. KA o

Ernst & Young LLP KT EHAR

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants HEDFAD R 25 AT
Singapore N3

25 March 2019 —E-NEF=ZA=-+HH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehenswe Income

ﬁé?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ@éﬁ WKER rorthe financial year ended 31 December 2018 {2 —E—/\F+ - H=+—HIFF

J

2018 2017
—F-N\F —tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
{hEsa AR® TR ARETT
Revenue KA 6 9,194,676 7,561,547
Cost of sales BHE PR (6,955,245) (5974,597)
Gross profit E7 2,239,431 1,586,950
Other income and gains HAYIA Rz 6 113,373 87,594
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RO HEAX (508,048) (482,909)
Administrative expenses 1THFRX (496,623) (415,467)
Other expenses B (245,657) (5,600)
Finance costs IR IDN 8 (325,329) (285,851)
Profit before tax BRBE AR A 7 777,147 484717
Income tax expense FrS BRI M (121,833) (61,185)
Profit for the year AEERR 655,314 423532
Other comprehensive income Hib 2w
Other comprehensive income to be RiE BRI E D58
reclassified to profit or loss in ZEZEMNEMEME
subsequent periods: Wz
Available-for-sale investments: AMEHERE
Change in fair value N EEE 18 - (1,507)
Other comprehensive income for the year 4y H ft 2 E U5 - (1,507)
Total comprehensive income for the year < 4F £ 2 [ Ut A 4458 655,314 422,025
Profit attributable to: FE{R=F :
Owners of the parent [SYNSIFZZ=PN 624,932 397,778
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR R 2 30,382 25,754
655,314 423,532
]
Total comprehensive income iR 2ER AL
attributable to:
Owners of the parent [SNEIE PPN 624,932 396,271
Non-controlling interests FEFE R M A 30,382 25,754
Total comprehensive income for the year  ZXEE 2 H UL A £ 55 655,314 422,025
]
Earnings per share attributable to BRAREBERERESE
Ordinary equity holders of the parent ANELBREF
Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) ERREE(ARESY) 13 53.34 3395
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Statements of Financial Position
Eji%;lﬁiﬂ:i As as 31 December 2018 R —ZE— \FE+=-H=+—H

Group Company
r&E LN

2018 2017 2018 2017
Seid T EEEd
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 !

Bitzx ARET R AR ARET TR

Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERSR 14 9,000,522 8,607,583 = -
Prepaid land lease payments and AR HEERE

other intangible assets REAMEBREE 15 630,606 381,708 = -
Goodwill HE 16 29,001 25,361 = -
Coal mining rights TR 17 88,172 90,684 - -
Equity investment at fair value through  1Z A BT AIBEH

profit or loss iR A 18 6,708 - - -
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 18 - 6,708
Prepayments for purchases of items of B8 B i K 2% 78 B

plant and equipment BRFE 19 489,348 135493 - -
Prepayments to related companies S FRAE R RIA)

BRFE 23 25,635 13272 - -

Pledged time deposits BEATHEER 24 110,289 5,388 - -
Deferred tax assets BERRBRE 34 83,322 23,126 - -
Other assets ] \ﬁﬂié?fz 14 114,318 - - -
Investment in an associate REENRIRE 37 95,157 - - -
Investments in subsidiaries RIBARIRIRE 45 - - 1,620,755 1446355
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 10,673,078 9,289,323 1,620,755 1,446,355
Current assets REEE
Available-for-sale investments AfNERE 18 - 37,178 - 37,178
Equity investments at fair value BATER AR

through profit or loss R B 18 37,178 - 37,178 -
Prepayments SCINEOE] 19 552,404 457318 1,546 4,805
Deposits and other receivables 124 &,H\ﬁﬁf'é‘l& QL] 19 431,385 721112 - -
Inventories FE 20 1,066,853 715,038 = -
Other assets HMEE 14 13,441 - - -
Derivative financial instruments TESRTA 21 17,7119 - - -
Trade and bills receivables vl

RERZE 2 331,131 160,829 - -

Due from related companies/a NGV

subsidiary —EMB AR A 23 30,384 2603 134,213 329,721
Income tax recoverable EEEERS 7,022 14 - -
Pledged time deposits EERTHER 2% 148,550 181,077 - -
Cash and cash equivalents Re LReSEN 2% 346,151 34170 7,549 52416
Total current assets RBEELR 2,982,218 2616439 180,486 424120
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Statements of Financial Position
Eji%;lﬁiﬂa% As as 31 December 2018 R’ —ZE— \E+=-H=+—H

Group Company
AEH AR

2018 2017 2018 2017
Sekid - Bl -

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bifzx AR®TT ARETT AR¥TR AREFTL
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B P ENTUE 25 282,825 246,701 - -
Bills payable ERNEE 2% 280,105 423915 - -
Contract liabilities GLE]E 27 689,951 795,448 - -
Accruals and other payables [EE B K
HiENR 27 1,161,845 723,888 27,631 14825
Due to related companies/a subsidiary FESBIEAE],/
—FEME D RITE 23 21,052 45 114,400 294951
Income tax payable FERT TSR 20,835 31,595 - -
Deferred grants EIERRL 28 5,443 5943 - -
Loans from a non-controlling interest  JEERREEZ & 2% 29 50,500 24,750 - -
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITR
borrowings HiE 30 2,774,452 1,646,112 - 232,600
Bonds payable ENBEES 32 - 600,000 - -
Total current liabilities RBEEAR 5,287,008 4,498,397 142,031 542,376
Net current (liabilities)/assets ERE(AE) /BE (2,304,790) (1,881,958) 38,455 (118,.256)
| DN
Total assets less current liabilities EEERABERE 8,368,288 7,407,365 1,659,210 1328099
| D
Non-current liabilities FrReas
Loan from a non-controlling interest  3EIERIEZS B 29 25,000 50,500 - -
Interest-bearing bank and other ERITREMER
borrowings 30 2,568,439 2,965,015 178,443 -
Deferred grants IRICAE 28 90,190 93,987 - -
Deferred tax liabilties BREHEAR 34 31,573 36939 - -
Provision for rehabilitation BB 31 23,836 - - -
Accruals and other payables T ERR
HtENFR 27 23,618 110970 - -
Bonds payable ERRERES 32 692,833 500,000 - -
Total non-current liabilities FRBEGERE 3,455,489 3757411 178,443 -
Net assets FEE 4,912,799 3,649,954 1,480,767 1328099
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Group Company
iy - VYN

2018 217
“E-N\F —TtF

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bitzx AR®TT ARBETFTL AR¥TR AREFTL
Equity B&
Equity attributable toownersof R REA AEMGEDR
the parent
Share capital RN 35 1,194,686 872579 1,194,686 872,579
Convertible bonds AR ES 3 - 322436 - 322436
Fair value adjustment reserve NP ERRFE - (1,002) - (1,002)
Special reserve BRI E 36 2,433 - - -
Statutory reserve fund EERED 36 45,753 327793 - -
Other reserve Hif#E 2,060,422 - - -
Retained profits RE & 618,520 1,844,869 286,081 134,086
3,921,814 3,366,675 1,480,767 1,328,099
Non-controlling interests FERES 990,985 283279 - -
Total equity s 4,912,799 3,649,954 1,480,767 1,328,099
Liu Xingxu Yan Yunhua
2% 08 SfoE
Director Director
EF EZE

25 March 2019

—ZE-NEF=RAZ+HhH

HECEY —T—)/\FFH 97



/TTVTFYTFXT(YTFYTTYTfXTT (X TTXTFXTfYTT TFXTTYTFYTFXT(YTTYTTYT(
| \yw/ww/uy\/yww A A AN A A A A AA AU

Statements of Changes in Eqmty
REEBEHR e financial year ended 31 December 2018 B2 = F—/\F+=H=+—HILFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

VNS 2PN
Available-
forsale
investment
revaluation
feserve Non-
Share  Convertble — ATEEEE  Statutory Retained controling
capital bonds  REBME  reservefund profits Total interests— Total equity
BEARE  TARES e iThE: R B HiRER kg
(Note 39) (Note 33) (Note 36)
(W) (WE3) (W3t30)

Notes  RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RWBON  RVBOOO  RWBO
ME  ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Group r&E
A1 January 2017 R-F-t5-5-A 814 3046 S5 2854 13630 3078 M4 38%)
Profit for the year AEERA - - - - s 39778 B4 435
Other comprehensive incomeforthe year: — FRE 2N :
Change n fairvalue of an AHHHERER

avallable-for-sale investment NEEY 18 - - (1507) - - (1,507) - (1507)
Total comprehensive income for theyear  KEE2ERALE - - (1,507) - 397778 39271 7% 42025
Acquisition of non-controling interest  IEBSFHRARIEERS - - - - (10351) (10351) 10351 -
Cancelltion of shares Rinats % (8545) - - - - (8545) - (8545)
Transfer to statutory reserve fund BATITRRES 3 - - - 431 [42381) - - -
Final 2016 dividend paid BRZE- R ERERE - - - - (40000) (40000 - (40000
Convertible bonds interest THREFHE 3 - 6487 - - (6:487) - - -
Paymentof convertible bondsinterest AT ERFE - (6:487) - - - (6:487) - (6:487)
At31 December 2017 RZB-t%

TZA=t-H 872579 30436 (1,002) 327793 1844869 3366675 23279 3649954
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Attributable to owners of the Company

RO AEE
Special
Statutory reserve Non-
Convertible reserve Other  safetyfund Retained controlling Total
bonds fund reseve  RERE profits Total interests equity
ERES iEfEe ARG RES  REEH a kEREs e
(Note 33) (Note 36) (Note 36) (Note 36)
(HzE33) (Wiise)  (Witse)  (Miiise)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETTR AR¥Tn AR®TR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Group 158
At1January 2018 RZB-NE
-B-H 322436 327,793 - - 1,844,869 3,366,675 283219 3,649,954
Transferfrom other comprehensive M EHERE
income of avalable for sale HEHZE
investment to retained profits B
= = - - (1,002 = - -
Impaiment losses on trade and other
receivables (net of tax)
S = = S (5,053) (5,053) = (5,053)
At1 January 2018 (Restated)
-§-8
(BEH) 322,436 327,793 - - 1,838,814 3,361,622 283,219 3,644,901
Profit for the year REER - - - - 624932 624932 30382 655,314
Deemed disposal of partialinterests
in subsidiaries without losing
control
= - 26,403 - - 26,403 573,743 600,146
Transformation of oint stock system
of a subsidiary based on net
assets - (312,714) 2,034,019 - (1,721,305) - - -
Capital contribution from non-
controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - 2,000 2,000
Acquisiion of subsidiaries WEEHBAT - - - - - - 133,581 133,581
Cancellation of shares ] - - - - - (329) - (329)
Transferto statutory reserve fund ERTTTRES = 30,674 - - (30,674) - - -
Convertiblebonds convertedinto~ F[ AR5 E#R
shares Bk (322,436) - - - - - - -
Dividends paid tonon-controlling ~ ERZEIHARIKE
shareholders fike - - - - - - (32,000) (32,000)
Safety product cost REERRK - - = 2433 (2433) = o o
Final 2017 dividend paid R-E+tE
xRS - - - - (84,900) (84,900) - (84,900)
Convertible bonds interest R ESHE 3B 5914 - - - (5914) - - -
Payment of convertiole bonds interest 7 [T
flg (5914) - - - - (5914) - (5914)
At31 December 2018 RZZ-NE
128
=t-f - 45,753 2,060,422 2433 618,520 3921814 990,985 4912,79
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Statements of Changes in Equity

REEBEHR e financial year ended 31 December 2018 {2 —E—/\F+ = H=+—HIFE

Fair value
adjustment
Share Convertible reserve Retained Total
capital bonds 2 F{EARR profits equity
BA  WBRRES 5 R B EA HER
(Note 35) (Note 33)
(H=E35) (PitzE33)
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
il ARETn ARETn AR®Tr AR®Tr AR%Tx
Company Vi UNG|
At 1January 2018 R-E-NE—F—A 872,579 322,436 (1,002) 134,086 1,328,099
Transfer from other comprehensive ¢ A[ft HH &R E R 40
income of available for sale PEUEERE
investment to retained profits REHF - - 1,002 (1,002) -
|
At 1 January 2018 (Restated) R-E-NEFE—HF—A
(@) 872,579 322,436 - 133,084 1,328,099
Profit for the year REEHR - - - 250,811 250,811
Cancellation of shares S 35 (329) - - - (329)
Convertible bonds converted into AR ESER ARG
shares 33 322,436 (322,436) - - -
Distribution arising from business HREHIETEKAH
combination under common EXRNDIK
control - - - (7,000) (7,000)
Final 2017 dividend paid YN ZE—LERYRE - - - (84,900) (84,900)
Payment of convertible bonds interest 37 < AR (B F & 33 = (5,914) = = (5,914)
Reclassification of convertible bonds IR EZHFI EHY
interest EINE - 5914 - (5,914) -
At 31 December 2018 R-B-N\F
+=-A=+—-H 1,194,686 - - 286,081 1,480,767
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J XD (XD XD (X XD (XD (XD X (XD (XD XD (XD XD X (XD XD (XD CXD XD LX)

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

Available-for-
sale investment
revaluation
reserve
Share Convertible e Retained Total
capital bonds BRES(E profits equity
BA AHRkES i REBM S g
(Note 35) (Note 33)
(PitE35) (Pit3E33)
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
izt ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Company Vi UNG|
At 1 January 2017 R-Z—+tE-F-H 881,124 322436 505 49,538 1,253,603
Profit for the year REERF - - - 131,035 131,035
Other comprehensive income forthe  FERNEMEE Y
year:
Change in fair value of an available- A H &R ER)
for-sale investments NFEE - - (1,507) - (1,507)
Total comprehensiveincomefor ~ AFEEZ2HE WAL
the year - - (1,507) 131,035 129,528
Cancellation of shares Pttt 35 (8,545) - - - (8,545)
Convertible bonds interest ARRESFIE 33 - 6,487 - (6,487) -
Payment of convertible bonds interest 57 5 ATHARR (&5 F) & - (6,487) - - (6,487)
Final 2016 dividend paid ERNZE-RERARE - - - (40,000) (40,000)
At 31 December 2017 RIZE—tF
+-B=t+—-H 872579 322436 (1,002) 134,086 1,328099
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Consolldated Statement of Cash Flows
% SHERER rore financial year ended 31 December 2018 82 = E—NF+=H=+—HIFFEF

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
{hEsa ARETT ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETERHRESRE
Profit before tax R T BT 558 ) 777,147 484,717
Adjustments for: KR
Finance costs BAFERRAR 8 325,329 285,851
Amortisation of prepaid land lease E A E A
payments By 7 14,120 9,605
Amortisation of coal mining rights VR T B 6 7 2,512 4415
Depreciation of items of property, plant mME - BEM
and equipment REBERITE 7 636,406 606,984
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME  BER
property, plant and equipment RBIEE HITE
B8, (Kes) 67 3,509 (3,216)
Interest income HBUA 6 (9,188) (10,962)
Exchange loss/(gain) from bank loans RITERAEER
e (an) 7 27,587 (6,008)
Impairment losses on trade and other B 5 & E MY RIS
receivables KR E R 1R 7 22,241 3,254
Amortisation of deferred grants AR AL 5 28 (6,933) (7,774)
Impairment of property, plant and ME - BEX
equipment RERIE 14 188,487 -
Amortisation of other assets H i & B 3,360 -
Share of profits and losses of an associate FE{REE S A RSEF &
Eia 6 (657) -
Gain on fair value change of derivative EEEMTEATE
financial instrument FEhlas 6 (17,719) -
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2018 2017
—E2-N\EF —E—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B ARETT ARETIT
Operating cash flows before changes in &8 & 2N 8 B gij K &
working capital REReE 1,966,201 1,366,866
Increase in inventories FEIEN (320,974) (265,533)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B S REWERTE N
FEUR Z =80 (131,043) (88,966)
Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables Hub Ul z18
B, () 174,252 (110,138)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and T T #0E
prepayments (gm),md (52,495) 9,101
Movement in balances with related R8N BlAE R
companies (8,102) (11,075)
Decrease in trade and bills payables B o EWEIE M
FERT IR D (116,282) (169,980)
Decrease in pledged deposits BEEAFTRL 27,626 -
(Decrease)/Increase in accruals and other EEtE R N EAEN
payables FIECRA) /18N (150,131) 216,720
Cash flows generated from operations RETEREEMN
HeRheE 1,389,052 946,995
Government grants received B U ER BT ARG 28 1,730 52919
Interest paid BEAFE - (285,851)
Interest received B U F B 9,188 10,962
Tax paid [SENERE] (208,288) (47,896)
Net cash flows generated from operating & EEHELEH
activities ReEREFHE 1,191,682 677,129
Cash flows from investing activities BETHRSRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE « ME &
plant and equipment RAETE B TSR 186,059 43,625
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEYE  BEK
equipment HiEER (1,372,255) (1,360,243)
Cash paid for purchasing subsidiaries BEMNBAREMNIRS (34,471) -
Purchases of investment in an associate BERBENRKRE (94,500) -
Additions of land use rights and other NE T b {E R RE K
intangible assets Hth@mEAE 15 (228,700) (17,242)
Decrease in pledged time deposits 2EATE R FIRL - 39,884
Purchase of available-for-sale investment BEHIERE - (34,500)
Net cash flows used in investing activities %¥&;EENFTH
REn8FH (1,543,867) (1,328476)
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Consolldated Statement of Cash Flows
BEBEERER rorhe financial year ended 31 December 2018 82 = E—NF+=H=+—HIFFEF

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
{hEsa ARETT ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities METHESRE
Dividend paid on ordinary shares BT AR AR 2 (85,327) (40,000)
Payment of convertible bonds interest SEHEHQHXE%%IJE 33 - (6/487)
Proceeds from issue of a long-term bond BORIRERES
PSR 30 191,507 500,000
Repayment of a long-term bond EERIREES 30 (600,000) (200,000)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings BERMAERATSRE 30 3,460,950 2,214,000
(Increase)/decrease in pledged time deposits & K E 17
(3Ehn) w (100,000) 39,884
Cancellation of shares R AR R 85 (329) (8,545)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests UG BE FEIR RS A 25 602,146 -
Interest paid BfFE (325,709) -
Repayments of loans and borrowings BEERMER 30 (2,786,172) (1,979,157)
Net cash flows from financing activities ~ BE EEFTE
REREFHE 357,066 479,811
Netincrease/(decrease) in cash and cash BHE&RBEZEY
equivalents i, G ) B8 4,881 (171,536)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ F#IE & RIRESEEY
year 24 341,270 512,806
Cash and cash equivalentsattheend of FXRBEEREESEHEY
year 346,151 341,270
]
Analysis of balance of cash and cash ReRBRESEEY
equivalents HEERD AT
Cash at banks and on hand and cash RERE ISR R R Frat
and cash equivalents as stated in the ZHRTERRES
consolidated statement of financial BRRERAELZEY
position 24 346,151 341,270
T

During the financial year, there were acquisitions of property, plant and RABEHEE - WEDE  BENLEED
equipment with a total cost of 1,438,278,000 (2017: RMB1,366,871,000) of ~ #8FkZN A A R ¥ 1 43827800070 ( —ZE—+
which RMB300,000,000 (2017: Nil) were acquired by means of finance leases F: AR®1366871,0007T) 0 HEh AR
and RMB23,836,000 (2017: Nil) pertains to the provision for rehabilitation. #300,000000 T (ZZFE—+F : ) A&
In addition, RMB640,645,000 (2017: RMB537,722,000) was unpaid and  FAEH XS -+ AR 238360007 (==
included in accruals and other payables as at 31 December 2018 (Note —tF B)BBIRIEEFBIERS - kN
27). Prepayments for purchases of items of plant and equipment and AR ®6406450000(ZFE—tF : AR
prepayments to related companies increased by RMB348,373,000 and W 53772200070 ) MA A BEFARZ
RMB12,363,000,respectively. The net cash outflow for the purchase E-N\F+_A=+—"HILFENESE
of property, plant and equipment was RMB1,372,255,000 (2017: }Eﬁ)iﬁﬁw‘éﬁ IE—(M‘I.&N) - BEME K
RMB1,360,243,000). R E TERRRIE R ABER R X NHTE
RRIE S R h1A R % 348,373,000 7T K2 A
E#12363,0007C - EEWE - WFEK&E
IR & E R R B AR 1,3722550007C
(ZZT—+F : AR¥1,360,243,0007T) °

104 China XLX 2018 Annual Report




ﬂf ﬂf ﬂf ﬁf ﬂf ﬂf ﬁf f ﬂf ﬂf ﬂf ﬁf\

AN, \/\/\/\/\/\/ AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN VAN,
Wﬂmﬁ\/\ rﬁm\/N7Wﬁm\%\/\w@ﬁﬂ\/\ﬂ@ﬁf\/\/ﬁ\;\/\/“ﬂi
JXI XD LX) (XX (XX (XX I X (XX (XX

Notes to Fmanaal Statements
,E\jﬁiﬁ%% BﬁH 37 December 2018 R —FE—F+=-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China XLX Fertiliser Ltd.(the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in Singapore on 17 July 2006 under the Singapore Companies
Act and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The registered office of the Company is located at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00,
Singapore 068898. The principal place of business of the Group is located
at Xinxiang Economic Development Zone (Xiaoji Town), Henan Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The principal activity of the
Company is investment holding. Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries and
an associate are disclosed in Note 45 and 37(b) respectively.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) ("SFRS (1)) and International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs").

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 are the
first set of financial statements the Group prepared in accordance with SFRS
(). The Group’s previously issued financial statements for periods up to and
including the financial year ended 31 December 2017 were prepared in
accordance with IFRS including International Accounting Standards and
Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standard Board.

For the purpose of SFRS (1)s, financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance and complied with IFRS are deemed to have also complied with
SFRS (I)s. SFRS (I) comprise standards and interpretations that are equivalent
to IFRS. All references to SFRS (I) and IFRS are referred to collectively as “IFRS”
in these financial statements, unless specified otherwise.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. The financial
statements are presented in Renminbi ("/RMB”) and all values in the tables
are rounded to the nearest thousand (‘RMB'000") except when otherwise
indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The Group and the Company had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB2,305 million (2017: RMB1,882 million) and Nil million (2017: RMB118
million), respectively as at 31 December 2018. After taking into account the
available unutilised banking facilities, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and financial obligations as and when they fall due, and accordingly, are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to restate the values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(@ the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Consolidation of the subsidiaries in the PRC is based on the subsidiaries’
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. Profits reflected in
the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs may differ from
those reflected in the PRC statutory financial statements of the subsidiaries,
prepared for PRC financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations, profits available for distribution by the PRC
subsidiaries are based on the amounts stated in the PRC statutory financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial year except in the current financial year, the Company has adopted
all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The adoption of these
standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or
position of the Group and the Company.

The nature and the impact of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments are described below:

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

On 1 January 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group has applied the changes in accounting policies on a modified
retrospective approach. The impact arising from IFRS 9 adoption was
included in the opening retained earnings at the date of initial application,
1 January 2018. The comparative information was prepared in accordance
with the requirements of IAS 39.

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

IFRS 9 requires debt instruments requires debt instruments to be measured
either at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). Classification of debt
instruments depends on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI). An entity’s business model is
how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows
and create value for the entity either from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling financial assets or both. If a debt instrument is held to collect
contractual cash flows, it is measured at amortised cost if it also meets the
SPPI requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that
are held both to collect the assets’ contractual cash flows and to sell the
assets are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets are measured at FVPL if they
do not meet the criteria of FVOCI or amortised cost.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 BN BENESEREE (&)

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

The assessment of the business model and whether the financial assets
meet the SPPI requirements was made as of 1 January 2018.

The Group's debt instruments have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest. The Group has a mixed business model.
Debt instruments that were measured at amortised cost previously are held
to collect contractual cash flows, and accordingly measured at amortised
cost under IFRS 9 except for bills receivable. The Group elects to measure
the bills receivable at FVOCI. For debt instruments that were measured at
FVOCI previously, the Group's business model is to hold the debt instrument
to collect contractual cash flows and sell, and accordingly measured at
FVOCI when it applies IFRS 9. There is no significant impact arising from
measurement of these instruments under IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 requires all equity instruments to be carried at fair value through
profit or loss, unless an entity chooses on initial recognition, to present fair
value changes in other comprehensive income.

For equity securities, the Group elects to measure its currently held AFS
quoted equity securities at FVPL. As a result of the change in measurement
of the Group's quoted equity securities previously measured at FVOCI to
FVPL, the fair value adjustment reserve of RMB1,002,000 related to the AFS
investment that was previously presented under the fair value adjustment
reserve was transferred to retained earnings as at 1 January 2018

In addition, upon adoption of IFRS 9, the unquoted equity securities
previously classified as AFS and recognised at cost less impairment
losses were measured at FVPL. There is no significant impact arising from
measurement of these instruments under IFRS 9.
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2.2 CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of
its financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI and financial
guarantees. The Group previously recorded impairment based on the
incurred loss model when there is objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired.

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Group recognised additional impairment on
the Group's trade and other receivables of RMB21,365,000 and amount
due from related companies carried at amortised cost of RMB876,000
respectively as at 31 December 2018. The additional impairment recognised
arising from adoption of IFRS 9 above resulted in a corresponding decrease
in retained earnings of RMB5,944,000 as at 1 January 2018.

TAX ADJUSTMENTS

The corresponding tax impact to the Group arising from the adoption of
IFRS 9 resulted in an increase in deferred tax assets of RMB3,336,000 and
income tax of RMB3,336,000 as at 31 December 2018 and an increase in
deferred tax assets of RMB891,000 and retained earnings of RMB891,000 as
at 1 January 2018.
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2.2 CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group has assessed which business model apply to the financial

assets held by the Group at 1

January 2018 and has classified its financial

instruments into the appropriate categories in accordance with IFRS 9. The
effects, before tax impact are as follows:

Financial assets: SREE !
Measurement category frEER
FUPL reclassified from FVOCI - quoted BIEATEAL

equity investments
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2.2 CHANGESIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company has assessed which business model apply to the financial
assets held by the Company at 1 January 2018 and has classified its financial
instruments into the appropriate categories in accordance with IFRS 9. The
effects, before tax impact are as follows:

2.2 EIBERNESFHRINE (E)
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Company
Financial assets: SREE: AT
1AS 39 carrying
amount on IFRS 9 carrying Fair value
31 December amount on Retained reserves effect
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t=A —F—-A# 2018 RZE-N\F
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FVOCI - quoted equity investments BATEF AL 2ENE
R RERERE 37,178 (37,179) - - - -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 BN BENESEREE (&)

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group adopted IFRS 15 which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers, and introduces a new contract cost guidance.
Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The Group has applied the
changes in accounting policies on a modified retrospective approach.

The Group is in the business of manufacture and trading of urea, compound
fertilizer, dimenthyl ether |, melamine, furfuryl alcohol and related products.
The key impact of adopting IFRS 15 is detailed as follows:

VARIABLE CONSIDERATION

The Group provides retrospective rebates to some of its customers if
the customers reach a certain threshold of purchase. Such provisions
give rise to variable consideration under IFRS 15. The Group previously
recognised revenue from the sale of goods measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, net of volume rebates. Under IFRS
15, variable consideration is estimated and is constrained to the extent that
it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty is
subsequently resolved. To estimate the variable consideration to which it
will be entitled, the Group applied the “most likely amount method”.

TIMING OF REVENUE RECOGNITION

Sales of urea, compound fertilizer, dimenthyl ether, melamine, furfuryl
alcohol and related products are recognised at a point in time when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customer. Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the
specific location and all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

The adoption of IFRS 15 does not have a material impact on the revenue
recognition.
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2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

and 1AS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'
IFRS 16 Leases'
Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combination’
Amendment to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements’
Amendment to [AS 12 Income Taxes'
Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs'

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement!

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except for IFRS 16, the directors expect that the adoption of the other
standards above will have no material impact on the financial statements
in the year of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in
accounting policy on adoption of IFRS 16 are described below.
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2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
(CONTINUED)

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets. The
standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of ‘low
value’assets and short-term leases. The new standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. At commencement date of a
lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e. the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

The Group plans to adopt IFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening retained
earnings at the date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

On the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group expects to choose, on a lease-by-
lease basis, to measure the right-of-use asset at either:

(i) its carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019; or

(if) an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before 1 January

2019.
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2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CHEMEERERVER (&)
(CONTINUED)
IFRS 16 LEASES (CONTINUED) BIFREA TSR 5 2 RISE 16 5RAEE ()
In addition, the Group plans to elect the following practical expedients: BEoh - AEBEFERZUTERNER
it
not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date - PEFAHENEERERAE AR
of initial application and to apply IFRS 16 to all contracts that were BEEME - ARGBEEREMERE
previously identified as leases AERIZE 169 ERAR 2 Bt HEE &
ENMAEER
to apply the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and lease HEEHRNBE-_T—-—NEF—HA—
liabilities to leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months A 128 A AR HEE &R
as of 1 January 2019 ® - MAEREAEEENHEES
&
to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with - BE—TREEXERARAEBEESIEMAL
reasonably similar characteristics BEOWHEEHES

The Group has performed a preliminary impact assessment based on ~ AEBERIBER B EETI T ET
currently available information, and the assessment may be subject to  ffi * MAT A RIBE & BB o i &= £ &
changes arising from ongoing analysis until the Group adopts IFRS 16 in g BEEAFEER T - NFHRABER T
2019. The Group does not expect a significant impact upon adoption of — TS¥RE2ERISE 16 5% 2N 5 [ T8 HRER A% B B
IFRS 16. MBHmEERF 6 F T EELAERATE -
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December 2018. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwiill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the parent, and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the
parent.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such
circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
parent.

ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not
have control or joint control of those policies.

The Group account for its investments in associates using the equity
method from the date on which it becomes an associate.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group'’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable
assets and liabilities represents goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s share
of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the
balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share
of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss reflects the share of results
of the operations of the associates. Distributions received from associates
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates,
the Group recognises its share of such changes in other comprehensive
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associates.

Where the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group's
investment in associate. The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as the same

reporting date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are mad to
bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

The Group’s principal operations are conducted in the PRC. The directors
have determined the currency of the primary economic environment in
which each entity in the Group operates, i.e,, functional currency, to be
RMB. Sales prices and major costs of providing goods and services including
major operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in RMB.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial
recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or
on translating monetary items at the end of the reporting period are
recognised in profit or oss.

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into RMB at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences
arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family is and
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or a parent of the Group;
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETBERBE (&)
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION M MERRBUARITE

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, ME- - BELRB(TERERZIRE)D

are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated — RECAR R 5T T E RAEMR REHREE BT

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment £ ° ¥1% ~ BFE KR EEB KA BIER

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value
of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve
is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the
extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset
revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset
and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

BEERMNSZEEEAERERANIE
RIF N E 2 (A EREIERA

RYE - BENRERBRAEFEREL
MFAX - Pl kEkE —RREE
A HIRA RS R AR - BERRAIRE

B AlEERBAXIREERAERER
£ EREENER - WEBRIED Y
% BENMRERPEARSR  BIXE
EiSARBOERRAFEAIERAFHZ
BRI EELIREIE

REHEHEEETHENERMERLE
EZAFEEEEMEYEERER - ¥
¥ BEMRBEEZSHIEEESMHRF

BEPRRIE - WMIRERNEEREE  ZFHE
R R ABMAEAL - R BB HIBREAL
ZH o EERZEHAHRIET ABE

HEARRINGR 2 BARR - BFREES
HHABERERBGENZEE - REE
EEHEHEMEZTERRBEEER
KAFFAE 2T EME 2 ZREH - 1
HESHREER  HERNGHEERZEE
EnFEEEEFOBERERBENES
fFE

RELOED —T—)\FEH 125



NS IIIINININY,
DEEDEDEDDDDD DR

pa

)

=

Notes to Financial Statements
Ejﬁiﬁ%% BﬁE 371 December 2018 R —FE—NF+=-H=+—H

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives and residual values used for
this purpose are as follows:

3. TESTHBEREE(E)

M - BERRBURITE (&)

FEABSETE - REMETAIEASE
HIMEE SR - BERRIBEENKAE
HFIgREE - BIFLLREZ At Al ERF

HRFISREEDT
Years
FH

Buildings BF 15-25 4F
Other fixtures and structures EAth [ H W e R EE 15-254F
Plant and machinery TR R e 2% 8-15%F
Office equipment and furniture MAERMERFIE 5
Motor vehicles AE 5

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in statement of profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

COAL MINING RIGHTS

Coal mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. A coal mining right is amortised over its
useful life using a unit-of-production method once production commences.
The coal mining right is written off to profit or loss if the coal mining
property is abandoned.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid land lease payments are initially measured at cost. Following
initial recognition, prepaid land lease payments are measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The
prepaid land lease payments are amortised on the straight-line basis.

The amortisation period and method are reviewed at each financial year
end. The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The three measurement categories for
classification of debt instruments are:

(M) Amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or
impaired, and through amortisation process.

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets
measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains
or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign
exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the effective
interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial
asset is de-recognised.

(iif) Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
instruments that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

On initial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held
for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value in OCl. Dividends from such investments are to be recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is established.
For investments in equity instruments which the Group has not elected to
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCl, changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss.

DERIVATIVES

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair value of derivatives are
recognised in profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive
cash flows from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset
in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is
recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and financial
guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESBERHEE(E)

(CONTINUED)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCl, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal
credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bill payables, certain
accruals and other payables, loans from a non-controlling interest, amounts
due to related companies, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
bonds payable.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

(@) Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IFESBERME (&)
(CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) cRas (E)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED) HigaztE (B)
(b)  Convertible bonds b)  AIBEEES
The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a M EFEBABRNEZE S - R

liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial position, net
of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried as a long term liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction
costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments
are first recognised.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Convertible bonds issued by the Group are recognised and included in
shareholders' equity based on the terms of the contract. Transaction costs
are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying
amount of the convertible bonds is not remeasured in subsequent years.
Convertible bond interests of 2% (2017: 2%) per annum is payable in cash
annually in arrears on the anniversary of the issue date (i.e. 21 December
2011) in each year, commencing on the first anniversary of the issue date,
which are accrued and paid through the transfer from retained profits of
the Group.

BONDS PAYABLE

Bonds payable are classified under loans and borrowings and recognised
initially at fair value. After initial recognition, bonds payable are
subsequently measured at cost because the effect of discounting would be
immaterial as their terms are relatively short.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including short-
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS — PENSION BENEFITS

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Company makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund Scheme
in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to the
defined contribution pension scheme are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related service is performed.

LEASES

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets
remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

136 China XLX 2018 Annual Report

3. TESTHBEREE(E)

BERAR

MABREE MR ELERRFRMA
RIEHRZAHENEENUWEE - 2iEK
EEEERMBNERKAERZFTEERK
REVEE D WE AR » X B AR KE
DEEFARAREHRGRHERELER
b - AR HRAEREENREMER
EITERF R E AR E Wt E EtER
XA HRR © FrE BB tE SR AR ELE
I o (EERABENE R EEHER
B e R B R -

BERN - RIKEF

ERERELENARENBARZEE
ASEWH TR ATE R R RIS
el - ZEMBRRAREFMK AN T
o E AR SRR AR E IR - HEANIRE
AR RS FT 8 MR A BB R B R
B o

AR R [AVET DRI A0 SRE BRI 51 8
ROEEREENERHAR - REHRFENKRE
AHEIR R Y IN BT A B AR5 e HA ) A i
R

GERS

BEREEN@ANH ERRERh LA
ANRB LA BRT BAEET L - BAE
BARMAR @EROETHEGES
$1BR HE A B MR SR 6 TR BB DA B
ek B IRG -



3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is
when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of
revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance
obligation.

(A) SALE OF GOODS

The Group is in the business of manufacture and trading of urea, compound
fertilizer, dimenthyl ether, melamine, furfuryl alcohol and related products.
Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction
price, which comprises the contractual price, net of the estimated volume
rebates. Based on the Group's experience with similar types of contracts,
variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the
transaction only to the extent that it is a highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its assessment
of the estimated transaction price, including its assessment of whether
an estimate of variable consideration is constrained. The corresponding
amounts are adjusted against revenue in the period in which the
transaction price changes.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
B) INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Q RENTAL INCOME

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease term.

INCOME TAXES

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SEGMENT REPORTING

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating
segments based on their products and the segment results are reported
directly to the management of the Company who regularly reviews the
segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to
assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in note 5, including the factors used to identify the
reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

CONTINGENCIES

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group;

or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not
recognised because:

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
or

(i) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group, except for contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which
the fair values can be reliably determined.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESBERHEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
DIVIDENDS e

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

INCOME TAXES

The Group has exposure to income taxes in Singapore and the PRC.
Significant judgement is involved in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s income tax recoverable, income tax
payable, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2018
were RMB7,022,000, RMB20,835,000, RMB83,322,000 and RMB31,573,000
respectively (2017: RMB14,000, RMB31,595,000, RMB23,126,000 and
RMB36,939,000, respectively).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

IMPAIRMENT OF COAL MINING RIGHTS AND GOODWILL

The carrying values of coal mining rights and goodwill are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying values may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting
policy for the impairment of non-financial assets in the section of summary
of significant accounting policies. The recoverable amounts of the coal
mining rights and goodwill, or, where appropriate, the cash-generating
units to which they belong, are calculated as the value in use. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to estimate the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating unit and to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. At 31 December
2018, no impairment loss has been recognised for the coal mining rights
and goodwill. The carrying amount of the coal mining rights and goodwvill
at 31 December 2018 were RMB88,172,000 (2017: RMB90,684,000) and
RMB29,001,000 (2017: RMB25,361,000) respectively. Further details are given
in Note 16 and Note 17.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
COAL MINE RESERVE

The estimation of the Group's coal mine reserve are inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the subjective judgements
involved in developing such information. There are authoritative guidelines
regarding the engineering criteria that have to be met before an estimated
coal mine reserve can be designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved
and probable coal mine reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals
taking into recent production and technical information about each mine.
In addition, as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate
of the proved and probable coal mine reserve also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes and is reflected
on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates.

The capitalised cost of the coal mining right is amortised over the estimated
useful life of the related coal mine reserve. The useful life is reviewed
annually in accordance with the production of the plants of the Group and
the proven and probable reserves of the coal mines. The carrying amount
of the coal mining rights at 31 December 2018 was RMB88,172,000 (2017:
RMB90,684,000).

PURCHASE PRICE ALLOCATION

Purchase accounting requires extensive use of accounting estimates to
allocate the purchase price to the fair values of the assets and liabilities
acquired, including intangible assets. The Group has exercised judgement
to determine the fair value adjustments required during the purchase price
allocation review. Significant estimates have been made to determine the
fair value adjustments amount. Details of purchase price allocation are
disclosed in Note 37(a).
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on its products, and has five reportable operating segment (2018:
five) as follows:

(i) Manufacturing and sale of urea

(if) Manufacturing and sale of compound fertiliser

(ii) Manufacturing and sale of dimethyl ether (DME) and methanol

(iv) Manufacturing and sale of melamine

(v) Manufacturing and sale of furfuryl alcohol

In the opinion of the directors, there were only limited operations in the
subsidiaries that are engaged in coal mining and the sale of coal and
the assets and liabilities were not material for the purpose of segment
reporting. Accordingly, a separate operating segment for the coal mining

business carried out by these subsidiaries has not been presented.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated
to form the above reportable operating segments.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of gross profit. Group
financing (including finance costs), income taxes and other unallocated
items, as explained below, are managed on a group basis and are not
allocated to operating segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices.

ALLOCATION BASIS

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items
comprise other income and gains, other expenses, selling and distribution
expenses, general and administrative expenses, finance costs and income
tax expense.

Group assets and liabilities cannot be directly attributable to individual
segments as it is impracticable to allocate them to the segments. Assets of
the Group are utilised interchangeably between different segments and
there is no reasonable basis to allocate liabilities of the Group between
different segments. Accordingly, it is not meaningful to disclose assets,
liabilities and capital expenditure by operating segments.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

There is no geographical information presented as the Group mainly
operates in Mainland China only.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

SEGMENT PROFIT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the segment profit is
the gross profit.

RETHER (F

RIESER R BRABER

Compound DMEand Furfuryl
Urea fertiliser Methanol Melamine alcohol Others Elimination Total

Year ended 31 December 2018 j7€3 FAE  DMEERE Bk HE Ht o fax
B2o2-N\% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
t-A=t-ALEE ARETT  ARMTr ARMTn ARMTR  ARETn AR%Tn  ARETR  ARETn
REVENUE BA
Sales o external customers HELNIER 3548835 280739 1498798 560,558 522313 256,776 - 919676
Intersegment sales PHEEE 562,179 383,783 1,219 - - 7423 (954,604) -
Total revenue B 411,014 3,191,179 1,500,017 560,558 522313 264,199 (954,604) 9,194,676
Segment result PEIES 1,091,246 47,691 322,975 293,079 44183 70,257 - 2,239,431
Reconciliation: %
Interest income HBIA 9,188
Unallocated otherincomeand gains RATEAMA R 104185
Unallocated expenses APEFR (1,250328)
Finance costs BRI (325,329)
Profit before tax WBiRLRR 777,147
Income tax expense FiEHER (121,833)
Profitfor the year TEERF 655,314
Other segment information: BAuEs
Loss on disposal o tems of property,  HENE - BRERRE

plant and equipment (note 7) HEREE () 3,509
Depreciation of tems of property, 915 » MRk {EER

plant and equipment (note 7) BTE (M) 636,406
Amortisation of prepaidlnd lease  TEff H A E 7B

paymens (note 7 (BsE7) 14120
Amortisation of coal mining rights /B R R IEBSH

(note7) (Rizt7) 2512
Capita expenditure* ERER" 1,666,977

| ]

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to investment in an associate, property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets including assets acquired from the

*

EARXBERBERRRE W% B
ER#EERELAE  BREKEKRENE
RAMBYIREE

acquisition of subsidiaries.
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. &E&23MER (&)
Compound Furfuryl
Urea fertilier Methanol Melamine alcohol Others Elimination Total
Year ended 31 December 2017 e #alE Gl “Rak 158 Eft 4 5t
HE Tt RMBO00 RMBO0O RMBO00 RMBOD RMBOD AMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO0O
TZAZT-HIEEE NEBTR  AREFRT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETR ARETR
REVENUE BA
Sales o external customers HERIDEP 2852070 2271804 684597 382546 46094 908216 - 7561547
Intersegment sales HEHE 1341358 1% 3069 - - 9,103 (1480,726) -
Total revenue a 4193628 2315020 687,666 382546 462,094 1001319 (1480,726) 75601547
Segment result nibgE 054,770 314507 128807 215234 43812 229820 - 1586950
Reconciliation: %
Interest income FEMA 10962
Unallocated otherincome and gains -~ RATE MM ARME 76632
Unallocated expenses APEER (903976
Finance costs BRI (285851)
Profit before tax WBiRIRR 484717
Income tax expense HERRY (61,189)
Profitfor the year iyl 4353
Other segment information: EAHER !
Gain on disposal of tems of property, i EHIE » BRER
plantand equipment (note 6) FEEREOME
(Ktite) 3216
Depreciation of terns of property, 915 + FRE SR BB R
plant and equipment (note 7) e 606,984
Amortisation of prepaid nd lease  TEff E A E 7B
payments (note ) (Bzt7) 9605
Amortisation of coal ining rights B RRIES S
(note) (B3E7) 4415
Capita expenditure* AR 1384113
| ]

Capital expenditure consists of additions to investment in an associate, property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets including assets acquired from the

acquisition of subsidiaries..

EARXBRRBEARRE  UF |
ER#EERELEE  BREEKENE
RAHBYIREEE
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. RK&o5H&ER (&)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION & R
(A)  REVENUE FROM EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS (A RBEINBEPEIA
Group
REH
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—tfF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
North-east area RitHBEE 756,390 540,731
Central Region A [ 12 3,190,851 2,979,796
East area H ISR 1T 3,718,145 2,846,233
Western Region PSRRI 1,465,060 1,190,135
Overseas area BN 64,230 4,652
9,194,676 7,561,547
I

The revenue information of continuing operations above is based on the R LMW AE R EREP O
locations of the customers. B

INFORMATION ABOUT A MAJOR CUSTOMER FEEFHPEN

The Group had no customers from whom the revenue derived individually ~ R-Z—\FE M -T—+FEAREEH
accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue in year 2018 BB {EE 4 B W AE AN S B AW AR 10%
and year 2017, including sales to a group of entities which are knowntobe A FHIE P - BiERZE P 2 MR
under common control with that customer. N—AHEBNIHER -
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA - Htlg AR W=
Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the net invoiced YA - BIZREEMEEEE - HEEmIH
value of goods sold, after deduction of relevant taxes and allowances for ~ BRIBBATIE - R E RITNEN FEHZEE
returns and trade discounts. 1B °
An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as follows: REBEMWA - HAb WA RIS A an
I
Group
TEH
2018 2017
S S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETFT
Revenue WA
Sales of goods HEEm 9,194,676 7,561,547
]
Sales of urea, compound fertilizer, methanol, fR&E - EEE - Bz - =FF
melamine, furfuryl alcohol and related products is % - ¥2Es M ARREE HAVSH S 58
recognised at a point in time. Please refer to Note  7E XX {EFF I 2h R o BARURA
5 for disaggregation of revenue. DR - FE2BIMEES -
Other income HebUg A
Bank interest income RITFEMA 9,188 10,962
Net profit from sales of by-products SHE BIE £ AR 16,292 25,304
Net income on sale of electricity and water SHEKE R F U 33,877 1422
Dividend income from equity investments at fair 1% A AT AR HIRIERE
value through profit or loss H A% B as 1,107 -
Share of profits and losses of an associate JEAGHS & N AR N &8 657 -
Net rental income EIEN=T N 3,989 -
65,110 37,688
Gains g
Amortisation of deferred grants (note 28) IR AR S (P3E 28) 6,933 7,774
Subsidy income wHBhE M 16,004 27,660
Compensation income = 1,189 4,083
Exchange gains b e - 6,797
Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand  (HE&E#IZ - FE KxEH kS
equipment = 3216
Gain on fair value change of derivative financial ~ EES g8 T A A EE I
instrument 17,719 -
Others Hith 6,418 376
113,373 87,594
I
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7.  PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBABRFATEFI TR (A -
Group
rEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t5F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR® TR ARETIT
Cost of inventories sold SHEFEMA 6,955,245 5,974,597
Depreciation of items of property, plantand 1% - Hi&= K& ETEE
equipment MITE 14 636,406 606,984
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  FE A< - 1t FH & 51 I8 8§ 15 14,120 9,605
Amortisation of coal mining rights R 2 S 17 2,512 4415
Minimum lease payments under operating AL FA 4T NHY&RIK
leases: GiE AN TN
Land T 1,990 1,276
Buildings B 1,120 2,239
Factories TRk 4,202 1,858
7,312 5373
Auditor's remuneration ZHEN S 3,773 2,666
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBAMAX
directors’ remuneration (Note 9): (BEESEH
GETDE
Salaries and bonuses e RIEAL 568,193 523,467
Pension scheme contributions (defined RS FHEIER
contribution scheme) (FEH T)\u‘|'i|J) 76,849 73,343
Benefits in kind Bl 42,864 29,019
687,906 625,829
Impairment of trade receivables, other B S EMGRIE - Eith
receivables and due from related FEMGRIA K FEUR
companies ME R RIFIERE 2 22,241 3,254
Impairment of property, plant and W - BEREERE
equipment 14 188,487 -
Unrealised exchange loss/(gain), net* FERE N (Uss)
EE - FE 27,587 (6,008)
Realised exchange gain, net* IR s
SRR (763) (789)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant ~ HEWE - HE K&
and equipment* RAETE B R ESIE ¢ 3,509 -
]
* Included in “Other expenses” disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or * BiETHEEEaREMEEKERPHRE
loss and other comprehensive income. B T EARSZ | & o
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8. FINANCE COSTS

8. B

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BIERADITIAT -
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts, other loans and 7B T F AZRHE R
bonds wholly repayable within five years BITER - |ITEX
HpER R R ERFRINE 325,273 285,766
Interest on government loans BT ERHIFIE 56 85
325,329 285,851
]
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEME

Directors’and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

REEEENRTBTHRABNE BRI
FREEE BB R EHENEE383(1)@)
b) ~ (@ KOG KRR EEHIE 235 (&
EHRESENNER) BEOT -

Group

rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETFT
Fees Lk 1,050 800

Other emoluments: Hinp < -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYAS 2,262 2274
Performance related bonuses* ESPIAA 17,550 8,977
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 78 66
19,890 11,317
20,940 12,117
L]

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonuses which are
determined as a percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.

* ARBETHATESARESRASER
Bi1& N B 7 LB TE BOTEAT
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 9. E=EM<E (&)
(@  INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (@) BAFEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were  FRN TEIUEMITEST 2SN T -
as follows:
Group
AEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Ong Kian Guan TR 300 300
Li Shengxiao TER 250 250
Ong Wei Jin FAC 250 250
Li Hongxing TR 250
1,050 800
I

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-  FRBEEEN TIBILIFA1TE /O A0 BA
executive directors during the year (2017: Nil). (ZE—+F:E)o
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b)  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

9. EEM=#HE
(B) HITES W FHITES

Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme
benefits in kind Performance- contributions Total
Fees #4 2B related bonuses BHKE  remuneration
Year ended 31 December 2018 ok REWAE ZERA STEIfES o
BE_E-\& RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TZA=t—HLEE ARWT R AR®T T AR®T ARBT T ARBT R
Executive directors: HITES
Liu Xingxu 218 - 874 7,020 26 7,920
Yan Yunhua BaE - 694 4,387 26 5,107
Zhang Qingjin RES - 694 6,143 26 6,863
- 2,262 17,550 78 19,890
Non-executive director: FRITES
Zheng Jiagi e = = = = =
Lian Jie B2 - - - - -
- 2,262 17,550 78 19,890

Yearended 31 December 2017 —ZE—+F+=f

=t+—HILFE
Executive directors: HTEE:
Liu Xingxu 2Em - 878 3591 2 4491
Yan Yunhua BagE - 698 2,693 2 3413
Zhang Qingjin RES - 698 2693 2 3413
- 2274 8977 66 11317
Non-executive director; FHTEE
Lian Jie R2 - - - - -
- 2274 8977 66 11317

*

Mr Zheng Jiagi was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 16
May 2018 while Mr Lian Jie resigned as a non-executive director with effect from
16 May 2018.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

* BREAEE T \FRAAT BEZ

ERIFNTER  MRREER TN
FRATNAEBHIENTES -

FNBLEE W (R B REE (A B
ZH(ZT—HF  E) -

TH

FR - AEBEVEREEINHE - R
DA AN AN S 8 s &) 22 D =V A B BBk
HH1E o

HECEY —T—/\FF3R 153



/ﬂf ﬂf f ﬂf ﬂf ﬂf f ﬂf ﬂf ﬂf

AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN AN VAN VAN VAN VAN AN VAN AN AN A
/f\ﬂ“w”\/\ﬁﬁ\/\/@ﬁf\ﬂ“wﬁﬁ7\ﬁ@$/\/“ﬁf\ﬂ“w”\/*wf\/\/T
(X (XD XD (XX (XX I X (XXX I XD XD XX

Notes to Fmanaal Statements
,E\jﬁiﬁ%% BﬁH 371 December 2018 R —FE—NF+=-H=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAY EMPLOYEES 10. TEBREHHMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2017:  AEBARFEN AL ESFNEERE=
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 9 above. H(ZEBE—tF: ZR)EFE - ERemEF
Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2017: two) non-director, BER EXHF BEESMA(ZZ

highest paid employees for the year are as follows: —tF : MB)IFEFHSHMES B
THFBRT ¢
Group
rEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYN 555 424
Performance-related bonuses Exviaal 1,285 1,200
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHE 51 43
1,891 1,667
|
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration ~ M& B NFIEE 2 AEFEE RS HHE
fell within the following bands is as follows: EMHBWT
Group
TEH

2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF

Nil to RMB500,000 T2 AR 500,000 7T - -
RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000 AR 500,001 7T
2= AR¥1,000,0007C 2 2
2 2
I

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the five REFA - NEEIWE R AL RS H M
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group as an inducementto ~ BEXME - ERIMASRINAREE
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. iy B0 2R S VR B RL A R (S -
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11. INCOME TAX

The Company is incorporated in Singapore and is subject to income tax at
the rate of 17% (2017: 17%) for the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject to income
tax at the rate of 25% (2017: 25%). In year 2018, three of the subsidiaries
were given the New/High Tech Enterprise Award as recognition of their
innovation and use of state-of-the-art equipment. This award brought these
subsidiaries a tax concession of a lower income tax rate (i.e. 15%) for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and the years ending 31 December 2019.

The major components of income tax expense for the financial years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017 are:

1. FBH

RABIRF IS MR - RAFE AR
17%(ZF—+HF : 17%) TS5 R4
ANFRIE o

P E At 3 77 R BR A et ) A A TR I AN 5 [ 48
EREMBERRITHR K -

ARBHMEB AN B A ERFSH
TR 250 ( Z T —+F : 25%) BUNTLIE -
RZE—NF - HF =B RAREES
MRMEERE - U EERHRAIF RE
RS ERRITERME - ZRIBFEZENBA
AREE_FT-N\F+=_A=+—H" =
E-NF+_A=T—"HLEFEAIZER
PSR R (BN 15%) OIS B o

Hze-_2—N\HFrE-_ZT—+tF+_-H
=t BUHMBRFEERSHMASZI s TES
ST -

Group

rEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT

Current - PRC BNER -
Charge for the year FREHIE 182,752 77,294
Under provision in prior years BEFERENE 7,231 3,068
Deferred (Note 34) SEAETRIA (MI3E34) (68,150) (19177)
Total tax charge for the year REERIBF T 85 121,833 61,185
]
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A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries
are domiciled to the tax charge for the year at the effective tax rate is as

follows:

REEAERERRN AR R R EHE QB FT
£ B 60 R E TR R 5T B AOBR A A F H9 A
TR IR B R S BT IRF X SR
mn

Group
rEH
2018 2017
—2-N\F —FtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Profit before tax FRAE Al ) 777,147 484,717
N
Tax at statutory tax rates REEREFENNIE 194,287 121,179
Adjustments in respect of current tax of prior FBTFERBEBREED
years KT 7,231 3,068
Benefits from previously unrecognised tax losses 5225 iA 4t Bl AR FE R 7 JA 5 18 (3,830) -
Effect of a tax concession MBEENTE (90,086) (74,493)
Expenses not deductible for tax Ik ba 7,409 4,823
Tax losses not recognised REERIBEE 8,245 7484
Withholding tax TEITIR 13,443 (1,202)
Recognition of deductible temporary HERR ST AR FERR A FTHE4N
differences previously not recognised TR ER (13,233) -
Others HAtb (1,633) 326
Tax charge at the effective rate of 15.7% REBRE157%
(2017:12.6%) (ZT—+HF : 126%) 5T EH
s 121,833 61,185
L]
12. DIVIDEND 12. KRE
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFIT
Proposed final dividend — RMB10.00 cents BEAREIRE -G ERK
(2017: RMB849 cents) per ordinary share AR¥10005
(2B : AR¥EB495) 117,162 85,500
|

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 11. Fri8%i (&)



13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares (inclusive
of mandatorily convertible instruments issued) of 1,171,621,000 (2017:
1,171,736,000), as adjusted to reflect the convertible bonds issued in 2011.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the
following data:

13. BRRAEBEREZRSAEARG
sRAER

BEREARBEERFNSEIRET AR T
BRESSEABRLFERGN @ MEHAE
IR =T ——FE BT RRESH
LA INE 5 801,171,621,000 % (BHEE
BITHR BRI T R) (T —+ 5 :
1,171,736,000 B8 5t E B H ©

SREARRBERFITIER A TR
CHE

Group
rEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Earnings B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders AR ESRERREERT
of the parent, used in the basic and diluted KRR T B ERTAE A
earnings per share calculation i eyl 624,932 397,778
|
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Number of shares Number of shares
REOEE avEd=
Shares 8}

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(inclusive of mandatorily convertible
instruments issued) for the purpose of
calculating basic and diluted earnings per
share

At SRER RS AT
= #E @A T 52

(BREEBITHRGIE
AT A)
1,171,621,000 1,171,736,000
|
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BWENRKE

31 December 2018 —E2-N\E+=ZH=1+—H

Office
Otherfixtures equipment
and structures Plantand  and fumiture Motor  Construction

Buildings HftEE  machinery BAZE vehicles  in progress Total
BT WEUREE HBEREE RGREE RE  EEIR H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR  ARMTR

Cost A
At1 January 2018 W=%-\§-A-R 1109047 1581727 7,041,254 28841 93349 1280416 11,394,204
Additons e 23,836 1581 332,685 6,637 9630 1063909 1438278
Transfers EE 149498 e 795,468 2,142 97 (1385239) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) WrEEB A (M 37) 17,689 28,674 133969 11,825 2453 36,592 21,202
Disposals & (4375) (8)  (617,61) (885) (8316) - (630919)
At31 December 2018 RZE-\F+ZA=1-H 1295695 2023043 7,686,115 334,130 9,103 995679 12432765
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE:
At 1 January 2018 RZ5-\§-A-H 186,445 259418 2,109,756 178,821 52,181 - 2786621
Depreciation during the year (Note 7 g (i) 47,691 63,149 464,985 45,963 14618 = 636,406
Acquisiton of subsidiaries (Note 37 e =GR 3443 3,104 15,251 1,945 851 = 24,59
Disposals HE (2,889) (52) (196,841) (1,559) (6,528) - (207,869)
At31 December 2018 RZE-\E+ZF=1-R 234690 325619 2393151 25,170 61,122 - 3B9752
Impairment; e
At 1 January 2018 RZ5-)\§-A-A - - - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) WrEERB A (s 37) 1,293 706 1,980 5 - - 4,004
Impairment during the year (Note 7) EREGE ) 39,615 30,157 104,286 3,059 - 11370 188,487
At31 Decernber 2018 RZE-\ETZA=1-H 40908 30863 106,266 3,084 - 11370 192491
et carrying amount; BEHE:
At31 December 2018 R=F-\E+ZF=1-R 1020097 1666561 5186698 105,876 36981 984309 9000522

In current financial year, a subsidiary of the Group sold plant and machinery ~ RAARBIEFE - NEB KB Q7 M F
with net carrying value of RMB431,118,000 to a third party and entered SHHERmERER  RHFERAR
into an arrangement with the third party to lease back the assets for #4311180007C * WEAFZ E = HEI M &
RMB300,000,000 over a period of three years. The sales and lease back - LW=F HEIAEE  REAARK
arrangement is to secure a bank borrowing of RMB300,000,000 granted to 300,000,000 7T ° 4% & B Z HF § £ (R
the Group (Note 30). The difference between the net carrying value of the mALEEE T IRTEE AR 300000000
assets and lease consideration of RMB131,118,000 is deferred and amortised TT(MFE30) - EEMBREFEHEEER
over the lease term as other assets. As at 31 December 2018, the balance of ~ {EHYZEE A R ¥ 131,118,000 7T B & I 74
other assets amounts to RMB127,759,000. MERANZEMEE#E R —\F
TZA=1+—H " HthEERBA/ARKE
127,759,000 7T °

158 China XLX 2018 Annual Report




14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14. ¥ - BERRXE(E)

The Group has plant and machinery with a carrying value RMB293,081,000 AREBIKIFEREE A RE 293,081,000 70( =
(2017 : RMB190,096,000) is mortgaged to secure the Group’s bank loans T —+t % : A K% 190,096,000 7T ) M F &

(Note 30). e LAAREBNRITEFIEEER (M
#30) °
31 December 2017 —E2—+tH+=-H=+—H
Office
Other fixtures equipment and
and structures Plant and furniture Motor  Construction
Buldings EfET  machinery BN vehicles  in progess Total

BY WEnREE RREREE  RERGR AE o ERIE it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBO  RWBOD VB0 RMBOO  RMBOWO

Group 1%E AEBTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT ARETT  ARETR
Cost A
At January 2017 R-F-t5-F-H 11061409 L4733 6876 81738 85447 Q718 10438152
Addtions TE 8613 6315 64477 8070 9908 1269488 1366871
Transfers EE 122868 433983 3BT 126 - (882 -
Disposals & (8364) (68304) (224043) (2623) (2006) - {0819
At31 December 2017 RZE-tF+Zf=1-H 1,109047 1581727 7041254 288411 B339 180416 11394204
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE
At1 January 2017 W-E—t+£-f-8 14708 181,203 1719306 138351 40563 - 68
Depreciation during the year (Note 7 ERiE (Hi7) 44704 85,044 43517 41305 12804 - 606,984
Disposals & (5057) (6829) (33,067) (855) (1,186) - (46,994)
At 31 Decernber 2017 RZE—tE+ZR=1-R 186445 259418 21097% 178821 52181 - 2786601
Net carrying amount; HEE:
At31 December 2017 RIE—ETZA=T-H 922602 1322309 4931498 109590 4068 1280416 8607583
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS AND OTHER 15, BANI#HHESFHERABELY
INTANGIBLE ASSETS BE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Group rEE B AR¥TT ARETIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—A/REE 390,661 383,024
Additions NE 228,700 17,242
Acquisition of subsidiaries W R A 7] 37 43,118 -
Amortisation during the year FNEH 7 (14,120) (9,605)
Carrying amount at 31 December ®N+=ZA=+—H
HIEREE 648,359 390,661
Current portion included in prepayments FTATE FIARIBIHR
i 19 (17,753) (8,953)
Non-current portion FEENEREL 5 630,606 381,708
]
16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t5F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Group TEE 5T AR¥TT ARETIT
Cost: D% NE
At 1 January m—H—H 25,361 25,361
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEM B A R 37 3,640 -
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 29,001 25,361
Accumulated impairment: ZERVE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, R-ZTE—+F
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 —H—8"
+=ZA=+—8"
E—N\F—H—H
NZZ—N\F
+=A=+—H - _
Net carrying amount: AREE -
At 31 December W+-—A=+—H 29,001 25,361
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16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions have been allocated to
following cash generating units ("CGU") for impairment testing:

Coal mining cash-generating unit; and
Furfural products cash-generating unit;
Humic acid products cash-generating unit

COAL MINING CASH-GENERATING UNIT

The recoverable amount of the coal mining CGU has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a 30-year period approved by management. The
pre-tax discounted rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11.2% (2017:
11.2%).

FURFURAL PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT AND HUMIC ACID
PRODUCTS CASH-GENERATING UNIT

The recoverable amounts of the furfural products CGU and humic acid
products CGU have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a 5-year
period approved by management. The pre-tax discounted rates applied to
the cash flow projections are 17.6% and 20.0% respectively (2017: Nil).

Based on the annual impairment testing, no impairment charge was
recognised during the year.

16. BHE (&)
R R

BRERGEHBVBNEECHEZEA TR
SELFEM(REEEENM]) - AETTR
BRI -

RIRFI PRI S E L BT
BEERREELEMN &
REBERRESELEM -

RIRF SRR S A B

HIERRERSELEMMNITKESED
REREETEAEEE T MEMAEE
IRAKEEEMENTHREE AE%E
MEFHEMNRE S REEATE - &
AR RETEAFEA112% (=T —+tF
11.2%) BOHTIR RHT3IR -

BRERRCELEVUNBERERRS
EABN

BREERREELAEMLABERERRS
EABMNMAIKRESEDIZFEREBETE
AEEET  MEAEBENRBLEERERE
HEMB B IaE AEAE  RESTHMM
RERMEBATE - AR S RETEAD
BIERFI17.6% £220.0% K97 IR KT (- =
—tF )

REBFRERERNS  RAFEAL EIER
TR E R o
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16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 16. HE (&)
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating ~ D EEZEZRETEHELHNHER@EN
units is as follows: I
Coal mining Furfural products Humic acid products Total
HRIRERR ARER RERER &3t

2018 017 2018 017 2018 2017 2018 017
CE-\F S _T-)\F EEESegia —T-)\F EESssal —T-)\F s

RMB'000 GO RMB'000 GO RMB'000 GOV RMB'000 RMBO00O

ARETT NSl ARETT ENEDl ARETT BNEEv ARETT N

Carrying amount of goocwill BEREE 25,361 25361 1528 - 2112 - 29,001 25361
| s Eaaaaaas  maaaaaas

ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE VALUE-IN-USE CALCULATION EREESERANERR

The following describes each key assumption on which management has & EZ2RJZW TR - B EEEDIRE

based its cash flow projections to undertake the impairment testing of coal ~ Re&mETR A EERFRSEESM -

mining CGU, furfural products CGU and humic acid products CGU: BEEMREEABVLABERERR
EEBEAETREAR

(1) BUDGETED SALES AND OPERATING COSTS (1) TEE SHE B SRR

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted sales ~ FIREEEEHEBRLEKNANIETEE
and operating costs are compared to the historical data and adjusted for ~ {EREEEE L EIRAILLE - WAIREBE
management’s expected efficiency improvements and expected market I & H)TE B R MO R FEHAT S R EH

development. R o

(I COMMODITY PRICE (I EamER

The basis used to determine the value assigned to commodity price is the RETHMmERNIEEEENELERT
expectation of future changes in the market. i}i)ﬂiﬂi‘ﬁ@ﬁ HITEER o

() PRE-TAX DISCOUNT RATE (1 AR E

The pre-tax discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks ~ ERFA VB RIHTIR R 25 A1 I % B A 78 48 7
relating to the relevant unit. BT ERER ©

With regards to the assessment of value in use for coal mining CGU, furfural HTHEEREESELSN BEED

products CGU and humic acid products CGU, management believes that ~ BReEABNUNBEBERRSEEEN

no reasonably possible changes in any of the above key assumptions would WEREEMNS BRERA - A Lt

cause the carrying value of the coal mining CGU, furfural products CGU and FTERBZEEA RSP ISEREE

humic acid products CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount. RARBCEASEN  BEERASELAE
I REERERRSEEEUNREERS
WE AU E S FE o
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17. COAL MINING RIGHTS

(X)) \/%\K’/\\ \/%\K’/\\ t/"\x/"\\ (X)) ‘/%\K/”\J ‘/W\X/”\J \><
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17. (RUEBREAE

RMB’000

ARBT T

31 December 2018 —E-NE+=ZA=+—H

Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated RZZ—NF—HA—HHAR - MR RS
amortisation 90,684
Amortisation provided during the year (Note 7)  FFE B S5 1B 185 (BiEE7) (2,512)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=—A=+—H 88,172
|
At 31 December 2018: RZE-\F+-_A=1+—H8:
Cost B AR 109,570
Accumulated amortisation Rt (21,398)
Net carrying amount REHE 88,172
|
31 December 2017 —E—tHFt+=ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated RZE—tF—HA—HHOKRAR - MR R
amortisation 95,099
Amortisation provided during the year (Note 7)  FFE #5118 (B 3E7) (4,415)
At 31 December 2017 AT+ F+-_H=+—H 90,684
|
At 31 December 2017: RZE—+F+—A=+—0H:
Cost }321‘ 109,570
Accumulated amortisation Rt (18,886)
Net carrying amount AREFE 90,684
|

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF COAL MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group performed
impairment assessment on the coal mining rights of RMB88,172,000.

The recoverable amount of coal mining rights has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation. The key assumptions are included in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on the annual impairment testing, no impairment charge was
recognised during the year.

BRI SRR RVIRE

HE-_Z—\F+_A=+—HLFE"
N[BT E AR B A RS 88,172,000 TTiE
TRERHE o

RARFR RN AT 2 B RBEEREE
AEET - T2ERENEE P IERKRHM

FIEXE
FE16°

REBEFERERR - RAFEALEED
TRE R
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. BRAVEFABZNRERE
PROFIT OR LOSS/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE S AHHERE
INVESTMENT
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETFIT
Non-current ERE
Unquoted equity investment, at fair value: EETRRERE - BATHE
PRC ik 6,708 6,708
|
Current RED
Listed equity investments, at fair value: TR E - RATE
Singapore N 2,678 2678
Hong Kong B 34,500 34,500
37,178 37,178
|
Company
AT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREETIT
Current TE
Listed equity investments, at fair value: FTRIERE - IBATE
Singapore i 2,678 2,678
Hong Kong B 34,500 34,500
37,178 37,178
|
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

As disclosed in Note 2.2, upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Group elects to
measure the listed equity investments at FVPL. In the current year, no fair
value gain or loss in respect of these investments were charged to profit
or loss. In prior year, these investments are available-for-sale investments
measured at fair value and the fair value loss amounted to RMB1,507,000
were charged to other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2018, the listed equity investments were classified as
current assets because the directors of the Company have intention to
dispose of these investments in the forthcoming year.

UNQUOTED EQUITY INVESTMENT

The Group's investment in an unlisted equity security represents a 15%
equity interest in the unlisted registered capital of Manas Biyuan Water
Supply Company Limited (“Biyuan”), a company registered in the PRC.
The Group has no control nor significant influence over the financial and
operating policies of Biyuan. The Group does not intend to dispose of it in
the near future.

As at 31 December 2017, the investment was stated at cost of RMB7,500,000

less impairment loss of RMB792,000.

Upon adoption of IFRSY, the investment is carried at FVPL and the fair value
as at 31 December 2018 is RMB6,708,000.

18. BRAVEFABRSHNRERE
S AHHERE (&)

EiRERE

WL 22 TR - SRR RS
BIZE o5k » REERBIZAFEFABZRE
STELTRERE c RAFE  ZERE
AT EKSSEERET ABE - RE
—FF &S&ﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁngm
HERE  AFEBXAR1,507,0007T
BAAEMZEIRES -

R-Z—N\F+-A=+—H LWk
REWRBBARDEE  AARRRINE
EEBEAR—FALEZFRE -

FEMRERSE

AREBZ R EMRAZFRE TR IHN
HEZREKEREEARTER] —
A AR B I A AL 2 2 R)) B9 R £ 7 a1
B 15%HE - ARBIEFERSEER
SEERTE - AEBEENARERK
HEBRRE -

RZE—+FE+ZA=+—H  ®BEZRK
R A R # 7,500,000 TR R EE 1B A R EE
792,000 T 2% °

Wﬁé% BB s S RIS o5k - RER

NEEFABRZIE  RZE—\F+=
A=+—HBAFEAEAREE67080007T °
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. BANRIE HERHEMEWRK
RECEIVABLES b= |
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Non-current IERE
Prepayments for purchases of items of property, FEE W% - HEMREER
plant and equipment KYTE5RIE 489,348 135,493
]
Current B
Prepayments: TERTRIE -
Advanced deposits to suppliers TENHER RS 530,686 445910
Current portion of prepaid land lease TEf LA EFRIERYBNER
payments (note 15) &y (FsE15) 17,753 8,953
Others Hith 3,965 2455
552,404 457,318
Deposits and other receivables: Re ME MY FIE
Deposits by 6,574 103,600
VAT recoverable FEYCSER 351,887 326,058
Receivable of disposal of fixed assets HERET & E 2 ERFUE - 197,636
Others Hth 72,924 93,818
431,385 721,112
Total prepayments, deposits and other TENFRIA ~ T REME
receivables WRIR B 983,789 1,178,430
]
Company
AT
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETFT
Current B
Prepayments SEANENE] 1,546 4,805
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20. INVENTORIES

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
Raw materials R 549,440 331,607
Parts and spares M RERTEH 116,035 83,954
Finished goods B 401,378 299,477
1,066,853 715,038
]
21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 21. PTE€mIT A
Group
rEE
2018 2017
=F-N\F =F—tF
Notional Notional
amount Asset amount Asset
EREH BE EREH BE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETIT AR%T T ARETFT

Foreign currency swaps SN+ HR

256,546
T

17,719 =
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. BEFRWREREKREE
Group
FEE
2018 2017
—B-N\F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
Trade receivables B o EWEE 103,366 131,017
Less: impairment allowance OB (6,467) (3,254)
96,899 127,763
Bills receivable R =g 234,232 33,066
331,131 160,829
I

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts
which represent their fair values on initial recognition. The Group’s bills
receivable are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 90
to 180 days. Trade and bills receivables are denominated in RMB.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly payment in
advance or on credit for certain customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding

ZHRRFBARER—MR30E0HR
BE - ZERWRTNE RIS ZS 5
R ZESERREEVIAERENQAF
B AEENEKEERARBE R M0
Z180AAERE - EFEBFIAREKRE
BUAARKEEHE -

Zi'iléﬁiﬁg}fﬁﬁ?:%ﬂ%fkii‘@%ﬁﬁ%
ETEPHARGEEN - 8FFPAE
GfﬁHHJ:ﬁE REBZRERFEE KT

receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed HHE!']TEW RIEHERISIE S BURIEREE R
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the c AR e R RERETHEMN -

fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.
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B RWHRERERRERE (&)
EEHERRIE < B FRIR

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22.
RECEIVABLES THAT ARE PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as
follows:

REBEE 5 RGN B REIRAREE D
#r (RIEHZ A RIREE) 0

Group

rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Within 1 month 1E A LAR 62,991 98,220
110 3 months 12 31EAH 21,630 8,058
3 to 6 months 3F6MEA 6,120 6,835
6to 12 months 6= 1218 A 2,149 10,969
Over 12 months 1218 A E 4,009 3,681
96,899 127,763

I

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable.

REHTARBENERIREA SIS

BREREHENDBEFPER -

B8 BB ARRUE BY FE MR IR B 3E T BAR S
EFERIFFECHNBIEFPEHE - R
FEERR  ARAREER/BANLTE
REHAHERERE  REEERYEEX
L SERDEAR AR 28
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
RECEIVABLES THAT ARE IMPAIRED

IMPAIRMENT UNDER IAS 39 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting
period and the movement of the allowance accounts used to record the
impairment are as follows:

22. EFRWHREREBRRERE (&)
ERfE 2 BYRTE

REE-_ZE—+F+-_A=+T—HILFE
EER &R 395RTE NHYRIE

AEBRBERNRDBENE HRKFKIA
AR R RRSRR B R B SRR BN T -

Group

REEE

2017

Tt

RMB’000

ARETTT

Trade receivables — nominal amounts BHRBGIE -2 &SR 3,254

Less: Allowance for impairment WO ERE (3,254)
|

Movement in allowance accounts: BRER &

At 1 January m—H—H -

Charge for the year FREBIE (3,254)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 (3,254)
|

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the
end of the reporting period relate to debtors that are in significant financial
difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not
secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer based on
customer type and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity.
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22. EFRWHREREBRRERE (&)
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) RHEERERE (&)
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other *ETJ%TE\EW:. EEEFENE S RHAMEYK
receivables computed based on ECL are as follows: FIERTEEEEEEREZSOT
TRADE RECEIVABLES g5 WA
Group
AEE
2018
—E-N\F
RMB’'000
ARETR
At beginning of year REH] 3,254
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 R BB R S5 2R oS o & 1,706
At beginning of year (restated) Y (&) 4,960
Impairment losses, net (note 7) WEEE - 2R (I 7) 1,507
Atend of year FR 6,467
|
OTHER RECEIVABLES H e FRE
Group
rEE
2018
=r SV
RMB’000
ARETR
At beginning of year REF) =
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 A BRI e S5 2R oo & 3,787
At beginning of year (restated) EY) (et ) 3,787
Impairment losses, net (note 7) REEE - TR (FE7) 19,858
Atend of year RER 23,645
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22, BEZEWHEREKVELSE ()

DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES/A SUBSIDIARY

FEWEEE A R, — BB LD RIRE

Group

FEH

2018

—E-N\EF

RMB’'000

AR®T T

At beginning of year REEA]) -

Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 FABR M BEmEERE R E 452

At beginning of year (restated) EY) (Bt ) 452

Impairment losses, net (note 7) BIEEIE - TR (MFE7) 876

Atend of year RER 1,328
|

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXEHINEEAAEEE S RKFIE - HAtb

Group's trade receivables, other receivable and amount due from related

& W R TR I {68 P 8 R R e ) B W R B R )

companies/a subsidiary using a provision matrix: /B ARENEERBRER
ECL FOR TRADE RECEIVABLES B S RWHIENTEREERE
Past due
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years Total
B PR-F 12F 2ENE by
Gross carrying amount RMB000)  SBEREE (ARKTIT) 63838 30992 2904 5632 103,366
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BHEEBR(ARYTT) 847 1093 307 4220 6467
ECL FOR OTHER RECEIVABLES HAiEWRIENTEHEE A
Past due
Current Less than 1 year 1to2years Over 2 years Total
B SR-F 12F 2ENE by
Gross carrying amount RMB000)  SBEREE (ARKTIT) 57986 15,795 15820 13542 103,143
Expected credit losses (RMB000) BHEEBR(ARYTT) 887 386 9905 12467 23645
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22, BEFREWREREWREE (&)
ECL FOR AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES/A SUBSIDIARY FEURRREE A E], — R B A R FUBE TR
HEEEE
Past due
Ik
Current Less than 1 year 1to 2 years Over 2 years Total
BN PR-E& 12F 26N E st
Gross carrying amount (RMB00D) — #BRAE(E (ARMF L) 31366 346 - - 31712
Expected credit losses (RMB000) EEEEER(ARETL) 1057 271 - - 1328
BILLS RECEIVABLE W ERE

At 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed bills receivable accepted by
banks in Mainland China (the "Endorsed Bills") with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB1,389,935,000 (2017: RMB1,310,538,000) with maturity
ranging from one to six months at the end of the reporting period, to
certain of its suppliers for settlement of the trade payables due to these
suppliers (the “Endorsement”). In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Endorsed Bills have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, all risks and rewards
relating to the Endorsed Bills have been substantially transferred upon the
Endorsement. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated trade payables. The
maximum exposure arising from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Endorsed Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Endorsed Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Endorsed Bills are not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has not
recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the Endorsed Bills. No
gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both
during the year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the year.

R-E—\F+-_A=+—8 ' ' A&EEE
MEETHEFSEETEHANMIRITE
I BREEAE A AR 1,389,9350007T
(ZZ—+tF: AR¥1,310538000) H &
WEER(TBEEE])  WEEEMZESH
EEMEZRENFE(EE]D BENT
MERR—ZNEANRN - RIETFEERET
EEEEA AR MPBRITHEREN
EEZBENEBAGEAAERBRAR
(BELHE])  -EFZRE BEEZERE
BRI D B MBI REEHEEEE
EEEE - Bt AEEDRIEEREER
BMEENEZENFENZSREE -
AEBRFELHEEZBEMABRNRA
ERMBEZESEZBENRITARESR
2 YHESENERBE - EERAE A%
EFELEEEZENATFEITTEK -

REBEZZE-—N\FRZE—tF+=H
=+ BLFE AEEVEEINES
EERBRBABHNEMRESEE - RFEA
S 2EHME - HEREFELHANEMI
mHEEEER  c BEEREBEFEAYF
HE -
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23. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/A 23. HEBEEQAR —BEMBATIN
SUBSIDIARY ek

Particulars of the balances with related companies and a subsidiary, in HEERNF N —ENB AR EHRAFS
which certain shareholders, executive directors of the Company are also (HRARRRIETRER - TESNAEE

direct/indirect shareholders and directors are as follows: SEERRREE) AT
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F Rt
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B AR%TT AREETIT
Due from related companies FENREE N TRRE
Non-current; FEENER -
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment 8 0@ oMb T &4
Co, Ltd. BRAH 0) 25,635 13,272
]
Current: BNER
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment FAP T E M TR
Co, Ltd. BRAT] 28 2,251
Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation 48 1 18 5 8 22 5€
Co, Ltd. BRAT] - 350
Xinjiang Antai Shenzhou Fengtou Co. Ltd. NEL R ZEFJ‘H ESL]
ARA = 1
Anhui Xinlianxin Heavy Sealing Co, Ltd. ?%ﬁ(/b@/bﬁ@i G|
BRAA 6 1
Henan Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd. TARERRARRERAA] (if) 18,570 -
Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy Co, Ltd.  JATF/DELVAR BEIR
D BIR AR 4,394 -
Xinjiang Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd. /L\L/D/}&/v\l%ﬁ
BRA (i) 7,386 -
30,384 2,603
]
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23. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/A 23, EEEENR, —HEHERARH
SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) wes (&)
Group
REE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
By eE ARBTR ARETT
Due to related companies ENEEARRIE
Current: ENER :
Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation ¥ #8118 5 B 22 5E
Co, Ltd. BRAF (4,183) (20)
Henan XLX Jingmi Fengtou Co, Ltd. AR OB OB E 58
BRAA] (10) (23)
Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co, Ltd.  JAIF/DE/LME T B
BRAR] (27) @
Xinjiang Antai Shenzhou Fengtou Co, Ltd. 9B Z Zed N 128
BRAR] (1) -
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment Fap T E MY TR
Co, Ltd. BRAT] 0 (7,415) -
Henan Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd. ARRLMRERAT (52) -
Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy Co,, Ltd. /TI:'TL\L/U/%/%HWJ?
BIABERR (179) -
Xinjiang Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd. /L\L/L\/ﬁk/z\l?)‘\ﬁ
BRATA] (i) (9,185) -
(21,052) (45)
|
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23. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPANIES/A 23. HBEENT/—BHEBELRHN
SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) EeR (&)
Company
¥ NN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT
Due from a subsidiary PE K BfY B A B SR IE
Current: ENHp -
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser Co,, Ltd. ARELNEMEEER R 134,213 329,721
T
Due to subsidiaries BB ARRIE
Current: BNES :
Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser Co, Ltd. AR LEMERER A A - (294,951
Henan Heli Energy Co, Ltd. AR IGERERAR (114,400) -
(114,400) (294,951)
]
Notes: FisE
(i) Balance represented prepayments for equipment and spare parts purchases from 0) BT EME TRERRAFRER
Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment Co, Ltd.. Further details are set out in HEREHHTENFKIALRTE - E—HFB
Note 40(a)(iii). EARBTEE 40() i) ©
(i) Balance represented receivable for dimethy! ether sold to Henan Shenleng Gas (ii) P ERAMRBER AR E —FRAME
Co,, Ltd.. Further details are set out in Note 40(a)()). WERIEEREE o HE— BRI T E M FE40()
(i) °
(iif) Balance represented trade payable for purchasing gases from Xinjiang Shenleng (iii) RLELRRRREBARIEERRNE
Gas Co, Ltd.. SENFIEHREE -
The balances are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free and ERAEER HZEIJA_H&% HZE
the carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair values. rEEA 2 BREEEA N EEE
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24. CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

2. ReRREEEYUREER

TIME DEPOSITS ERFR
Group
rEE
2017
—T—tF
RMB'000
ARETFT
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTHER 346,151 341,270
Time deposits TEEFR 258,839 186,465
604,990 527,735
]
Less: Pledged cash and bank balance and time & : ERIFIR & MIRTT4E 84
deposits: REHFN
Pledged for environmental improvement TIRBNEE MR RIE (5,483) (5,388)
Pledged time deposits for bank loans IRTTERE TR
EHIfE (100,000) -
Pledged time deposits for L/C and others AERE L HAM D ERE
EHITFR (12,175) -
Pledged time deposits for bills payable RENZEHEEEAN
FEHER (141,181) (181,077)
Cash and cash equivalents Re kBESEED 346,151 341,270
]
Company
AT
2018 2017
—B-N\F ZE—t5F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTAE R 7,549 52416
|

At 31 December 2018, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB337,267,000 (2017: RMB334,583,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—H '  UAE
BAENASER S RIBITEBEDA
R#3372670000( — T —+F: AR
334,583,0007T) - ARBITAIERILRA
H & - Rm - RIEPBRANAOINES
FEPI R ETE - SEERMEERRE &~
EEE S RS TTINE E TSR IRTT
ARSI AH & -

RITEFIZ BB RITERN R FEF X
REAE - EHREMERNF—HE={E
Az A S8 - B FAEERIRHE
EHFRME - WIZE B 60REHERFHRA
KEREAE - RITERRCERERIE
PRS2 A] Se R BT B R AC 8RRV ERTT o
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25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EFREMNRE
An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting B 5 FE N RIE R B R B R A BR B 9 A (AR
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BEZAE)WT
Group
TEH
2018 2017
—E-NE ZE—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Within 1 month TERA AR 141,879 128,832
1to0 3 months 1E31@A 58,442 50,374
3to 6 months 3Z6fEA 40,331 38,120
6 to 12 months 6 &= 1218 A 22,249 12,985
Over 12 months 1218 A A+ 19,924 16,390
282,825 246,701
]
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on BEHRENFIEARBR—MR30E0HA
terms of 30 to 90 days. Trade payables are denominated in RMB. BE - BREMNFIBEAARKEEE -
26. BILLS PAYABLE 26. ENEREE

The Group’s bills payable have an average maturity period of 180 days and ~ AEEA ERN ZEHE TR 180 B WHH -
are non-interest-bearing. Bills payable are denominated in RMB and are ~ B &REE - BN EHRUAARKEE - WA
secured by time deposits of RMB141,181,000 (2017: RMB181,077,000) (Note & ER7F SR A R ¥ 141,181,000 ( ZF —+

24). F - AR¥ 181,077,000 70) #E R (FF7E24) o
27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BESTERKEMEMAFIER
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—B-N\F —FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETIT
Current: ENER :
Accruals FEEE R
Accrued expenses FERTHS 267,946 166,243
Accruals for construction costs and purchases EREAMEEVE  BE
of items of property, plant and equipment e R b 637,038 411273
904,984 577,516
|
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27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 27. BESHERREAESRE &)
Group
rEE
2018 2017
S et
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Current (continued): BIHEA (4&) :
Other payables HAb R RIE
VAT and other operating tax payables AR R H A A E TR 11,200 5276
Tender deposits FiEiZ e 96,327 57,233
Others HAth 149,334 83,863
256,861 146,372
Total accruals and other payables (current) JEET B A S H A e 508
B ORE) 1,161,845 723,888
Contract liabilities aHAaE 689,951 795,448
]
Non-current: FEBNHER :
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R H M R 508
Long-term borrowing from third parties F=ARHEE 20,000 -
Warranty for construction of property, plant BEYE - WEREE
and equipment ZIRES 3,618 110,244
Others Hity - 726
Total accruals and other payables (non-current) — FE&TE F M H b FE (< BB 425
(FERE) 23,618 110,970
I
Company
RATH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Current ENER :
Accruals [EEtER
Accrued expenses JEETHIZ 27,631 14,825

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of six ~ HMEN KB R/ZEE - FHFHRNE

o

|

months.

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's obligation to transfer ~ AAIEEEZ BEAEEAAEED KEF
goods to customers for which the Group has received advances from PHENFEBENREFPFERERNETER -
customers. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group ~ A RIBERAEEREBESNBORKER R
performs under the contract. WA o
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28. DEFERRED GRANTS

28. IEAEFEEL

Group
rEE
2018 2017
—g-nf e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Cost: B
At 1 January m—H—H 126,676 73,755
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEM B A R 906 -
Received during the year FAUER 1,730 52,921
At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 129,312 126,676
Accumulated amortisation: EEHE
At 1 January w—A—H 26,746 18972
Amortisation during the year (note 6) FNEEH (M5t e) 6,933 7,774
At 31 December R“+=—H=+—H 33,679 26,746
Net carrying amount: BRMEFE -
Current TR 5,443 5943
Non-current FEMED 90,190 93,987
95,633 99,930
|

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, deferred grants related RZZE-—NF+_A=+—HBER=Z—+
to government grants were given to the Group for the construction of ~ FT+ZH=1+—H  AEBEEXEB/F
production plants and installation and building of machinery to implement EBEﬁFEJEULLﬁHE VAR RS A EE RS A
energy-saving production methods and to reduce production cost. They — RZ&HERERHKS - BN AHITELER
are amortised over the useful lives of the related items of property, plant Egﬁ_ﬁ&ﬁfﬁig}ﬁzﬁ WARE B @Y
and equipment. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies 3 * = M&HE B ARl (F A FH# Y -
relating to these grants. During the year, aggregate government grants of ~ AS BN M BEHiZ S BB AR KRB TR
RMB2,636,000 (2017: RMB52,921,000) were received by the Group. HHAEE - RFER - BINERAEER
TEHARKE263600T(ZF—+5F:
ARHE52,921,0007T) HIFHEL ©
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29. LOANS FROM A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

29. FEREZEN

Group
rEE
2018 2017
S e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETIT
Loans from a non-controlling interest R R E R 75,500 75,250
Less: N
Current portion BNEAER 7 (50,500) (24,750)
Non-current portion JEENEREL 5 25,000 50,500
]

The loans from a non-controlling interest are both unsecured and bear
interest at 4.75% per annum. One is granted for a term of three years from
30 August 2016, and the other is granted for a term of two years from 26
December 2018. According to the payment terms of the loan agreement
between the parties, RMB50,500,000 is expected to be repaid within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period and is considered as current
liability as at 31 December 2018.

IR A e B R B IR T K 4.75%
B - BEEFRMERE T —F/\A
—t+HRAB=F EMERERNH
RE-_Z— N \F+-_A-tHEAHR
FoRBEE T LMNERBHED K
K AR¥E 50,500,000 7T T8 B 7 FR SR EARS R
B+-_EAANEEMN -_ZE—N\F+-A
=+—BHEERBEE -
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FTRESBITRHEMER
BORROWINGS
2018 017
ZE-N\% “EtE
Contractual Contractual
interest rate Maturity RMB'000 interest rate Maturity RMB000
Group -1 AHRIE AR ARETT RHRIE gl ARETTL
Current ok
Bank loans BITER
- secured -ERE 435%t0 % 6.58% 2019 200428 -
ZE-hE
- unsecured -EAR 4,00%to Z 6.00% 2019 2481797 43%10F 475% 018 1646112
ZE-hE “E-)\F
Finance lease payables Ex(iREne 2019 9,21 -
ZE-nE
2,774,452 164612
Non-current )|
Bank loans FTER
- secured -BER - 413% 2019 176000
ZZ-hE
- unsecured - B 450%t0 % 6.18% 202002022 UNB 30T 600 201910 2022 2786288
TECEEE “E-N5%
—E-CF FoC
Loan from the government BER
- Unsecured R Floating rate at 2020 1818 Floating rate at 200 w7
0.3% above ZECEE 03% above 3
the market prime the market prime
lending rate lending rate
LS e F
(BRTEER (BRTEER
EERZ03%) RERIE(3%)
Finance lease payables ExN#ERE 2020102021 144290 -
EIEER
“EC-F
2,568,439 2965015
5,342,891 4611127
L]
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. EFERTREMER(E)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARETIT
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: FEERIRITER
Within one year or on demand NSNS ERSIIS 2,682,225 1,646,112
In the second year MEZF 1,852,543 2,032,400
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFRF
(BHEEEMSF) 569,788 929,888
5,104,556 4,608,400
Loan from the government: HRER
In the second year REZF 1,818 2,727
Finance lease payables: JEZ R ERS -
Within one year or on demand NSNS RIS 92,227 -
In the second year REZF 99,782 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRF
(BEEEMSF) 44,508 -
236,517 -
5,342,891 4611127
|
Notes: Fi5E
(@) The Group’s bank facilities amounting to RMB9,768,305,700 (2017: (@) AEB AR®9768305700L( =& —+
RMB9,195,825,000), of which RMB5,913,805,000 (2017: RMB4,608,400,000) had F: ANRM9,1958250007T) KISRITRLE
been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, are unsecured. B Hf AR¥ 59138050000 (=ZF—+

£ AR 4608400000 70) REREHIRD
EEA - ThEEE -

(b) The current bank loans amounting to RMB24,000,000 are guaranteed by the (b) £ E A AR 24000000t 8B ERIRTT &

related companies, Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment Co,, Ltd and Henan FEEATOEME IREERAFR
Shenzhou Precision Manufacturing Co,, Ltd. The current bank loans amounting A AR NS TRERR D B BR A AIVERAR -
to RMB79,428,000 are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s bill BN ERSR 1T B 3R A R # 79,428,000 TL #2 K8 2
receivable amounting to RMB79,428,000. The current bank loans amounting to BAAEBE SR A AR 794280007 H) &
RMB97,000,000 are secured by the pledge of certain of the Group's time deposits TRBEEOERIEERR - @BAARE
amounting to RMB100,000,000. 97,000,000 ST BNERSRITE R AR LB &

A AR 100,000,000 TR E T EHTE
REVE PRI o
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FFESRITREMER(E)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(© The finance lease payables of RMB236,517,000 are secured by certain of the © R REEFRE A R EE 236,517,000 7T F AN £
Group's items of property, plant and equipment. EETYWE - BEREZEHEE EER -

() Balance of RMB256,546,400 (2017: RMB242,423,000) are denominated in United (d) 4 55 AR5 256,546400 0 ( — T —+ 4 ¢

States dollars ("USD") as at the end of the reporting period. All remaining ANER# 24242300070 ) RS HAIRIAZE T
borrowings are in RMB. ([ETDEHE - FTERTEREAARKE

FHE -
(e) There was no bank loan (2017: RMB120,750,000) with restricted clauses that the (e) BMERTER(ZZE—EF: AR
Bank has the right to accelerate the maturity of the loans. The Group did not 120,750,000 7T) FiI B Z R Fil5FR - BNERTTH
classify the loans in current portion of bank loans at 31 December 2018. EMRZEERIH R - NF+=

A=+—H0 ARESZEERDBAR
TTERZENEE S -

2018 2017
Contractual Contractual
interest rate Maturity RMB'000 interest rate Maturity RMB000
Company A7 TS )1 ARBTT Bl Ehila ARETTL
Current i)
Bankloans it
- Unsecured -BEA - LBOR +085% 2018 2260
RARTAFHE
+0.85%
Non-current k)
Bankloans it
- Unsecured -BEA LIBOR +1.20% 2020 178483 -
REBTEERS
+1.20%
178,443 232600
I
@) The bank loans of RMB178,443,000 (2017: RMB232,600,000) are denominated in @ RITERARME178443,000T(=ZF —+
United States dollars ("USD") as at the end of the reporting period. F 0 AR 232,600,000 7T ) FA $R & HI R LA
Erx([Exl)sHE -
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FTEBITREMER(E)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows: MEETBELECBEZHEROT ¢
Non cash changes
E3ey |
Foreign
exchange
2017 Cashflows  Acquisiton  movement Other 2018
Group KER T+ HeRE Wik EXEE Ol —Z-\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARETT REERD
Loans froma Non-controling ~ FEEERRAEZS B2k
interest
- current - e 24,750 25,750 - - - 50,500
- non-current -3 50,500 (25,500) - - - 25,000

Interest-bearing bank and other T B 8R1T R EMER

borrowings
- current i) 1,646,112 (264,519) 24,000 27,244 1341615 2,774,452
- non-current ~JERE 2965015 939,047 - 343 (1335966) 2,568,439
Bonds payable ERREES
- current ik 600,000 (600,000) - - - -
- non-current -3EE 500,000 191,507 - - 1326 692,833
Total 4t 5786377 266,285 24,000 27,587 6975 6,111,224
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FFESRITREMER(E)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Non cash changes

IR
1 January Foreign
2017 exchange
—E—tF Cashflows  Acquisiion ~ movement Other 2017
Group AEH —A—H Heng e 3 Ht —F—+F

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB00O RMB00O
ARBTT ARBTL ARETT ARETT AREBTR ARBTR

Loans froma Non-controling  FEEERRAEZS B2k

interest
- current - E 24750 (24,750) - - 24750 24750
- non-current -3ERE 75,250 - - - (24,750) 50,500

Interest-bearing bank and other 5T B 8R1T R EMER

borrowings
- current - e 756,156 (393,348) - (6,008) 1289312 1,646,112
—non-current -3ERE 3,601,386 652,941 - - (1289312) 2,965,015
Bonds payable ERRIEER
- current i 200,000 (200,000) - - 600,000 600,000
- non-current -3ERE 600,000 500,000 - - (600,000) 500,000
Total 4t 5,257,542 534,843 - (6,008) - 5786377

The ‘other’ column relates to reclassification of non-current portion of loans [Efh] —P|EHEAREECERIBERKL
and borrowings including obligations under finance leases due to passage B (BERERERE) ZIERBH S B
of time. -
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31. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION

31. WERE

Group
REE

2018
—B-N\%&

2017
—E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET

At the beginning of year REH]

AREBTT

Additions NE

23,836 -

Atthe end of year RER

23,836 -

A provision for rehabilitation is mainly recognised for the present value of
estimated costs to be incurred in complying with the Group’s obligations
for the closure and environmental restoration and clean-up on completion
of the Group’s mining activities. These costs are expected to be incurred
on mine closure, based on the estimated rehabilitation expenditures
at the mine when the mining licence expires, and are discounted at a
discount rate of 4.90% for the year ended 31 December 2018. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates. Over time, the
discounted provision is increased for the change in the present value
based on the discount rate that reflects current market assessments and
risks specific to the provision. The periodic unwinding of the discount is
recognised in profit or loss as part of interest expenses.

32. BONDS PAYABLE

MR T IR A EE N T AL B R
EEBRE TR MRRIEMBENE
BMEEMNETRANRERR - RIERE
MERF Al B B HRRS IR L AT IRIES I - 32
ERATERHBEREILERREL - WIEE
E-E- N\FE+-_A=+—HIFENH
REA0%B W - BREMNEB LG HZ
EHFAEEERTE - BERBNHEY -
PrIR B4 R A A I B B T 35 R A RN R% 18
HETRBOITIERNRES S ML N -
FHERTRANIESTERAT BRI

—H5 -

32. EfmEEF

Group

rEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT

Analysed into amount repayable: DT RENEE
Within one year —FR - 600,000
In the second to forth years REZZENF 500,000 -
In the fifth year RERF 192,833 500,000
692,833 1,100,000
|

The RMB bonds totalling RMB500,000,000 has a maturity term of within
three years, and bear fixed interest rates of 7% per annum. In January 2018,
the Group issued a corporate bond of RMB200,000,000 with a maturity term
of within 5 years and a fixed interest rate of 6.98%.

4858 A B 500,000,000 T8I A R (& 5 5
HFHAE=F  KETEFEMNE7IUETE -
RZZE-NF—R AEBBHTARK
200,000,000 T A EfES « BIEFH AR
F - REEFMNE698%ETE °
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 21 December 2011, the Company issued RMB denominated convertible
bonds with a nominal value of RMB324,366,000. Convertible bonds interest
of 4.5% per annum is payable in cash annually in arrears on the anniversary
of the issue date (i.e, 21 December 2011) in each year, commencing on the
first anniversary of the issue date, which is accrued and paid through the
transfer from retained profits of the Group. The bonds are convertible into
ordinary shares of the Company at the option of the bondholder at the
initial conversion price of approximately RMB1.84 per share any time after
the issuance of the convertible bonds. While the convertible bonds bear
interest at 4.5% per annum, the Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to
defer the interest pursuant to the terms of the convertible bonds.

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled or converted, all the
convertible bonds outstanding shall be converted into ordinary shares of
the Company on the fifth anniversary of the date of issue. On 14 December
2016, the Company and the bondholder agreed to extend the maturity
date to 21 December 2018 and reduced the interest rate to 2% per annum.

The convertible bonds are redeemable at the option of the holder of
the convertible bonds only upon the occurrence of a winding-up (any
step taken by any person at the sole election of the Company not under
direction of any third party, including judicial or regulatory) with a view to
the voluntary winding-up or dissolution or administration of any group
companies (including but not limited to a members’ voluntary solvent
winding-up), or any group companies cease or threaten to cease to carry
on all or substantially all of its business or operations) at a redemption price
which shall be equivalent to the aggregate of the outstanding principal
amount of the convertible bonds together with a redemption premium of
8.0% per annum on the outstanding principal amount, up to the date fixed
for redemption. In the opinion of the directors, the Company is able to defer
or control the redemption of the principal, the payment of bond interest
and other cash payments to the bondholder. Accordingly, the convertible
bonds are classified as equity instruments.

In January, February and December, 2018 the convertible bonds were

converted into 176,000,000 ordinary shares with a conversion unit price of
RMB1.84, and resulting in an increase in paid-in capital of RMB322,436,000.

During the year, bond interest of RMB5,914,000(2017: RMB6,487,000) was
accrued and paid to the bondholder.
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33. TWREH

R-E—F+-_A=-+—H ' AAFE
BHTEE A AR 324366000 THIAAR
BEHERIRARES o FFIF45% A%
BEHENESF (BRITEBRE—RAFHR)
BOHBEI ZE——F+=-A=+—H)
BAFURSEFEL  BRAEZEASE
REB R MEBEA R o RARESE
B AR AR EH BT RERIEZRY)
REREOARE 184 T ESEIR AT
MR o AR A REFIZEF 45%FTE -
RIBE AR ESFIER - AAF A2
BEERELERS o

BRBEWER - BE RBEE RN - T
EREBEBRRESFERETRENER
FRFEHARARERBE - RZT—N
F+-A+H ARFHEEEFEEA
AEEIHPETERE-"Z—N\F+ A8
—+—8 - WAEEREREE2% -

ARRESFEAEREEFTSE(EW
ATEARRNB] 2 HEEZ(WIERBEERE
=R BRI RDAKEEE R - A
B8 E R RS E BT EEKE QA
(BRETRRKERRBEEHE)
MEBERRKIEHEERIEEEHE 2 I
REBD HEFB AL ETES)) - AT RRESF
EANEZKRBELNE(BRERBESRER
IETEECAE  ATRRESREELASE
RREERNETFS0NMERLRE)ER -
EERE  AAEEESIZESIA S K E
B - FAEHFFAE ANGES SRR H A
WEMHK - At - ATRESH B RRA
TH-

RZE—-NE—AF - ZAKk+=A 7
% & & 84 5 176,000,000 A% L@ A% - #Eik
BEAARB 18470 BIRH R KA
AR 322,436,000 7T °

RAFER BitEHFMNEAARE
5914000 70 ( —ZE—+tF : AR¥ 6,487,000
TLEXNFEHFFTEA -



34. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

34.

T

LR R
AEEREHRAREMNEEZ BN

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of
subsidiaries
Wi — =X S Withholding
DEEEN tax Total
DNPERE FANHIE st
(note a) (note b)
(Mizta) (Mi=Eb)
Group RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
rEE AR®TR AR¥T T AR¥T T
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+tF—H—H 21919 34,872 56,791
Deferred tax credited to profitor G RTEIBmERFT AR IR 1E
loss during the year (Note 11) (Bﬁ 1) (1,024) (18828) (19852)
At 31 December 2017 and at ZE—tFTHA=1+—H
1 January 2018 &EA_ T—N\F—H—H 20,895 16,044 36,939
Deferred tax credited to profitor  FRTEBZERET ARIRETIA
loss during the year (Note 11) (FF&ETT) (1,040) (6,914) (7,954)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W E RS B A7) (MI3E37(a)
(Note 37(a)) 2,588 - 2,588
At 31 December 2018 W_ZE—\F+_-_H=+—H 22,443 9,130 31,573

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS BEERIEEE
Loss available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits Deductible
HESH AR IR temporary
by |l N ) differences Total
RIEEE AHHERERSE o H
(note ¢)
(Pff&E )
Group RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
rEH AR%T AR%TT AR%TT
1 January 2017 RZE—tF—H—H 11,006 12,795 23,801
Deferred tax credited to profit or EPWH:TE SR ARPEETRIE
loss during the year (Note 11) CEARD 2413) 1,738 (675)
At 31 December 2017 and at RZE—+F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2018 ER=E—-\F—H—H 8,593 14533 23,126
Deferred tax credited to profitor  FRTEIBmERFT ARIRLETR 1E
loss during the year (Note 11) (MEE11) (1502) 61698 60,196
At 31 December 2018 W_ZE—\F+_-_H=+—H 7,091 76,231 83,322
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34, DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 34, EEFIIE (1)

Notes: BfaE -

(a) Deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value adjustments upon acquisitions of (@) KE—RMNBRARELENATERAEMmME

subsidiaries represent the deferred tax liabilities on the fair value uplift of the net ARRELETEEEER T —F —_F
tangible assets owned by the subsidiaries, arising in 2011, 2015 and 2018. The —RFRZT-N\FEENBARMES
deferred tax liabilities are amortised to the profit or loss over the estimated useful BREEFEEMNBELETIBEE - BT
lives of related assets. MIBBEDUEEEEMGERAFHER
(b) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied (b) BIBEFREMEMREGETHE R_ZZTLF
on dividends declared to foreign investors from foreign investment enterprises +ZA=+—B#E2ZWEEP E AL
established in Mainland China for earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower BN IR B R EMBIMEEE T IR S
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland AU 10% H TEFIFIIE o fif B A b Bl
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group made provision BIMEE BN REREEITTARBIELN
for deferred tax liabilities on withholding tax at 5% and 10% of the forecasted REMBINBEIEEEA - AEEDIR
dividend pay-out of the earnings of all its PRC subsidiaries because the directors Hep BIFT B 2 816 AT B 25 80 78 8 SR AR
believe that the PRC subsidiaries would not pay out all their earnings as B 5% F0 10% SR IERIE B EFHETE N
dividends. B ARESARTENBATTEH

HAARBIERREIRE -

(© Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax losses (© AERTIBEBENELCHIEEESERA
amounted to RMB77,916,000 (2017: RMB113,118,000) as in the opinion of the R¥77916000 (=T —HF: ARM
directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be available 113,118,0007T) * ARSI EERKES
against which the tax losses can be utilised. 7R B RLIRT & A AR BT IS -

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. B&

Number of ordinary shares Amount
HERHE =8

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T ARETFT

Issued and fully paid AT RER 1,171,621,000 995,736,000 1,194,686* 872,579*
| I

* Equivalent to Singapore dollars (“SGD") 238,937,000 in 2018 and SGD174,300,000 * — J\ % 8 % 238,937,000 %7 1N 3

in2017. n([%ﬂ]ﬂi)}zmj) —tEFEER

174,300,000 %ﬁbubﬁn °
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 35. BRA (&)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows: RATRAH R EFA AT -
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
ERITROEER [N
RMB'000
AREETIT
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—H—H 1,000,000,000 881,124
Shares repurchased and cancelled [0 K AR SRR (9 (4,264,000) (8,545)
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZEZ—tF+_HA=+—H
K_F—-N\F—H—H 995,736,000 872,579
Convertible bonds converted into shares AR ES SR AR D 176,000,000 322436
Shares repurchased and cancelled [B1HE N v S A A () (115,000) (329)
At 31 December 2018 WZZE—)\F+_H=+—H 1,171,621,000 1,194,686

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when
declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share
without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

36. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

In accordance with relevant laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC, the subsidiaries are required to make appropriations to the Statutory
Reserve Fund (the “SRF"). At least 10% of the after tax profits as determined
in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards and
regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total of the
SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiaries' registered capital. Subject to approval
from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any
accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The
SRF is not available for dividend distribution to shareholders.

The special reserve refers to the safety fund accrued but not yet used for
the coal mining operations.

Other reserve mainly arises from transformation of joint stock system of
a subsidiary based on net assets with limited restriction to distribution
amounting to RMB2,060,422,000.

EBEFEANERZERARAEIRMK
B AT BRI RIRERE - EBRE
EE °

36. f#f&

AEBRAFEMBEFENFHSRL
BRAZHE NG EREHRAZS -

RIBERANPBEMERARNBERER %
EMBARARRDEERER (DEER
w2 ) - RIBEANFBEEER AR
PEETE ROBR B 1208 MRV = 4 10% B D B
EEERET  BEEERETHNRTE
RO EDZEWNE QR & AH) 50%
EERAT BB ER  AERES A
TR SH ] RET B 1R SIE N F B 2 7
MEMER EERFEE TR ARAKR
EHE DK ©

Y5 I 8 1 O Wl P B A 2 BT R TR i R A2
ANREES

HitEHEERREMBARREARD

K PR 1 & = 75 58 A R 2,060,422,000 7T BY
P& 17 1 PAL3E o
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 37. ¥EXKE6t
37 (a) INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 37 (a) RMIBLARIKRE
ACQUISITION OF HENAN HELI ENERGY CO LTD (“HELI ENERGY") WHE AR AR N RERAR AR ([RAEER])

On 29 December 2018, the Group acquired a total of 57.82% of Heli RZZE-—NFE+_A=+hHB xEEAE
Energy’s shares. Heli Energy is engaged in the manufacture and trading HIKBER N8R 57.82% KA » KA BEIR
of furaldehyde. Further details of the transaction are included in note ~ N ERBERNEENES - BEARXZHH#E—
45(d) to the financial statements. The acquisition was made as part of the A IEE R BIREZMTE45(d)  BLR W
Group's strategy to expand its market share of manufacture and trading of ~ EASEFEAEEEEME 5510 HE
furaldehyde. The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form B —&n  c WENBEREREEAR
of cash of RMB127,905,000. 5 127,905,000 7T °

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Heli Energy as atthe AR I8ERMAUEE B BN AT BRI EE R AE

date of acquisition were as follows: B AFELRT -
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
RUREERERN
AFE
Notes RMB'000
BiEE ARETIT
Inventories & 22,535
Trade receivables B 5 FEWIE 32,765
Other receivables E A EYGRIE 195426
Other current assets HthmeEh&E 11,825
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REEE 14 156,412
Prepayments for purchases of items of property, plant ~ BEE¥% - BiE MR EER
and equipment A IE 1,730
Prepaid land lease payments and other intangible AN LSRR BT EE
assets 15 34,887
Deferred tax asset RIERIB A B 601
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERIT R E M AR (24,000)
Deferred grants TR RREL (906)
Trade payables, accruals and other payables EZRNFIE - BAEBRAK
HAth FEHRIR (210447)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBRE (2,253)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAHEFTEMNR] R FEEARE 218575
Less: Non-controlling interests (42.18%) W IEERR R (92,198)
Net assets acquired FriE & E 126,377
Goodwill arising from acquisition WEEEAREE 16 1,528
Purchase consideration I BB (E 127,905

192 China XLX 2018 Annual Report




37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

37 (a) INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

¥Ka0t(E&)
37 (@) RHMIBARIRE (48)

37.

Effects on cash flows

of the Group
HEAEERERE
02
Notes RMB'000
BteE AREFT
Consideration transferred for the acquisition of B R D EE RV EZERE
Heli Energy

Purchase consideration to be satisfied by cash HRETNNEERE 127,905
Less: Deferred cash settlement B IRIER S S (114,400)
Consideration paid by cash 13,505

Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired & : FTUREEMTE A RIMIR S &
B EHEY (10,570)
Net cash outflow on acquisition W B IR £ TR 2,935

The purchase price allocation review is finalised as at 31 December 2018.

TRANSACTION COSTS

There was no transaction costs related to the acquisition recognized in the
Group's profit or loss.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ACQUIRED

Trade and other receivables acquired comprise of trade and other
receivables with fair values of RMB228,191,000. Their gross amounts are
RMB228,191,000 are expected to be collected.

IMPACT OF THE ACQUISITION ON PROFIT OR LOSS

The acquisition date is close to year end so there is no significant impact
to the Group’s revenue and profit or loss for the year. If the business
combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the Group’s
revenue would have been RMB9,294,000,000 and the Group's profit for the
year would have been RMB667,958,000.

HEBHRRIR-B—NE+=A
=B8R -

RHRA

BEUERBHN X HR AR KRB R S
REERR °

PSB85 Ko EL b g W SRR

FIkEME 5 R EMERRIESREATE
A AR 228,191,000 TTHI B 5 K E b fE U
I HASEE AR 228191,000 THEET
HEUCER

WIEHRENTE

WA BEAFR A ASERAF
ERWANEBRTEEATE - INREK
AEHBEEFTY  AEBHNRABBEAR
#59,294,000,0007T * T AL B KA FE &
Fi B A R ¥ 667,958,000 7T °
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37.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

37 (a) INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

ACQUISITION OF XINJIANG BLACK ECOLOGY TECHNOLOGY CO LTD

("XINJIANG BLACK TECHNOLOGY")

On 26 December 2018, the Group acquired a total of 57.42% of Xinjiang
Black Technology’s shares. Xinjiang Black Technology’s is engaged in the

manufacture and trading of humic acid. Further d
are included in note 45(d) to the financial state
was made as part of the Group’s strategy to exp

etails of the transaction
ments. The acquisition
and its market share of

manufacture and trading of humic acid. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash of RMB57,918,000.

¥Ka0t(E&)
37 () RMTBLATIRE (&)

WiEsE R e LM AR QR ([
IBREBARRK])

R-E—NE+-_A=-+XA ~EEH
W B R G LRI S7402% D -
NERCERERBNERERMEEME
2 BRRZNE—THBIRYBHRE
BEFE45(d) o LR UREE R A S B iE KR E L
EEME ST HHEERN 3D o WE
MEERERES AR 57918000 7T °

37.

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
RUEBTERN
ATE
Notes RMB'000
BteE AREFT
Inventories 78 8,306
Trade receivables B 5 EGIE 9,707
Other receivables E At FEYGRIE 45,705
Other current assets HARBIEE 37,993
Property, plant and equipment LEN =Y 14 46,192
Prepayments for purchases of items of property, plant BB ¥1% -« F/E MRIEEB M
and equipment A FIE 3,752
Prepaid land lease payments and other intangible A LSRN R R E MRS E
assets 15 8231
Trade payables, accruals and other payables B ZRNHIE - BETERAR
H At A RIB (62,362)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE (335)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATEFENTRHAFEERRE 97,189
Less: Non-controlling interests (42.58%) W IR (41,383)
Net assets acquired Pt FEE 55,306
Goodwill arising from acquisition WHEE AR EE 16 2,112
Purchase consideration W (E 57,918
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

37 (a) INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

¥Ka0t(E&)
37 (@) RHMIBARIRE (48)

37.

Effects on cash flows

of the Group
HEAEERE
REMEE
Notes RMB'000
BteE AREFT

Consideration transferred for the acquisition of WEFEEReL R NEERE

Xinjiang Black Technology
Purchase consideration to be satisfied by cash HRSTNNEERE 57918
Less: Deferred cash settlement B IRIER S S (22,890)
35,028
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired & : FTUREEMTE A RIMIR S K&

B EHEY (3492)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHEHIR £ TR 31,536

The purchase price allocation review is finalised as at 31 December 2018.

TRANSACTION COSTS

There was no transaction costs related to the acquisition recognized in the
Group's profit or loss.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ACQUIRED

Trade and other receivables acquired comprise of trade and other
receivables with fair values of RMB55,412,000. Their gross amounts are
RMB55,412,000 are expected to be collected.

IMPACT OF THE ACQUISITION ON PROFIT OR LOSS

The acquisition date is close to year end so there is no significant impact
to the Group's revenue and profit or loss for the year. If the business
combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the Group’s
revenue would have been RMB9,245,153,000 and the Group's profit for the
year would have been RMB660,262,000.

BEESERHN-F—\E+= 7
=t+—B%m -
RBFA

BEBEBERBENZ SN ARAEENEBE
RHER °

PR E 5 S EL b e UK IR

FriiEmE 5 M E b ERFAEBIEATEES
ANRHE554120007CH)E 5 K H A fEGRIE o
H a4 % ARK 55412000 TTTEETASULER ©

AR 2

WA BEAFR A EAREBENAF
ERRANRERTEERTE - MRER
EHBELEFY  AEBHNRABTBAR
#9,245,153,0007C * MAELEB R AT E &
g B AR 660,262,000 7T °
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
37 (b) INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

The Group's investment in an associate is summarised below:

X)X

KX DX I XD X I XD

37. XBE6F(E)
b) REtE A TIRE
REBMABESATITERR T -

AR LOR S BERAR 1
BERAR(RZ])

Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy Co Ltd
(“Shenleng™)

Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in an associate that
is not individually material are as follows:

Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT
95,157 -
|

ERAEERBEARRE GHEREA)
HEEARIIT -

ZH B EABNRBE

Total comprehensive income net of tax

The summarised financial information in respect of Shenleng, based on its
IFRS financial statements and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of
the investment in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
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Group
A%
2017
—E-N\FE —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETF T
31,971 -
|

AR I EL BBR B 755 ¥R 5 R R O RE A 3R R DA B
B S BRRPRERAENYR A
RSB EERBENT



KRR )RR )RR R )R CR) ) CRO) O ) ) ) 0 C0) ) OF
W N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N
NIONZION ZON ZONZ7ON ZON ZONZ7ON ZON ZON ZON ZON ZION ZON ZON /TN Z7ON ZON /TN 7O /1
) (LX) XD (XD A DA DA AT XD XD UX DX XD XD XD XD XD X X XTI X
37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 37. ¥XKE0(HE)
7 (b) INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED) b) REtE RN ERE (&)
Summarised statement of financial position MR R R E
2018
ZE-N\F
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Inventories FE 4,363
Trade receivables Z 5 RGRIE 46,229
Other receivables H b fE U A 463
Other current assets HEReEE 219,975
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 394,407
Trade payables, accruals and other payables B SEMNFIA - BB R REAERN IR (315,190)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBEBE (25)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAEFTENR A FEEHLRE 350,223
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBFEERENL X 27%
Group's share of net assets REERLFEE 94,560
Goodwill on acquisition BN E 597
Carrying amount of the investment WENREE 95,157
|

37 (c) DISPOSAL OF OWNERSHIP IN INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY,

WITHOUT LOSS OF CONTROL

On 30 Novemer 2018, the Group disposed of a 12.14% equity interest in i
Henan XLX. Following the disposal, the Group still controls Henan XLX and
its subsidiaries, retaining 87.86% of the ownership interests. The transaction
has been accounted for as an equity transaction with non-controlling

interests, resulting in:

R

JATEOE DN 12,14
IW* SR OENREMB AR WR

% EORSLAE ©

W%%M%E%V*Oﬁ

RS R R 5 AR

) HEME AT EREERM AKX

—N\Ft+—A=1+H" x&EELE

HER - KNE
2 HENERIE
B3

2018

—E-N\F

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Proceeds from sale of ownership interest e AR PISIA 600,146

Less: Net assets attribution to NCI B BB IR FEE (573,743)

Increase in equity attributable to parent BB EHA R AR R N 26,403

Increase in equity attributable to parent entity BN AR E A ERIE N 26,403
|
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding operating
lease agreements for buildings, and plant and machinery in Mainland
China. Future minimum rentals payable of the Group under non-cancellable
operating leases at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

VANZANSZANSYANG VAN VAN VAN AN AN07A
‘ TN /O ZIONONZION Z7ON /ZON ZON ZON Z7ON Z7ON /TN
DX D XD XD XD XD UXI X I X I XD XL ) LX) (LA

38. REHOZTH

REBRER - NEERHERMmES KE
TET  BERESHNEEHOmE - R
EREBEHRMRN N BHE LR - AE
BEMNHORREERSMT

Group

rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBFT
Within one year —FRA 79,334 82,620

In the second to fifth years, inclusive FFEERF
(BIEEEMSF) 2,010 84,079
After five years AFUE 9,361 36,473
90,705 203,172
|

39. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note 38 above,
the Group had the following capital and other commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

39, RiE

B £ SCPMRE 38 AT AF Al mO 48 & TR A AE SN -
AREBRBRIBRAEA UL TNEARRHE A H

Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETIT
Capital commitments B EE
Contracted, but not provided for: BRT4E R
Buildings BF 731,998 217,751
Plant and machinery BRI K2 A 1,951,351 207,446
Coal mines HiE 9,903 25,870
2,693,252 451,067
]
Other commitments Hbsde
Purchases of raw materials BB R K 793,264 554,272
]
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. FAEFRZ
(@  Inaddition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial (@)  BR T fE Lt 35 BA 7§ ok B 80 &0 ot
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related E’J RGN REBERFRNERBEE
parties during the year: HEITTIRS -
2018 2017
—B-N\f —T—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HisE AR¥TR AREFT
Sales of electricity, water and steam to: * FATREEERERE A (i)
— Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment - ¥gbm FD /U M LEREE
Co, Ltd.* R A] 259 241
- Xinxiang Yuyuan Chemicals Co, Ltd. # -FAHERIET
BRAR! - 290
~Henan XLX Jingmi Fengtou Co, Ltd. * —AmOELERHE
BRRAR 807 842
— Henan Lingtong Xinlianxin Energy Co, Ltd # —AREBLELER
ﬁ"ﬁ/\ﬂ # 26 —
—Henan Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd " -ABERRBRERRE 36,889 -
Purchases of electricity, water and steam from: RATARIEEKERENS (ii)
— Xinjiang Shenleng Gas Co, Ltd* - DELRRIRER
BRAR 9,099 _
Purchases of equipment and service fee expenses from: R TRRIBER
MIRBESH : (iii)
— Xinxiang Xinlianxin - OEME TRIEE
Chemicals Equipment Co, Ltd # RAm) 62,663 31,797
~ Xinxiang Shenzhou il FMWW) R&%
Anti-corrosion Installation Co, Ltd * BRA 7,239 5,094
Sales of equipment to: * FﬂﬁK—Fﬂﬂﬁﬁ%?&ﬁ i
—Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co, Ltd. * —AmLEMEIER
BRAR" 4 B
Operating lease expenses to:* EERKFAZT - (iv)
— Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co, Ltd. —AmLEMEIER
BRAF 1,120 2239
Operating lease income from:* REUTREREEHEN
LN
~ Henan XLX Jingmi Fengtou Co, Ltd. * J@L\L/uﬁzi
BRA 37 -
~ Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment - EME TRER
Co, Ltd.* RAF 24 -
—Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy Co, Ltd. J@L\L/Dxﬂ%@ﬁafﬁ
RABRA 9 _
Loan guarantee from: RENTR TE’]ﬁzATﬂ% : v)
~ Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment -FAmOEMEIRER
Co, Ltd* [RAR) 10,000 -
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40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

#

(ii)

(iii)

These companies are subsidiaries of Henan Chemicals Equipment
Co., Ltd., which has common shareholders with the Company. The
Company’s executive directors and executive officers have certain
equity interests in Henan Chemicals Equipment Co,, Ltd.

These companies are controlled by Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy
Co,, Ltd., which was the associate of the Group.

The amounts represent gross sales of by-products.

The sales of electricity were made according to the unit cost of
electricity announced by the Henan Province Development and Reform
Committee (RIFE& BERAMMEZ B'®). The sales of water and steam
were made according to mutually agreed terms with reference to the
sales contract between the parties.

The purchase of electricity, water and steam were made according
to the unit cost of electricity announced by the Henan Province
Development and Reform Committee (AIRMAZEBINELZER).
The sales of water and steam were made according to mutually agreed
terms with reference to the sales contract between the parties.

The purchases of items of property, plant and equipment were charged
based on the mutually agreed terms with reference to the sales contract
between the parties. The service fee expenses were the maintenance
costs, which were charged by Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment
Co. Ltd. and Xinxiang Shenzhou Anti-corrosion Installation Co., Ltd.
respectively.

The operating lease expenses for half a year were charged at a fixed

monthly amount of RMB186,600 (2017: RMB186,600).

The amount represents guarantee amount of RMB10,000,000 which is
secured by Xinxiang Xinlianxin Chemicals Equipment Co,, Ltd.

Save for the transactions with Henan Xinlianxin Shenleng Energy
Co., Ltd. and companies controlled by it, all the related party
transactions above constitute continuing connected transactions
or connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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40.

#

*

(ii)

(iii)

RELXS (&)

FZERRA/ABLEIREBERA
AWM B LR - MR THRER
HEARBHBRAER - AAFH
MITESFERITRABRA LT
RBERNBIEEE TIHE -

FZRAAAEBE N E QR
DE LR BER R AR E
1

X

o

Y

FZECBRRAKRBERNHELR -

WEBHDRBAEEEENR
BLZEENHNENELKAIE
e SHERKREADIBEHEE
BHTETE S F UL HE 2 ERE
H o

REEKE RFE VIR R & 2
RMBREREEAMAENEN
FRAVEH © $HE AR R ATIR
BIHEAMEATETRILHBEZ
fEFRIE ©

BEYE BELRRBHEBEDR
BIHEANATETRILBEZ
BB - RBEEZHRGEER
R o Rl AT OB O TR
(EE1 s NG T R P DS
KARAFULEL -

FFEMNLEERORAZIRESTA
ANEREE186600TC( ZZE—+H4F : A
R 186,600 7T ) YER °

ZemAmMBmOELME IR
HBERAREEROERKIEA
R ¥ 10,000,000 7T ©

B BUR] e OB R R BEIRIRID BIR A B &

HZGIRRINZHIN

EXHFRERET

RHEREEMERZIAAERARES L
MRABETOASARENFEBER S



X)CK ) X)X )OO CK ) CKO) KOO OO KOO OO OO Ox
NOZN\ NSN3 NOZANSY NOZANSZN\0% NOZANZANYY \;/ N \‘ LN/ N/ N N N/
N TN /TN /TN /TN /TN /TN /:( N TN /TN /TN /TN /TN /T‘,\ TN /TN /T ™N TN /TN /TN 1 ’

D (XD (XD (XD (XD (XD XD XX

X (X)X (X

(X (XD (XD XIL

X ) “\,/X;,,, J L,/Xn" } {

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 40. BEFIRS (&)
(b)  Compensation of directors and key management personnel of the (b)) AEEEZRFTZEERBASHNH
Group: B -
Group
rEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARETIT
Directors'fees EoE=Roalen 1,050 800
Salaries and bonuses e M 23,348 14,080
Contributions to defined contribution plans RGN B HRE D 179 150
24,577 15,030
]
Comprise amounts paid to: BREINTTTIIATHSRE
— Directors of the Company - ARARIES 20,940 12,117
— Other key management personnel -HFEZEERAER 3,637 2913
24,577 15,030
I
Further details of the directors' remuneration are included in Note 7 to these ExMenE— LB EmE
financial statements. BIRE7 ©
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. ESEIFNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as ~ RERAR - KRR T ANEKREEN
at the end of the reporting period are as follows: e

FINANCIAL ASSETS

IFRS 9 measurement category

BRRE R 2 RIS o SRt BRI

2018
—E-N\E
Fair value
through other
comprehensive
Fair value through income
profit or loss Amortised cost BAYEFA Total
BROFEFAER )N Hit2E kR ast
Group RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N I ARET R AR®T ARETR AR%ET R
Equity investments BRERE 18 43,886 - - 43,886
Trade and bills receivables EGTCEN
REWRERE py) - 96,899 234,232 331,131
Derivative financial instruments EESRIA 21 17,719 - - 17,719
Financial assets included in deposits 5T Af&4% B E AR AU
and other receivables TR SREARE 19 - 79,498 = 79,498
Due from related companies VNG 3 = 30,384 - 30,384
Pledged time deposits EEATERER 24 - 258,839 - 258,839
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSEN 24 - 346,151 - 346,151
61,605 811,771 234,232 1,107,608

IAS 39 measurement category
e T AERE 305k Et 8RR

2017
—T—+F
Derivative financial Loans and Available-for-sale
instruments receivables financial assets Total
TESRIA  BEXREUKHE THESeREE o
Group Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEE fitsx ARETT AREFTL ARETFT AREFT
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 18 - - 37,178 37,178
Trade and bills receivables E 5 EWGR I

[ERER ) - 160,829 - 160,829

Financial assets included in deposits 5T AR R EL AU
and other receivables FERNEREE 19 - 395,054 - 395,054
Due from related companies [ EBE N AR 3 - 2603 - 2603
Pledged time deposits EEATHER 2% - 181,077 - 181,077
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBR2EEY % - 341270 - 341270
1,080,833 37,178 1,118,011
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

41. EDEIRHNEEITE (E)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

REBERATIENSHEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
Group Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
rEE i ARBTR AREBFT
Trade payables B 5 R RIE 25 282,825 246,701
Bills payable FERTE& 26 280,105 423915
Contract liabilities aHaE 27 689,951 795,448
Financial liabilities included in accruals and ~ 5F AJERT & M EHAD
other payables ERRIENeREE 27 1,174,263 829,582
Due to related companies FE BB A RFIA 23 21,052 45
Loans from a non-controlling interest FEIERR S E K 29 75,500 75,250
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 51828877 R E &K 30 5,342,891 4611127
Bonds payable ERREES 32 692,833 1,100,000
8,559,420 8,082,068
FINANCIAL ASSETS THEE
IFRS 9 measurement category
B PR B T 3R 5 2E R 5B 9 SR AT B K
2018
—EB-N\E

Fair value

through profit

Amortised or loss
cost BAFERTA Total
BEE AR A B st
Company Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AT s ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Equity investments IR E 18 - 37,178 37,178
Due from a subsidiary FEMHT B A RIFRIE 23 134,213 - 134,213
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 24 7,549 = 7,549
141,762 37,178 178,940
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. BROBEIRNEHMTE (F)
(CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) EREE (8)

IAS 39 measurement category
RERTERE 395 218

2017
—tF

Loansand  Available-for-sale

receivables financial assets
ERkER AHEEeR Total
FRIE BE wmEt
Company Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ViN/NE] B ARBTF T AREEFIT AREFIT
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 18 - 37,178 37,178
Due from a subsidiary FEWPI B A RIFIE 23 329,721 - 329,721
Cash and cash equivalents iﬁﬁ&fﬂi%ﬁg% 24 52416 - 52416
382,137 37,178 419,315

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Eac A=

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

REBHRATIRNEREE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Company Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

¥ /N 5T ARETT AREFIT
Financial liabilities included in accruals and ~ 5F AJERT& A M EAD

other payables JENFIENSRBE 27 27,631 14,825

Due to a subsidiary JERTBT B A RIFIE 23 114,400 294,951

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ~ 5T8 8877 K EfhfE3X 30 178,443 232,600

320,474 542,376

|
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHIES

The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy
that is dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows:

Level T — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date,

Level2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, and

Level3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period:

Quoted
prices in

2. EERBENAFE
DR EER

AEBRAAFEERE AT EFEETT
SR ZERBURROTEANGER
A

B - AEBEHEDTUESH
IR E B R R
A (RAEaRE) -

M - FAMERBENAINE
EXREZBARBE  AJH
BEIEEERR K

F=H - EBELBRENIATHERGA
8% -
BRAHERFENEEREE

TREFINBFERARRRFEFTENER
BERBEDN -

Group
REE
2018
—E-N\F
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

RANTBRRBEHARN AP EE

Significant

active markets observable inputs

for identical
instruments
(Level 1)

EHR T ERNER
TiZHERE
(%—#)
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Assets measured at fairvalue R AT EFENEE

other than Significant
quoted prices un-observable
(Level 2) inputs
WEUNEE (Level 3)

EERARE EETTUEEH Total

(B=R) ABIE(E=R) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTR AR®T

Financial assets: 2HEE
Equity investments IR & 37,178 = 6,708 43,886
Bills receivable ANES - 234,232 - 234,232
Derivative financial instruments ~ £7T4 4 g T A - 17,719 = 17,719
Financial assets as at 31 R-ZE—-N\E+=A

December 2018 =t+—HWERMEE 37,178 251,951 6,708 295,837
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 42, EEREBEMNAFEE)

(CONTINUED)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) BAFEENEENRES (8)

Group
REE
2017
—T—tF
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

KRN TERRRERRNAFENE

Quoted
prices in Significant
active markets  observable inputs
foridentical other than Significant
instruments quoted prices un-observable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs
MERIERER HEAINES (Level 3)
TISHME EZGARE SET0EHRE Total
(B—#%) (=) AR (E=R) #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT AREBFT
Assets measured at fairvalue  RAFEFENEE
Financial assets: PHEE -
Available-for-sale investment HEERE 37,178 . - 37,178
Financial assets as at 31 R-_Z—t&F+=A
December 2017 Et+t—HHNERMEE 37,178 - - 37,178

Company
PN
2018
—E-N\F
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

RAUTERRBEHMANAFENE

Quoted
pricesin Significant
active markets observable inputs
for identical other than Significant
instruments quoted prices un-observable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs
HHE T BERER HREUNEE (Level 3)
MENRE TREGARE EERTUHEH Total
(B—%) (B=8%) ABEB(E=HR) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Assets measured at fairvalue B AFEIENEE
Financial assets: 2HEE
Equity investments iR E 37,178 - - 37,178
Financial assets as at 31 R-Z—-NE+=A
December 2018 Et—HWEMEE 37,178 - - 37,178
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

42. BEREENDHE(E)

BERNVEE

Company
/NS
2017
—E—tF

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

KRN TEERRERRNAFENE

Quoted prices in
active markets

Significant

observable inputs

for identical other than Significant
instruments quoted prices un-observable
(Level 1) (Level 2) inputs
HRITARNER MEUINEE (Level 3)
TISHHRE ABERARE SZET0EEE Total
(%) (BZfh) AB®(BE=H) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREEFTT ARBTT AREEFTT
Assets measured at fairvalue R AFEFENEE
Financial assets: THEE -
Available-for-sale investment AMEHERE 37,178 - - 37,178
Financial assets as at 31 R=_ZT—tF+=A
December 2017 =t+—HBHEREE 37,178 - - 37,178

LEVEL 2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used
in the fair value measurement for assets and liabilities that are categorised
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy:

BILLS RECEIVABLE

The fair value of bills receivable is estimated by discounting expected future
cash flows at market incremental lending rate at the end of the reporting
period.

DERIVATIVE

Foreign currency swap is valued using a valuation technique with market
observable inputs. The most frequently applied valuation technique
include forward pricing and swap model, using present value calculation.
The model incorporates various inputs including the credit quality of
counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and forward rate
curve.

E-MATEHE
IR R AT R FHE RS ER T8 A

Bl - RIEDBERATFEERE -
THBEENMRIE
R

R0 A BB R AR A5
S5 2 R TR AR R B B
it

PTETE

SINE $= ER{E ) A B T 5 A B B A BB Y
HEXMETHE RERANGERTE
EEMAREFENELE B Eis IR -
AERAATNRBARE  BREXSHF
MIEREER SNERE - REEXLEH
PEE R phAR o
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

0) INFORMATION ABOUT SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS USED
IN LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Unquoted equity investment

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment designated at fair
value through profit or loss, which was previously classified as available-
for-sale equity investment, has been estimated using a market-based
valuation technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
determine comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, size,
leverage and strategy, and calculates an appropriate price multiple, such
as enterprise value to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation ("EV/EBITDA") multiple, price to earnings (“P/E") multiple and
price to net book value ("P/B") multiple, for each comparable company
identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is
then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences
between the comparable companies based on company-specific facts
and circumstances. The discount for lack of marketability is applied to the
corresponding earnings measure of the unquoted equity investment to
measure the fair value.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at
31 December 2018:

42. BEEREENAVEGE

E=RAVENE

)  F=ZRRXFEAERAEHAEEDT
AR ASBIERAEREER

FFEMRERE

IBERAFEFABENIE EMRAES
(ERTRAHEENRERESE)HR
FEDERITEEBRM BRI F
MRBEEATSEER AG - HEEX
EFHERTE  BE - BEERRBETHY
HHEARAR (RTT) » WHS&HBI /T
HEARFEEENEREE - flind
BEERFE - BB - TEREHAT
(TEV/EBITDAD ELE - AR ([ThAX]) &
MERE((HMEER]) - ZFEEIRAILRA A
MEEEBERUAENBFE - BRE
SIEEFAI LB QAR Z EHIERE KR
BERZEEREZENEENARERN
BT ABEIR o B2 Al SHE MM T IR E A
FIE LT IR B MR E R FRIZ AT 2
NE o

TXTIR_E—N\F+_A=+—HE@
TAMBENEATNATBRREABEMEE
R 7] FE EMGURE DT

Significant

Valuation unobservable input
technique BEALAEHE Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
fh{E R WARE HE ATFEHEABBOSRE
Unquoted equity investment Valuation Average P/B 2018:1.2 5% (2017: 5%) increase in multiple
(2017: Unquoted available-for-sale multiples multiple of peers (2017:14)  would result in increase in fair value by
equity investment) HEES RITHFY —E—)N\F 12 RMB306,000 (2017: RMB372,000)

REMRERE (ZT—+F MERREH (ZT—CF 114) BEEIE I 5% (ZF—+4F : 5%) -

AR TR SR RERE) BN TEIG A RS 306,000 7T
(ZZ—+%F : AR¥3720007T)
Discount for lack 2018:20% 5% (2017: 5%) increase in discount
of marketability (2017:20%)  would result in decrease in fair value by
MBI T \F : 20% RMB76,000 (2017: RMB93,000)

(ZF—tF:

BRIRIE NN 5% (ZF—+HF : 5%) °
20%) BEH AT ER D AR 76,000 7T
ZT—tF : AR¥930007T)
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 42. EEREBBENQFEGE)

(CONTINUED)
LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
(1) MOVEMENTS IN LEVEL 3 ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

The following table presents the reconciliation for all assets measured at fair
value based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

E=RATHEE (E)

(I BAFEAENE=-REEE

E,\&)E’J $Tﬁa+iﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁ§§ﬁ’]ﬂﬁ?

2018

—E-N\F
RMB’'000

AR¥ TR

Fair value
measurements
using significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)

Financial assets at
FVPL

Unquoted equity
investment
RAEXT A BER
ABE(F=R) 0
NP EFE
BRAFERA
BaWEmEE
FEEHRERE

Group REE

Opening balance HRF) 4%

A ENER DA

Reclassification from AFS

6,708

HIRAE R

Closing balance

6,708

(Il VALUATION POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group performed the valuation of unquoted equity securities.
The management is responsible for the subject of valuation, valuation
methodologies, and IFRS 13 fair value measurement guidance.

Management reviews the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies
and assumptions adopted, and the reliability of the inputs used in the
valuations.

There has been no transfer from Level 1 and Level 2 to Level 3 for the
financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017

a  HEBEEREEER

AREBEIE EMIRAESFETHE -
BREMEREN ﬁﬁﬁxﬁ&l%ﬁﬁ%#&

HERNE 3R A FEFERES
B BT TR A AV ETE R RR A E

B UREEMABAZEN A S -

BE_T-N\F+-A=+—H &_ z
—t$+_ﬂ =t+—BLEFERFE -
R R EBREE MR -
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42. FAIRVALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT MEASURED AT
FAIR VALUE AND WHOSE CARRYING AMOUNTS ARE REASONABLE
APPROXIMATION OF FAIR VALUE

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged time deposits, trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from/to related companies, trade and bills
payables, loans from a non-controlling interest and financial liabilities
included in accruals and other payables approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance team reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities approximate to their fair values.
The fair value of the non-current portion of accruals and other payables,
loans from a non-controlling interest, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and bonds payable have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s
own non-performance risk for non-current accruals and other payables,
loans from a non-controlling interest, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and bonds payable as at 31 December 2018 was assessed to be
insignificant.

LIABILITY MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:

The Group had no financial liability measured at fair value as at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and
the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management
of these risks, which are executed by the chief financial officer and finance
manager.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group's exposure
to the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and
processes for the management of these risks.

(A)  CREDITRISK

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial
instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.
For other financial assets such as cash and cash equivalents, pledged
time deposits, available-for-sale investments, amounts due from related
companies, bills receivables and deposits and other receivables, the
Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating
counterparties.

The Group's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising
losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only
with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
the majority of customers who wish to trade are required to pay cash on
delivery or in advance before collecting any goods. A minority of customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when
the counterparty fails to make contractual payments, within 90 days when
they fall due, which are derived based on the Group's historical information.

43. HHEREEBEREE

AEEFEHALEREHAESRIAMES
W BERR - TEMBRREIEEER
S RBELRR - FIERR XINEE
ﬁ EEERA LIHE B EZE R R A
BRRRF  MaZFBRERKEFIHERH
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43, BB ERMEEEEZERBEER (E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(A)  CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) A FERM(E)

AEEK [ERR | BREL —REZFH
HEOIRERERTR BRZEABE
ARRNEE - RHEEERREERE
B AREERHE B REER LR
#2016 W AR B B R E AV RUEET T
B AEECDENAESHNAE BT
HVRTHEMEE R - BIEIA TR -

The Group considers “low risk” to be an investment grade credit rating with
at least one major rating agency for those investments with credit rating.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information which includes the following indicators:

Internal credit rating - NEB(E AT AR
External credit rating - HNEBAE FARTAR

Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower

Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of
the same borrower

Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of
the borrower, including changes in the payment status of borrowers

- B S ERERABITEEKEL
BHEBEREYNES - BHREHE
AR B R SRR E AT A

- ERAREEENERLAHEKN

- RA—fERANEMERTANEER
[ ON Rl

- ERANTERRENTRELEXR
e BREERARANS BN AR

RS URERAZEREN
a=4

in the group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

o

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is &g Lt AT - REEAKE LT
presumed if a debtor is more than 90 days past due in making contractual BB OOK + A E & EE K iE15
payment. e

ETIERT  AEEREESHEET
HEERRE

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

BITASBERAFEEAREE
EREHK - Pl HsSaMEt
AR AT ERR EE S 1T H M B 75

- There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower -
- A breach of contract, such as default or past due event -
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or -

other financial reorganisation EFEl
- There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset - MR BRE - ZemEERER

because of financial difficulty QEZNEES
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(A)  CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

The Group categorises a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a
debtor fails to make contractual payments more than 360 days past due.
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group. Where loans and receivables have been written off, the Company
continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group's debt instrument at fair value through OCI comprised solely of
bills receivables that are graded in the top investment category by A and,
therefore, are considered at low credit risk.

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade
and other receivables using a provision matrix. The provision rates are
determined based on the Group's historical observed default rates analysed
in accordance to days past due by grouping of customers based on
customer type. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking
information such as GDP growth and central bank base rates.

The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade and
other receivables using provision matrix and the loss allowance movement
of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 22.

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial
assets recognised in the statement of financial position.

43. EI\ZI-E&J_‘:F%MIEEE&IE&%(HE)
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(A)  CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION PROFILE

The Group assesses concentration of credit risk by monitoring on an on-
going basis the aged analysis of its trade receivables. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group. At 31 December 2018, the
Group's trade receivables of RMB19,453,000 (2017: RMB11,965,000) were
due from its 10 largest customers.

(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting
financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's exposure to
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit
facilities.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents

deemed adequate by management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as

43. HHEREEBERBER(E)

(B) RBETEMR (&)

REBEAAOMFTRNR AEEEREE
REFRERO BRI T -

follows:
Within 1 year
oron demand 1to3 years 3to 5years Over 5 years Total
1ERFREAR 123% 3E5E SERE At
Group RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
158 ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTR ARBTR ARETT
31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZR=1-R
Trade payables 5k 282825 - - - 282825
Bils payable ERZE 280,105 - - - 280,105
Contract iabilty alEE 689,951 - - - 689,951
Financial iabiltes included inaccrualsand 5T AERTE B REMEFFIRR
other payables SRAE 1,150,645 618 - = 1,174,263
Due to related companies ERBELRE 21,052 - - - 21,052
Loans from a non-controling interest HERERER 53,300 26,207 - - 79,507
Interest-bearing bank and HERTRAMER
other borrowings 2,851,720 2,522,209 - - 5373929
Bonds payable EfREES - 525,667 234932 - 760,599
5,329,598 3,097,701 234,932 - 8,662,231

31 December 2017

RZE—tE+-F=t-H

Trade payables BRENE 6701 - - 26,701
Bils payable ERZE 43915 - - 43015
Financial iabifies included inaccrualsand 5T AERTE B RELffE517BR)
other payables £HER 718612 110970 - - 829582
Dueto related companies EREELTE I - - - 4
Loans from a non-controling interest SHERERER 25926 52146 - - 78072
Interest-bearing bank and SHERMRAMER
other borrowings 184929 2585467 568612 - 5003378
Bonds payable ErHARS 616576 506,153 - - 1212729
3881074 3344736 568612 - 7794422
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. B EREEBEERBER (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(B)  LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED) (B) REELEMRE(E)
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at the end of the RIBEAMIEFANK  ARAREREE

reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as

REFRERO B BRI T -

follows:
Within 1 year
oron demand 1to3 years 3to 5years Over 5 years Total
VERSRELR 1538 3E5E SEE a3t
Company RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AN AEETR ARETR AEETR AEETR AEETR
31 December 2018 RZE-NETZR=1-R
Finandialiabltes included inaccruls 5T AR B REMERZIER)
and other payables SHERE 27,631 - - = 27,631
Due to a subsidiary ERKBARE 114400 - - - 114400
Interest-bearing bank and SERMRAMER
other borrowings - 178,443 - - 178,443
142,031 178,443 - - 320474
|
31 December 2017 R_E—+E+-A=T-H

Financial liabilities included in accruals

i AR R R AR AFURN

and other payables SHAR 14825 - - - 14825
Duetoa subsidiary ERMELTE 294951 - - - 294951
Interest-bearing bank and HERTREMER

other borrowings 232600 - - - 232600

542376 - - - 542376
|
(C)  INTEREST RATE RISK ©  F=EEkE

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the
Group's financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily from its loans and borrowings subject to a floating
interest rate.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(C)  INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR INTEREST RATE RISK

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

For variable rate financial assets and liabilities, the Group has determined
the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits based on their
notional amounts, which reasonably approximate to their fair values
because these are mostly short-term in nature or are repriced frequently.
For interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, a change in interest rate at
the reporting date would increase/(decrease) profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
foreign currency rates, remain constant.

43. BIBEEEEZERBEE (#)

M= (&)
MR EBRBRRE DM

ERITANRNFEGRESN

(@

AEETEREEEREENABEBERR
FEATFEAR - Bt FRN B A
E DRI 2

FRITAMBREREGUREREDIT

ERERMEENBEMS ARECE
EREMEHEFRAZCRBHNER
BEARNFESEMEE  BEABIE
AE EBNEHSETEERE - et B
RITREMERN S - FERREBHRE AW
IR T XA EIENCR D) 18
3o DM HREMBREMAZERE - L
HRIMNEE RRFF T o

2018 2017

Increase in basis —ZE-N\F T

Group points RMB’000 RMB'000

rEE ERbEm AR®T T ARETFT
Interest expense FERX

RMB AR 10 (4,405) (3,506)

usD EW 10 (218) (198)
Interest income BN

RMB AR 10 507 289

usb ET 10 5 21

HKD BT 10 3 -

]
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43, BB EMEEEERBER (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(D)  FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK D) SMERPR

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank REBEF/BLUINESTENR e RE S

borrowings denominated in foreign currencies for working capital AT BRITERIELEEESRE - EQEF'
purposes. At the end of the reporting period, these foreign currency net  $REAR - REUINEEENFEE (8
assets/(liabilities) (mainly in SGD, USD and Hong Kong dollars (‘HKD")) are as B)(EEEFMNFIT - EXEBLUHE

follows: T -

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
Group RMB’000 RMB'000
rEE ARBT T AREFTT

SGD T 353
usD ETT (250,371) (208,056)
HKD BT 2,356 -
(247,662) (208,056)

|

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible | 2% #R 7£ BT A H i AT & (A R (R #5 1 &
change in the SGD, USD and HKD exchange rates (against RVMB), with all T AREEEH (2 NERTIE RiER) $5
other variables held constant, on the Group's profit, net of tax and equity. T EX BT (RARE) WEXL

BEAREHNHRE -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Group RMB’000 RMB'000

rEH ARETR AREFT

SGD - strengthened 5% (2017:5%)  ¥THNEIT - 8558 5% (ZF —+4F : 5%) 18 -

— weakened 5% (2017: 5%) B85 5% (=T —+HF 1 5%) (18) -

USD - strengthened 2% (2017:2%) 37T - 48595 20 (ZF— 4 : 2%) (5,007) 4,161)

- weakened 2% (2017: 2%) — 85520 (Z T —+H1F 1 2%) 5,007 4161

HKD - strengthened 1% (2017:1%) /7T -8R 1% (2T —tF  1%) 39 -

— weakened 1% (2017: 1%) ~BE5519% (2 —+F : 1%) (39) -
I
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44. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017.

As disclosed in Note 36, subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are required by
relevant laws of the PRC to contribute to and maintain a non-distributable
statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to approval by the
relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has
been complied with by these subsidiaries for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, short-term and long-term bonds payable, trade and bills
payables, amounts due to related companies, accruals and other payables
less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent less the statutory reserve fund.
The Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 90%.

EXEHE

AEBONFNERNEE B FEERESER
BERROENLRBRBENERL RS
SEEXBRERTEEBARREE -

44,

REERBLEERMRECARENEERN
EBREBEEEAGEBETER Xl
HARMEE - AEBAI B BFAERBKE
RS« MR EEEE RN BT
NRFXFABEAEBE - HEZZT—N
F+-_A=Z=+—HERZZE—tF+=A
=t+—BULFE EEEANEE BE
S I2 LT & -

FLINH EE 36 TR ER - NSRBI AP B RO BT
RAAERBARBERRER TR 2IKAE
ERmESELHARERFED - MER
AT AR T BRI E - %F
MEBARREBEE T \F+_A=1+—
AR -_ZT—+F+-_RA=+t—HILFED
BT UEIMBRE AN B ARE R o

AEBEREEABLRETERN  BE
BELEXSAEFERNEENNEEF
B BEFHEER BRITREMER
EAMEES BEHENRBARENR
7 ENBERQRIGIA - BB REM
N IR BRE LA EEY N ER
Tk - EARBRE QARG ARGEDRR
AERMEE - AEBHBUER S MR 90% A
THEERBHLE -
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44, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

44, EXREE (&

)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETIT

Trade payables B SN A 282,825 246,701
Bills payable AN ES 280,105 423915
Contract Liabilities aHaE 689,951 795,448
Accruals and other payables e B A R E MR I8 1,185,463 834,858
Due to related companies JEREE R RIFIR 21,052 45
Loans from a non-controlling interest FEIE R R B K 75,500 75,250
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings sHERTTREMER 5,342,891 4611127
Bonds payable EfRTREES 692,833 1,100,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BERIBeEEY (346,151) (341,270)
Pledged time deposits B EER (258,839) (181,077)

Net debt BEFHE 7,965,630 7,564,997
Equity attributable to owners of the parent NEEE AEGEE 3,921,814 3,366,675
Less: Statutory reserve fund B OEERES (45,753) (327,793)
Adjusted capital G 3,876,061 3,038,382
Capital and net debt BEAKEBEFRE 11,841,691 10,603,879
Gearing ratio BARAGBHLE 67.27% 71.34%
|
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45. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

45. RIBARNERE

Investments in subsidiaries

Company
RRF]
2018 2017
—B-N\fF Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
1,620,755 1,446,355
|

Particulars of Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
registration and
business

B AR b B

Nominal value of
registered capital

AfEAREE

ARTHBRAFAMEENT

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
AR T EAS
READL

Direct Indirect

B 3

Principal activities

FTERER

Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser

PRC/Mainland China

RMB1,646,355,000

87.86% -

Manufacture and trading

Co, Ltd** PR E At AR of urea, compound
A O E R 1,646,355,000 7T fertiliser, methanol,
BRAR] liquid ammonia and
ammonia solution
FEREEKE
BEIE - Rl -
REQRIER
Henan Shoulashou PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 87.86%  Dormant
Fertiliser Co, Ltd " B HREAH AR 1,0000007T TIF¥ER

AR FRFEE
BRAR] e
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45.

Place of
registration and
business

ook 2 AR 1t B

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Nominal value of
registered capital

AfELAEE

45.

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
DB ELS
REEDLE

Direct

B

Indirect

L3

RE B AR RE (&)

Principal activities

TEER

Xinjiang Xinlianxin Energy PRC/Mainland China RMB2,100,000,000 - 7740%  Investment holding,
Chemical Co, Ltd®* PR, R B A ANERHE manufacture and
("Xinjiang XLX") 2,100,000,000 7T trading of urea and

o OELBER{IET compound fertiliser
BRAR e KEZR - £ER
(s8N ) HEKRZEREAE

Manas Tianli Coal Co,, Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB65,000,000 - 7740%  Coal mining and sales of
(‘Tianli")ye* BB AR 65000000 70 coa

BANET RIS BRARBAER S B IR SH
BREEAT
(TRF ) er

Manas Tianxin Coal Co, PRC/Mainland China RMB65,000,000 - 7740%  Coal mining and sales of
Ltd. ("Tianxin’)* R FREAH A REE 65000000 7T coa

I ANETR IR 2 BEIREFAER SR B IR S
BREEAF
(FRARJ) e

Henan Nongxin Fertiliser PRC/Mainland China RMB37,000,000 - 87.86%  Manufacture and trading
Co, Ltd. ("Nongxin”)®* B RN AR 37,0000007T of compound fertiliser

AR LEEERAR and related products
(TR ) e SLERHEREA IR

MR E m

Xinxiang Country PRC/Mainland China RMB106,000,000 - 87.86%  Leasing of land
Runcheng Trading Co, HE B A AR HELM
Ltd. ("Runcheng”)®* 106,000,000 7T
(note a)

HABSFENE S
BRAR]

() er
(HtsTa)
Jiujiang Xinlianxin PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 87.86%  Manufacture and

Fertiliser Co,, Ltd.

("Jiujiang XLX")@*
JUT B AR

BRAH

(TUZREL ) e

FEL B

ARE
1,000,000,000 7T

trading of urea and
compound fertiliser

SLENHEREZNE
ahE
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45. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 45.

Place of
registration and
business

ook 2 AR 8 1t B

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

Nominal value of
registered capital
EMEAEE
Direct

=8

to the Company
AN )i 2
REEDLE

Indirect

L3

REE AR ARE (&)

Principal activities

TEER

Akesu Xinlianxin PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 7740%  Manufacture and trading
Compound Fertiliser B R E A AR of compound fertiliser
Co, Ltd. 200,000,000 7T SUENMHERAE
("Akesu XLX")e*

Bl 52 gk s ME & AR
BRAF]

(T FTFTER AN ] ) e

Xinxiang Country PRC/Mainland China RMB97,165,400 - 87.86%  Selling and distributing
Shoudian Co, Ltd. PR R AR 97,165400 7T electricity
("Shoudian”)e* HERDHE

HFLBELES
BRAR([EE])e

Xinlianxin (Jilin) Fertiliser PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 87.86%  Manufacture and
Co,, Ltd. (ilin XLX")e* B RERS AR 50000007T trading of urea and

D (BFA) LA compound fertiliser
BRAA BLUERIHEIRER
(TEPRCER ) e BEHE

Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 87.86%  Testing equipments
Testing Co, Ltd.* B RERH AR 1,0000007T ORI

Al R OO E AR AR
BRAA

Henan Hydrogenpower PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 100% - Producing and selling
Energy Co, Ltd* # PE RN AR 60,0000007T furfuralcohol
(note b) il K 58 S iR B

AR IERERAF
(MHED) * #

Henan Xinlianxin Blue PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 87.86%  Producing and selling
Environmental R B A REE 50,000,000 7T vehicles urea solution

Protection Technology BUERIHEER
Co, Ltd(note ¢) FREAR

A EE D B IR IR
BHXBR AR
iE=29)

Henan Xinlianxin Tailan PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 3937%  Selling vehicles urea
Environmental B HREIAH AR 10,000,000 7T solution

Protection Technology HEBRRZBR

Co,, Ltd! (note d)

AR LB L REIRIR
R AR AR #
(MtzEd)
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45. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place of
registration and
business

ook 2 AR 1t B

Nominal value of
registered capital

AfELAEE

45. RKERANRE (&)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
DB ELS
READL

Direct Indirect

B L3

Principal activities

TEER

Henan Black Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 5045%  Manufacture and trading
Technology Co, Ltd# R FRERM AR 20,000,000 7T of humic acid
(note d) BIE RS B EEE
R B A RER
BRAA
(BzEd)
Xinjiang Black Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB85,000,000 - 5045%  Manufacture and trading
Technology Co, Ltd# B FREIRH AR 850000007T of humic acid
(note d) SLE N HE B ER
B E O ERERI
BRAA
(BzEd)
Henan Heli Energy Co, PRC/Mainland China RMB78,000,000 57.82% - Manufacture and trading
Ltd** (note d) B B AR 78,0000007T of furaldehyde
AR EEIR 7 R E R
BRAR]
(KzEd)
Xinxiang Huineng Yuyuan PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 57.82% - Distribution and selling
Power Generation Co, B RN AR 30,0000007T of electricity
Ltd (note e) SIENIEEEN
MBTEE FIREE
ARAR"
(Bizte)
Jiujiang Pengcheng PRC/Mainland China RMB35,000,000 - 87.86%  Distribution and selling
Power Co, Ltd.* B RN AR 350000007T of electricity
(note e) DIENIEEEN
JUIZHE T
ARAR"
(FizEe)
Jivjiang Pengcheng Port PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 87.86%  Port cargo handling and
Co, Ltd! (note f) FREE,FR B A A AREE transportation
NIZHER 300,000,000 7T B OB HER
ARAR"
(FH3ES)
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45. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 45. RKERARRE (&)
* The subsidiaries are registered as foreign investment enterprises under PRC law. * ZI B A R RAR R R B A 2R A S A9 Ah
ERERE -
@ These subsidiaries are established in the PRC and registered under PRC law. ¢ ZE B A RN BRI AR B o BA B
ERi
# Not audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore or another member firm of the Ernst I FE # Ernst & Young LLP, ¥ NS s 20K &
& Young global network TR BT 2R At B 25T E
EPEZ
Notes: BeE
(@) On 4 May 2018, Runcheng was liquidated, and absorbed by Henan XLX. (@) —N\FHRAMB - HH#EWEE - Wh
] O IR @

(b) On 8 March 2018, Henan XLX established a new subsidiary named Henan (b) —N\FE=ZRANB A mEOE LKL —
Xinlianxin Blue Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. with a registered XFMBAR  ERBATELELES
capital of RMB50,000,000. The main business of the subsidiary is producing and BREXEBERAE ZMERAEARY
selling vehicles urea solution(Z F R /A7) 50,000,000 7T ° ZMIB AR EE XK LR

ERHEBERAKREAR °

(© On 8 April 2018, Henan Xinlianxin Blue Environmental Protection Technology Co.,, (© —N\FMANR - AEOELERR
Ltd. established a new subsidiary named Henan Xinlianxin Tailan Environmental REEBRARK L —KHFMB AR - &
Protection Technology Co., Ltd. with a registered capital of RMB10,000,000. The BRAEMEORERRERERAA
main business of the subsidiary is selling vehicles urea solution. A A A AR 100000007 o %MK B

REINFEEBREEFTARTAR

(d) Xinjiang Black Ecology Technology Co,, Ltd., Henan Black Ecological Technology (d) FEREeALEREROBR A - EE
Co., Ltd.(the subsidiary of Xinjiang Black Technology), Henan Heli Energy Co., EREEIEBRAT (%%ﬁii%@iﬂ%ﬂ&
Ltd., Xinxiang Huineng Yuyuan Power Generation Co,, Ltd. (the subsidiary of Heli BB AR)  AEARIERERAF
Energy) were purchased from third party. Details please refer to Note 37 Business FMTEREREEBRAT (RBRIEE
combination. BEMBAR) BIRE=FWEE - FFI1575

2RIMIFE 37 A 0F -

(e) On 20 August 2018, Henan XLX established a new subsidiary named Jiujiang (e) —N\FNAZ+H AR EOKL
Pengcheng Power Co, Ltd. with a registered capital of RMB35,000,000. The main —XHFMWBAF - BWBANIZHENE
business of the subsidiary is distribution and selling of electricity. FRAA - s E AR AR 35000,0007T ©

ZBEBARINEEEBEDHMHEEE
jj °

(f) On 10 July 2018, Jiujiang XLX established a new subsidiary named Jiujiang (f) —N\FEA+TH  IOEOKL—
Pengcheng Port Co,, Ltd. with a registered capital of RMB300,000,000. The main XEMBAR - BBANIZHALDBR
business of the subsidiary is Port cargo handling and transportation. ~al - A AR A AR 3000000007

ZHB AR FZEBK B OB YR
B o

46. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46. LAEMBRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the =80 —NF=A=-t+AhRA#E

board of directors on 25 March 2019 I AT RE\M‘%*&%
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Flve-Year Fmanaal Summary

LTEMBERBE

A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out below.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Sl — T tF T K% —TRAE —posE
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IS ARKETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Results E
Revenue KA 9,194,676 7,561,547 5,710,698 5,788,181 5,081,748
Cost of sales HE KA (6,955,245) (5,974,597) (4,687,090) (4464,611) (4,182,984)
Gross profit EX 2,239,431 1,586,950 1,023,608 1,323,570 898,764
Other income and gains HABYA Rz 113,373 87,594 69,985 80,699 56,272
Selling and distribution HE kD HFAX
expenses (508,048) (482,909) (435,334) (347,186) (197,946)
General and administrative —fERITHFE
expenses (496,623) (415,467) (318,612) (317,496) (242,789)
Other expenses HAhhx (245,657) (5,600) (33,192) (33,181) (10,976)
Finance costs B RS R R (325,329) (285,851) (266,366) (228,190) (218,020)
Profit before tax FRBE AR R 777,147 484,717 40,089 478216 285,305
Income tax expense FriSHif X (121,833) (61,185) (11,054) (69,945) (48,579)
Profit for the year AEERR 655,314 423,532 29,035 408,271 236,726
]
Attributable to: LA A
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZEPN 624,932 397,778 30,120 408,780 240,796
Non-controlling interests EEaliN g 30,382 25,754 (1,085) (509) (4,070)
655,314 423,532 29,035 408,271 236,726
I
Assets, liabilitesandnon- EBEREER
controlling interests R
Total assets BEE 13,655,296 11,905,762 10,919,995 10,835,284 9,588,469
Total liabilities FAEN=R (8,742,497) (8,255,808) (7,637,034) (7,834,267) (6,915,013)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R M B (990,985) (283,279) (247,174) - 1,499
3,921,814 3,366,675 3,035,787 3,001,017 2,674,955
I
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Glossary
AR

In this annual report, unless the context states otherwise, the following
terms shall have the following meanings:

RAFRA - BRXESBEAIN -

SABATHE

E- 3N

ZED

“AC”or "Audit Committee”  Audit Committee of the Company [BEZEZEE ] B ARFNEZRZE
8g
"AGM" Annual General Meeting of the Company [RERBEFRE] B ARANKRRE
FRE
“Board” The Board of Directors [EFg ] B EFg
“Companies Act” The Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore [ARLE] s OETIESERI 50
BRAENE
“Company”or“China XLX"  China XLX Fertiliser Ltd. [RAR] 3K B HFEOENMEE
or"XLX" [ B BRATA]
K [N ]
“Constitution” Constitution of the Company [&12 ] B ARANER
“Director(s)” Director(s) of the Company [E% ] B ARRNES
"EGM” Extraordinary General Meeting of the [RREFRAEG] & ZARFHERRE
Company AR
"FY2017" The financial year ended 31 December 2017 [Tt & BEZT—LF
FE ] +=—A=+—H
IEWEREFE
"FY2018" The financial year ended 31 December 2018 [ZZ—-N\ME & BEZZ-N\F
FE +ZA=+—8H
IEHEREFE
“Group” The Company and its subsidiaries altogether [REE ] & AREEREN
VNS
"Henan XLX" Henan Xinlianxin Fertiliser Co., Ltd., a wholly AR CNE L | g8 umoEL iR
owned subsidiary of the Company BRAR AR
NEI 2 E B
NS
"HKD" Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of ~ [7T] B B BEEE
Hong Kong B
“Listing Rules” The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities [ LAl B BXMESFLT
on the SEHK A
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Glossary
ARER
“Model Code” Model Code for Securities Transactions by [ 1RZ4E<FAI]] EHETAES
Directors of Listed Issuers, Appendix 10 to the ETREFZHH
Listing Rules L3 ? Al( £
HAIEE10)
“NC”or “Nomination Nomination Committee of the Company [REEEE ] KRARMIEREER
Committee” BEEg
“PRC"or“China" The People’s Republic of China [ | RREE A R A
“RC” or "Remuneration Remuneration Committee of the Company [FEE e ] KRB FHME
Committee” Bg
"RMB" Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC [ AR | RECETE®E A
R
"S$” Singapore dollars [ %03 ot | ¥ 03 T
“SEHK” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited [ B 22 P | BEBEBMERSM
BRARA
“SFO” The Securities and Futures Ordinance  [BHFEHAEHKROI] 8 FEE O F571
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) EFHFNMBEK
{51
“SGX-ST" Singapore Exchange Securities Trading [ #7232 FA MMEBHFR S
Limited FrBRR A R]
“Shareholder(s)" Shareholder(s) of the Company [ AR RATIHIER
"“XLX Chem"” Henan Xinlianxin Chemicals Group Co., Ltd. [ IMET SR O OME T
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China XLX Fertiliser Ltd.
REOENMCEBRA R
(Incorporated in Singapore with limited liability)
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Stock Code BXA 155 : 1866
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